Public Document Pack

People Scrutiny Commission
Agenda

Date: Monday, 19 July 2021
Time: 5.00 pm
Venue: The Council Chamber - City Hall, College
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR
Distribution:
Councillors: Tim Kent (Chair), Christine Townsend (Vice-Chair), Kerry Bailes, Brenda Massey,
Tim Rippington, Sharon Scott, Lisa Stone, Mark Weston and Tim Wye

Issued by: Dan Berlin, Democratic Services
City Hall, PO Box 3399, Bristol, BS3 9FS
Tel: 0117 3525232
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Friday, 9 July 2021

People Scrutiny Commission – Agenda

Agenda
1.

Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information

Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should please exit
the building via the way they came in, via the main entrance lobby area, and then
the front ramp. Please then assemble on the paved area in front of the building
on College Green by the flag poles. If the front entrance cannot be used,
alternative exits are available via staircases 2 and 3 to the left and right of the
Conference Hall. These exit to the rear of the building. The lifts are not to be
used. Then please make your way to the assembly point at the front of the
building. Please do not return to the building until instructed to do so by the fire
warden(s).

6.00 pm
(Pages 5 - 7)

Due to Covid Safety requirements we have put the following measures in place:
 All attendees are asked to have a Covid lateral flow test 24 hrs prior to the day
of the meeting and show the results of a negative test. It’s important that you
report the results of your test and that you get confirmation sent to your phone.
Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting. If you have a
positive test or if you develop any Covid 19 symptoms – high temperature, a new
continuous cough, or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should
book a test on .GOV.UK and self-isolate while you wait for the results.
 You are required to wear a face mask at all times unless you are exempt or
presenting your public forum. Social distancing rules remain in place.
 Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall may be asked to
watch the meeting on a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy
of the venue.

2.

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

3.

Declarations of Interest

To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors. They are asked to
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.
Any declaration of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4.

Annual Business Report
(Pages 8 - 13)

People Scrutiny Commission – Agenda

5.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record.

6.

(Pages 14 - 24)

Chair's Business

To note any announcements from the Chair

7.

Public Forum

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.
Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum. The
detailed arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet at
the back of this agenda. Public Forum items should be emailed to
democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and please note that the following deadlines
will apply in relation to this meeting:Questions - Written questions must be received 3 clear working days prior to the
meeting. For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received in
this office at the latest by 5 pm on Tuesday 13 July 2021.
Petitions and Statements - Petitions and statements must be received on the
working day prior to the meeting. For this meeting this means that your
submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12 noon on Friday 16
July 2021.
Attending the Meeting – Members of the public who wish to attend the meeting
are asked to register their intent to attend by giving at least two clear working
days notice prior to the meeting, which for this meeting is 5pm, Wednesday 14
July 2021. This is to help ensure appropriate social distancing measures in the
Council Chamber
can be maintained.

8.

COVID-19 Update

To follow

9.

Response to the independent review of Bristol’s policies and
actions for people with learning difficulties and autism
(Pages 25 - 33)

People Scrutiny Commission – Agenda

10. Response to the Bristol Alternative Learning Provision review
report
(Pages 34 - 120)
11. School Places
(Pages 121 - 129)
12. Performance Report 2020-21 Q4
(Pages 130 - 144)
13. Work Programme
Refer to the report titled ‘Scrutiny Work Programme Setting 21/22’ brought

to the Overview & Scrutiny Management Board 12 July 2021. The report
can be found at Item 14, via the following link; OSMB 12 July 2021 bristol.gov.uk

Agenda Item 1
www.bristol.gov.uk

Public Information Sheet
Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk.
Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment
Other o check with and
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer. Please give as much notice as
possible. We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular
meeting.
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment. If you
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer.
Public Forum
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most
meetings. Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee and be available in the meeting
room one hour before the meeting. Please submit it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk or hand in
to Democratic Services Section, City Hall, College Green. The following requirements apply:



The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.
The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.

Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine
articles that may be attached to statements.
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public at the meeting to
which it relates and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act
requests in the future.
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information. However, because of time constraints we
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain. Public Forum statements will not be posted on
the council’s website. Other committee papers may be placed on the council’s website and
information within them may be searchable on the internet.

Page 5

www.bristol.gov.uk

During the meeting:










Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.
There will be no debate on statements or petitions.
The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that
your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will
have the greatest impact.
Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as
short as one minute.
If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to
speak on the groups behalf.
If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken
your statement will be noted by Members.
If you are called on to use the microphone, please place it approx 5 cm in front of your mouth and
move the microphone as you move your head.
Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all
attending.
As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser.

For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
Webcasting/ Recording of meetings
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except
where there are confidential or exempt items). If you ask a question or make a representation, then
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this. If you do not wish to
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff. However, the Openness of Local
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting (Oral commentary is
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control.
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-ourwebsite/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services

Page 6

www.bristol.gov.uk

Safety Information
Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should please exit the building via the
way they came in, via the main entrance lobby area, and then the front ramp. Please then assemble on
the paved area in front of the building on College Green by the flag poles. If the front entrance cannot
be used, alternative exits are available via staircases 2 and 3 to the left and right of the Conference
Hall. These exit to the rear of the building. The lifts are not to be used. Then please make your way to
the assembly point at the front of the building. Please do not return to the building until instructed to
do so by the fire warden(s).
Due to Covid Safety requirements we have put the following measures in place:
 All attendees are asked to have a Covid lateral flow test 24 hrs prior to the day of the meeting and
show the results of a negative test. It’s important that you report the results of your test and that you
get confirmation sent to your phone. Reception staff may ask to see this on the day of the meeting. If
you have a positive test or if you develop any Covid 19 symptoms – high temperature, a new
continuous cough, or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should book a test on
.GOV.UK and self-isolate while you wait for the results.
 You are required to wear a face mask at all times unless you are exempt or presenting your public
forum. Social distancing rules remain in place.
 Members of the press and public who wish to attend City Hall may be asked to watch the meeting on
a screen in another room due to the maximum occupancy of the venue.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4
People Scrutiny Commission

People Scrutiny Commission
19 July 2021
Report of:

Director, Legal & Democratic Services

Title:

People Scrutiny Commission Annual Business Report 2021/2022.

Ward:

N/A

Officer Presenting Report: Dan Berlin, Scrutiny Advisor
Contact Telephone Number: 0117 3525232

Recommendations:
1. To note the membership of the Commission for the 2021-22 municipal year.
2. To approve the Scrutiny Commission’s Terms of Reference.
3. To note that the dates and times for meetings in 2021-22 are to be confirmed at a later
meeting.
4. To ratify the appointment of Warda Awale as statutory parent governor representative
co-optee.

Page 8

People Scrutiny Commission

1. Context
1.1 Terms of Reference of the Commission
At the annual meeting on 25 May 2021 Full Council established this commission with the following
terms of reference:
Terms of Reference - Overview

The role of the commission is the overview and scrutiny of matters relating to the People Directorate,
including:
Adults: Front Door/ Hospital Social Care teams, Maximising Independence, Safeguarding/ Deprivation
of Liberty, Approved Mental Health Act Service, Strategic Commissioning/ Contracts & Quality, Early
Intervention/ Targeted support, and Intermediate Care, Reablement and Regulated Services.
Childrens: Early Help, Targeted Support, Safeguarding including Child Protection Social Work Services
and Permanency and Specialist Services for children in care, care leavers and disabled children and
their families.
Education: HOPE Virtual School, Early Years, School Partnerships, Specialist Education and Access, and
Employment, Learning & Skills.
Public Health and the Statutory Health Overview and Scrutiny Function

Functions

1.

To ensure that overview and scrutiny directly responds to corporate and public priorities, is
used to drive service improvement, provides a focus for policy development and engages
members of the public, key stakeholders and partner agencies.

2.

To action the Annual Work Programme set by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board
using the following framework:
(a)

Scrutiny of corporate plans and other major plan priorities within its remit, with
particular reference to those areas where targets are not being met or progress is slow;

(b)

Input to significant policy developments or service reviews;

(c)

Review and scrutiny of decisions made, or other action taken in connection with the
discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Mayor/Executive, functions
which are not the responsibility of the Executive, and functions which are the
responsibility of any other bodies the Council is authorised to scrutinise.

3. To make reports and recommendations to Full Council, the Mayor/Executive and/or any other

Page 9

People Scrutiny Commission

body on matters within their remit and on matters which affect the authority’s area or the
inhabitants of that area and to monitor the response, implementation and impact of
recommendations.
4. To work in collaboration with the Mayor/relevant Executive Member and receive updates from
that member on key policy developments, decisions taken or to be taken and progress against
corporate priorities.
5. To report to the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board on progress against the work
programme and on any recommendations it makes.

1.2 Membership of the Commission:
The Commission will comprise 9 Members (Labour 3; Green 3; Conservative 2; Liberal Democrat
1); details as follows;










Cllr Tim Kent – Chair (confirmed at Full Council 25 May 2021)
Cllr Christine Townsend – Vice Chair (confirmed at Full Council 25 May 2021)
Cllr Kerry Bailes
Cllr Brenda Massey
Cllr Tim Rippington
Cllr Sharon Scott
Cllr Lisa Stone
Cllr Mark Weston
Cllr Tim Wye

1.3 2021-22 Meeting Dates
There will be three meetings of the Commission during 21/22. The first meeting will be held on
Monday 19th July 2021, 5pm; dates and times of the second and third meetings to be confirmed
at the main work programme meeting which is likely to be in September 21.

1.4 Health Scrutiny Committee (sub-committee of the People Scrutiny Committee) Terms of
Reference

Overview
The role of this Commission is to undertake the scrutiny of local Health Service provision in
accordance with Section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001, the Health and Social Care Act
2012 and Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny)
Regulations 2013.

Page 10

People Scrutiny Commission

Functions
1. To review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the
health service in its area.
2. To review and scrutinise any proposal for the substantial development or substantial variation
of the Health Service as referred by a local NHS commissioner or provider under its statutory
obligation to consult with the Council. To consider and assess impact assessments from such
bodies and decide whether proposals are substantial variations or developments.
3. To require the local NHS body to provide information about the proposal under consideration
and where appropriate to require the attendance of a representative of the NHS body to
answer such questions as appear to it to be necessary for the discharge of its function in
connection with the consultation.
4. To report to the Secretary of State in writing where it is not satisfied that consultation on any
proposal referred to in paragraph 2 above has been adequate in relation to the content or time
allowed.
5. To report to the Secretary of State in writing in any case where it considers that the proposal
referred to in paragraph 2 above would not be in the interests of the health service in the area
6. Where a matter is referred to it by Healthwatch to consider whether to exercise any powers in
relation to the matter, taking into account information supplied by Healthwatch.
7. To scrutinise matters relating to the health of the authority’s population and contribute to the
development of policy to improve health and reduce health inequalities.
8. To review and scrutinise the impact of the authority’s own services and key partnerships on the
health of its population.
9. Review and scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken in connection with the discharge
of any functions which are the responsibility of the Mayor/Executive, functions which are not
the responsibility of the Executive, and functions which are the responsibility of any other
bodies the Council is authorised to scrutinise.
10. In relation to the above functions:
a) To make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council, Executive of the Council, any
joint committee, NHS bodies or any relevant partner authority as appropriate
c) To consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants
11. To report on an annual basis to the People Scrutiny Commission on progress against the work
programme and any recommendations it makes.
1.5 Membership of the sub-committee










Cllr Graham Morris - Chair (confirmed at Full Council 25 May 2021)
Cllr Jos Clark – Vice Chair (confirmed at Full Council 25 May 2021)
Cllr Amal Ali
Cllr Lorraine Francis
Cllr Paul Goggin
Cllr Tom Hathway
Cllr Mohamed Makawi
Cllr Brenda Massey
Cllr Chris Windows

Page 11

People Scrutiny Commission

2. Statutory co-optees
2.1

There are four vacancies for qualifying persons to be co-opted onto this Commission, which is
the Overview & Scrutiny Commission which deals with education matters. Invitations to
appoint the two faith representatives, and to send nominations for two parent governor
representatives have been made.

2.2

An appointed co-optee of the People Scrutiny Commission is entitled to vote at a meeting of
the Commission on any question which relates to any education functions which are the
responsibility of Bristol City Council.

2.3

The Church of England school co-optee must be nominated by the Diocesan Board of Education
for any Church of England diocese which falls wholly or partly in the authority area; and the
Roman Catholic school co-optee must be nominated by the bishop of any Roman Catholic
diocese which falls wholly or partly in the authority area.

2.4

The parent governor representatives must be the parent of a child currently educated by the
authority; and should not be:
 employed by the local authority;
 employed at a school maintained by the local education authority, either as teaching or nonteaching staff;
 a councillor of any local authority.

3. Proposal
3.1

The Council has received one eligible nomination for a parent governor representative, Warda
Awale, and the Commission is asked to ratify their appointment.

3. Public Sector Equality Duties
1.

Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected characteristics”:
age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual
orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the need to:
i)

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under
the Equality Act 2010.

ii)

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to
the need to --

remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic;

Page 12

People Scrutiny Commission

ii)

-

take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons'
disabilities);

-

encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –
- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.

4. Legal and Resource Implications
N/A
Appendices:
None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:
 Full Council, 25 May 2021

Page 13

Agenda Item 5
Bristol City Council
Minutes of the People Scrutiny Commission
8 March 2021 at 2.00 pm

Members Present:Councillors: Claire Hiscott (Chair), Celia Phipps (Vice-Chair), Eleanor Combley, Tim Kent, Gill Kirk,
Brenda Massey, Ruth Pickersgill and Steve Smith
Also in Attendance:Councillor Anna Keen, Cabinet Member for Education and Skills; Councillor Helen Godwin, Cabinet
Member for Women, Families and Homes (Lead Member For Children’s Services)
1.1 Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information
1
The Chair welcomed all attendees to the meeting.
2.2 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions
Councillors English and Johnson sent apologies.
3. Declarations of Interest
Councillor Phipps declared that she was the Deputy Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and that she
was a Social Prescriber.
Councillor Kent declared that a member of his family had an Education Health Care Plan.
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on the 14 December 2020 were agreed as a true record.
5. Chair's Business
The Chair described the year as one of difficult challenging circumstances. All officers were thanked for
their dedication and hard work.

Page 14

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

The Chair provided thanks to the People Directorate Leadership Team; Jacqui Jensen, Executive Director;
Ann James, Director of Children, Families and Safer Communities; Hugh Evans, Director of Adult Social
Care; and Alison Hurley, Director for Education and Skills.
The Chair marked the departure of Jacqui Jensen from the Council at the end of this municipal year, and
thanked her for her contribution to the Council over the years; that it was good to work with leaders such
as her with integrity and strong commitment to Bristol’s communities.
The Chair thanked the Democratic Services team, and the Scrutiny Advisors.
The Commission Members were thanked for their input this work programme.
Following the Temple Quarter school item which was brought to the previous meeting, and the
associated public forum participation, it was agreed that Group leads, Cabinet Member and Director of
Education and Skills should meet and further discuss the item. The Chair updated the Commission, that
the meeting took place on the 9th February 2021, and it was a productive meeting which provided
assurance of the provision of places for the next cohort; and an understanding of better communication
with the Department for Education and parents. The Chair thanked the Cabinet Member for Education
and Skills and Officers for engagement and progress.
The Cabinet Member for Education and Skills highlighted the challenging time for young people receiving
school placements and commended the officers in the admission team who had enabled places to be sent
out on time.
The Chair updated Members on the recently formed Adoption West Joint Scrutiny Panel to provide a
scrutiny provision for Adoption West, the Regional Adoption Agency. Councillor Johnson had represented
Bristol City Council on the Joint Scrutiny Panel and had informed the first Annual Report which was
scheduled to be agreed by the Panel on the 17 March. When the Annual Report was agreed it would be
circulated to Members; and feedback, queries and comments were welcomed to influence and inform
next year’s work programme of the Joint Scrutiny Panel.
The Chair wished everyone a happy International Women’s Day and highlighted how positive it was to see
so many women present both on the Commission and in leadership roles.
Thanks and acknowledgement was also given to everyone who had been involved in education in Bristol,
who help get the city through the difficult time; and for all the children on their return to school today.

RESOLVED;
That an update to the Temple Quay school and provision be considered when next year’s work
programme is agreed.

Page 15

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

That the Adoption West Joint Scrutiny Panel Annual Report be circulated to Commission Members and
that Adoption West be considered when next year’s work programme is agreed.

6. Public Forum
The following Public Forum submissions were noted;

Questions
Ref

Name

Topic

Q1&2

Jen Smith

Alternative Learning
Provision and
Special Educational
Needs & Disability

Q3&4

Lee Starr-Elliott

Special Educational
Needs & Disability

Ref

Name

Topic

S1

Jen Smith

S2

Sid Smith

S3

Sara Stocks

S4

Kay Galpin

Statements
Alternative Learning
Provision
Alternative Learning
Provision
Special Educational
Needs and Disability
Alternative Learning
Provision

Jen Smith and Sara Stock spoke to their statements.
Jen Smith, 1st supplementary question: How do you see solutions working?
The Director of Education & Skills advised that moving forward, all parties would sign up to shared
objectives, which required shared set of behaviours which would contribute to an inclusive culture.

Page 16

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Jen Smith, 2nd supplementary question: How many times has a barrister been used in 2020 and 2021 and
what was the cost for this, not only for EHCP cases?

The Director of Education and Skills to provided a written response following the meeting;


2020 tribunal cases (when they were lodged with the LA) but the hearing may have taken place in
2020 or 2021 = 5 cases at a cost of £3330



Out of the 5 cases, 2 were heard in totality in 2020, 1 was heard in part 2020 with the second part
in 2021 and then 2 in 2021

Lee Starr-Elliott, supplementary question;
In my opinion there are issue with the questionnaire which means it is not accessible. How will you make
it more accessible?
Director of Education and Skills:
Any feedback about accessibility will be reviewed and appropriate changes made so everyone could
access the questionnaire.
One of the pieces of work has been the ‘Time for Change’ project, linked to the EHCP process, which
ensures a child centred focus – professionals working around the views and experiences of that young
person, which would mean the EHCP would be reflective of their views and experiences. This should see
improvements of how EHCPs work for young people.

The Chair reinforced the importance to her for Alternative Learning Provision to be in the agenda today;
and that it was proposed that Special Educational Needs and Disability would continue to be reviewed by
scrutiny. Further improvements were expected and the Chair would not be content until further
advances were seen.

RESOLVED;
That Special Educational Needs and Disability provision be considered when next year’s work programme
is agreed;
That the Public Forum be noted.

Page 17

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

7. COVID-19 Update (For Information)
The report was noted.

8. Performance Report Q3
The Executive Director of People introduced the report.


It was agreed that clarification around Indicator BCPC248: Increase the number for hate crimes
reported required clarification. The Commission was advised that this Performance Indicator was
to measure increase in reporting, although further analysis was now needed to understand what
that meant; and whether the increases in reporting correlated with increased incidents or not.



There was a discussion with reference to Indicator BCPC270: Increase experience of work
opportunities for priority groups, and Members requested clarification of terms used, including
‘opportunities’ and ‘priority groups’. It was agreed that this information would be circulated
following the meeting.



The Commission was informed that there were plans in motion to address the lost work
experience due to the pandemic; which included mentoring and how lost time could be made up
in a meaningful way.



Indicator BCPC266: Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known to social care, who are in
paid employment was discussed, and Members raised an issue that no funding had been available
to support groups led by people with learning difficulties provide input. The Cabinet Member for
Adult Social Care advised the Commission that the Equalities Forum had been set up which had a
wide-ranging representation of groups with disabilities including learning disabilities.



Members discussed Indicator BCPB281: Average change in level of homecare following short term
assessment and reablement episode, and were advised that there was an ambition to increase the
amount of home care; that a culture change was required which would enable as much support at
home as possible which could facilitate independence at home for as long as possible.



With regard to Indicator DPEC018: Reduce the number of adolescents (aged 13-17) who need to
enter care, the Commission was advise that there had been targeted support and interventions for
families where teenagers were on the edge of care so as to try and prevent the need to enter care;
this was a priority due to known poorer outcomes for older children who enter care. COVID-19

Page 18

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

had prevented a lot of the intensive work with families in their homes (although not all) and there
had been an increase in criminal exploitation of children during the pandemic. Therefore the
COVID-19 effect had meant adolescence entering care was higher than the aim.


There was a discussion around Indicator BCPC276a: Reduce the permanent admissions aged 65+
to residential and nursing care, per 100,000 population, and Members were advise that there had
been a reduction of 94 people this quarter compared to the previous year; this despite the fact
lots of beds had opened up in the system. The Commission was advised that the Indicator
description was not clear, as it measured people in temporary placements instead of people who
are permanently in beds, and so the Indicator would be reviewed.



It was confirmed that because of reduced numbers the risk to the viability of care homes was
detailed on the risk register.

RESOLVED;
That the terms ‘Opportunities’ and ‘Priority groups’ within Indicator BCPC270 be clarified

9. Risk Report Q3
The Report was noted.

10. Children In Care
The Director of Children, Families and Safer Communities and the Service Manager and Deputy
Manager’s, Through Care Service presented the report.
Karen Black, Chief Executive, Off The Record, also spoke to the report.


Members were advised that there had been a lot of work via the HOPE and schools across the city,
particularly Cabot Learning federation to work with unaccompanied asylum seekers and to fund
an enhanced pastoral support package for unaccompanied asylum seeker young people.



There was a discussion around whether care leavers gain stable accommodation and the
Commission was advised that the data showed that 93% of care leavers were in suitable
accommodation, although the criteria for ‘unsuitable’ would be if the young person was sharing

Page 19

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

without their own tenancy which meant all the 7% deemed in unsuitable accommodation may not
all have been.


The Commission was advised that lack of pastoral support in the past had meant care leavers had
previously fallen out of accommodation, and some of the enhanced pastoral and welfare provision
had addressed this and also enabled young people to stay in education and training. Members
were advised that it was an issue that some of the unaccompanied asylum seekers could not work
and so they had been encouraged to take voluntary roles which would help to build their CVs.



The Commission heard that the Welcome Wednesday offer (which had expanded to also include
Thursdays) provided a focus on CVs, and that this was part of the ‘Triple Pathway Planning’ – to
include different options which may include if they were to get permanent status or they were to
return home.



Members heard the young people’s MAPS (Mediation Assessment Prevention Support) was going
from strength to strength, which helped young people navigate the housing pathway; and there
had been creative planning to support young people live independently. There was a dedicated
officer funded to support young people in the private rented sector.



Off The record was thanked for the good work that it had done.



There was a discussion about what support care leavers could receive post 25. The Commission
heard that the Council had always tried to operate as flexibly as possible which included the ability
to support some young people post 25, although there was not unlimited resource to do that;
There was national discussions and research about this ongoing. It was important to ensure
young people’s networks are available to them.

11. Adult Social Care - Older people facing isolation
The Head of Adult Care Commissioning introduced the report.
Kay Libby, Chief Executive Age UK Bristol; Carly Urbanski, Head of Bristol Ageing Better programme; and
Judith Brown, Chair of Bristol Ageing Better Programme, also spoke to the report.


The Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care advised the Commission that this was a good example
of co-production in action and it would shape how things would be done in the future.



There was a discussion around the meaning of ‘Age Friendly City’; and that it also meant ‘People
friendly city’, as this would provide benefit to all.

Page 20

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk



The Chair commended the work; that it was recognised it was not easy for organisations to plan
and deliver services during the pandemic, and thanked all associated with the programme for all
the good work to help keep older people connected.



The Commission commended the report and the Bristol Ageing Better programme and stated that
it was entirely behind the direction of travel.

12. Alternative Learning Provision
The Director of Education & Skills introduced the report. The Head of Service, Inclusive City and Virtual
School Headteacher also spoke to the report.


Members welcomed the fact that Alternative Learning Provision had been brought to the Scrutiny
Commission.



There was a discussion around the need to address poor outcomes for young people coming out
of mainstream settings and the associated high social emotional mental health needs; members
also discussed the need to mitigate inequalities in the system.



The Commission was informed that the inclusion element in the pathway from mainstream had
been addressed with a number of deep dives and individual case studies; the next step would be
an analysis the detail which would be within Phase 2 of the transformation work.



The Commission heard that there had been a positive session with Alternative Learning Provision
Leaders across the city which provided a collaborative forum to share the commitment of better
outcomes for young people. This would include reaching into mainstream settings to support
young people rather than having a separation of mainstream and alternative provision settings.



Members were advised that the high number identified with social emotional mental health issues
was an issue which could be tackled by addressing the approach to inclusion in the city; that there
should be a focus on learning needs rather than behaviour. This was in the process of being
addressed via the Special Educational Needs and Disability Written Statement of Action, which
included what provision was available and how early identification was achieved.



Members thanked and commended Officers for the progress made to date.



There was a discussion about how smaller provider organisations could be supported so as not to
be excluded due to lack of capacity or skills to adhere to the service level agreements and quality
assurance required with associated reports.

Page 21

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk



Members were advised that there was a role for a variety of providers working with young people
in different ways; that the report focused on the large providers, rather than the network of
smaller youth organisations, but the point would be considered to ensure the smaller providers
would not be negatively affected.



The Alternative Learning Provision Hub was highlighted which had a focus to support smaller
providers meet the criteria to be on the framework.



Members were advise that the link between SEND unmet need and Alternative Learning Provision
was a known challenge and the ongoing work would address this; and that Alternative Learning
Provision should be short term and tailored within a specific space of time.



There was a discussion about Hospital Education, and how children, once admitted could be
brought back into mainstream; and how different schools may utilise alternative provision
differently. Members were advised that Council would not have sight of all referrals or the
services schools purchase; so one of the challenges was how could there be a city-wide view of
what the purchase and use of provision looked like and how this fitted in with the Council’s
ambition of a culture of inclusion in mainstream settings.



The Commission was advised that there was a range of services and needs across hospital
education, so to look at how children were referred and which areas they had been taught in was
complex. referred and what areas its complex. Hospital education took refusals seriously, and
worked collaboratively with secondary schools, which had provided structures to help the Council
influence and access information in this area.



The Chair thanked all Officers associated with Hospital Education, who had gone above and
beyond.

RESOLVED;


That, following the publication of the independent report, Alternative Learning Provision be
considered when next year’s work programme is agreed.



That the Belonging Strategy be considered when next year’s work programme is agreed.

13. Value For Money Report (For Information)
The report was noted.

Page 22

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

14. Response to the People Scrutiny Working Group Report
The Executive Director for People introduced the report.
The People Directorate welcomed the report; that it was positive to have a focus on children and
safeguarding.


Members agreed that there had been a lot of positives that had come from new ways of working,
which included sharing of information; and commended Officers for their commitment to move
forward with improved practice rather than revert to previous ways of working.



The Commission formally thanked and commended the Safeguarding Education team, who had
been excellent, flexible and responsive.



Members were advised that the improvements seen in sharing of information was to continue,
and schools would find it easier to access relevant information in the future.



The Commission was advised that the expected 5% increase in referrals to children’s services
would be funded within the existing budget and that there was reserves that could be drawn
down if required.



There was a discussion about the ‘digital divide’, and the distribution of devices from the Council,
and Members were advised that distribution was ongoing coordinated by the Council’s IT
department. The Cabinet Member for Women, Families and Homes (Lead Member For Children’s
Services) advised that distribution had moved to a One City approach, with the Bristol Waste
Council distribution as one part of this, with other work ongoing by partner organisations across
the city, including the NHS. The need for hardware and data access would continue to be looked
at, and provide longevity to the project city wide.



The Chair said that the year had been tough for all, but a very positive one in terms of service
delivery and scrutiny with a lot of constructive discussions and achievements; that it was clear that
the Council had strengthened its partnerships throughout the city and there had been good
creativity.



The Chair thanked all Officers and pointed out as schools reopen and the ongoing recovery period
would be challenging for all, and it was important for the Commission to keep its overview of the
recovery strategy as it developed.

RESOLVED;


That the People Directorate accept all recommendations in the report.

Page 23

democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk




That Members be provided with how many devices and data packages had been provided to
households so far;
That the COVID-19 recovery strategy be considered when next year’s work programme is agreed;

15. Action Tracker (For Information)
The Action Tracker was noted.

16. Work Programme (For Information)
The Work Programme was noted.
The Chair thanked all Commission Members for their input for this year’s scrutiny work programme.

Meeting ended at 5.10 pm
CHAIR __________________

Page 24

Agenda Item 9
People Scrutiny Commission – Report

Sir

People Scrutiny
Commission
19 July 2021

Report of:

Hugh Evans, Executive Director, People

Title:

Building Rights - Independent Review of Services for Autistic People and people
with Learning Difficulties

Ward: All
Officer Presenting Report: Hugh Evans
Contact Telephone Number: 0117 90 37856
Recommendations:
That Scrutiny support the actions and the approach we need to take as a city to honour the
recommendations in Building Rights: a review of Bristol’s policies and actions for people with learning
disabilities and autistic people, the recently published independent review of services to help Bristol
become a more welcoming and inclusive place for autistic people and people with learning disabilities. .
Building Rights was written by Sir Stephen Bubb, who led the NHS England review into the Winterbourne
View scandal, published in 2014.
The council is developing a plan to implement the recommendations in Sir Stephen’s report. This will be
joint effort between Bristol City Council, NHS and other statutory, independent and voluntary /
community sector partners, to be delivered through the Healthier Together Mental Health, Learning
Disabilities and Autism transformation programme.

The significant issues in the report are:
Sir Stephen recommended the following, in direct response to the system issues highlighted through the
experiences of the three families featured in his review.
 Establish a Charter of Rights
 Establish a simple and effective ‘right to challenge’, for people who feel marginalised by, and
powerless within the system
 Establish an independent commissioner for autistic people and people with learning difficulties

Page 25

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

1. Summary
1.1 Commissioned by Bristol City Council, in consultation with the Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership,
and produced by Sir Stephen Bubb, the Building Rights report makes three key recommendations
to help services and systems become more aware and have a better understanding of the
challenges faced by autistic people and people with learning disabilities. These are set out below.
1.2 Sir Stephen recommended the following, in direct response to the experiences of the three
families featured in his review:
 Establish a Charter of Rights
 Establish a simple and effective ‘right to challenge’, for people who feel marginalised by, and
powerless within the system
 Establish an independent commissioner for autistic people and people with learning
disabilities.
1.3 Bristol City Council welcomes the findings of the Building Rights report, and fully accepts the
recommendations.
2. Context
2.1 One of the reasons this report was commissioned in 2019 was because it was necessary to
establish how aware local agencies across Bristol are about the experiences of autistic people and
people with learning disabilities, and to understand how we can progress our ambition to create a
city that is welcoming for all. The recommendations in this report will help us to work towards this
aim.
2.2 Some progress has been made since the report was commissioned. A new multi-agency children’s
Autism Diagnosis Hub has been implemented. The We Work for Everyone campaign has
commenced, which specifically targets autistic people and people with a learning disability to
support them to find and maintain paid employment. We will soon hear the outcome of our bid to
be an MHCLG-funded Changing Futures pilot area, which, if successful, will provide a start to the
much needed work to address the needs of some of the most complex individuals inside and
outside the system.
2.3 We want to robustly challenge the iniquitous social experiences that people with learning
disabilities and autistic people have.






People with learning disabilities die on average 20 years younger than the general population
and only 37% of people with a learning disability live beyond the age of 65.
There is markedly increased premature mortality in autistic people owing to a multitude of
medical conditions.
Individuals with high-functioning autism are at higher risk of suicide.
74% of autistic adults report that they experience difficulties in accessing health care, and 88%
felt that health professionals failed to understand their health needs.
70% of autistic people have a mental health condition (NICE): 40% have two or more.

Page 26

People Scrutiny Commission – Report













In 2015, autistic people made up 38% of the number in mental health hospitals, now it is
57%. (1,165 autistic people). The average length of stay is 5.6 years and the average distance
from home is over sixty miles.
72% of people of working age with mild learning disabilities are not in employment.
Only 22% of autistic adults are in any kind of employment. (ONS, Feb 2021)
Many people in the prison population have a learning disability.
It is estimated that autistic people are up to seven times more likely than the general
population to be involved in the criminal justice system, as a victim, a witness, or a defendant.
(UK Parliament, January 2020)
Disabled women were over five times more likely to have experienced sexual assault in the last
year.
The lowest proportion of home ownership is among those with learning disabilities, and people
with learning disabilities and their families are more likely to live in poverty.
29.5% of people who are homeless have probable learning disabilities.
Nearly two-thirds of children with autism between the ages of 6 and 15 have been bullied.

2.4 The adverse experiences of people with learning difficulties and autism cover the gamut of social
experience: people consigned from childhood to ‘assessment and treatment’ institutions; people
who are sometimes able to function with minimal support but who can slip into situations where
they are exploited and abused; people who are overlooked and never get a chance to vote, go to
work, socialise, or benefit from all of the basics of citizenship that most of us take for granted. A
disproportionate number become subject to the criminal justice system both as victims and
perpetrators. Stark health inequalities are apparent.
2.5 This is about equity, human rights, social justice and citizenship. People with learning disabilities
and autistic people experience some of the starkest social disadvantage of all citizens. Our social
structures are simply not geared up to cater for people with diverse needs.
2.6 Sir Stephen Bubb states that despite our best efforts as individual organisations, the approaches
we employ to support people with learning disabilities and autistic people are disjointed and offer
incomplete solutions. At best, we manage crisis situations and perceived problems, but we often
do this through services that control people, rather than through approaches that enable and
empower.
2.7 The council is working up a framework to implement the recommendations in Sir Stephen’s
report. This will be joint effort between Bristol City Council, NHS and other statutory, independent
and voluntary / community sector partners, to be delivered through the Healthier Together Mental
Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism transformation programme. Work will include the
following.
 An audit of the situation as is, and the creation of a strong and long-term lived experience
approach, through which we will actively develop working relationships with people with
learning disabilities, autistic people, their families and support organisations in order to coproduce plans
 The development of a systemic approach to complex needs through Changing Futures (funding
permitting)
 A dialogue with progressive and ambitious service providers to develop a procurement
specification to encourage the ‘best in class’ services to come and build capacity in Bristol,
North Somerset and South Gloucestershire

Page 27

People Scrutiny Commission – Report





A dialogue with the fledgeling Integrated Care Partnerships to encourage the development of
supportive community-based approaches to enable people to partake meaningfully in their
local communities
Continued work with housing, employment support, and neighbourhood development
programmes to ensure that there are better opportunities for people to partake in the
activities of everyday life.

3. Policy
This approach aligns with the One City Plan and its aim to make Bristol a fair and sustainable city.
Particularly in relation to the Health and Wellbeing theme to ensure everyone in Bristol will have the
opportunity to live a life in which they are mentally and physically healthy and addressing health
inequalities.
This work also aligns with our Equalities and Inclusion Policy (2018-2023) in terms of valuing
diversity, tackling harassment, in particular the objectives:
 E03. To provide inclusive services which actively address inequality and exclusion and enable all
of Bristol’s citizens to realise their potential and live safely.
 E04. To achieve a measurable increase in the extent to which communities facing inequality can
share in and contribute to the city’s success.
4. Consultation
a) Internal
Not applicable.
b)External
Bristol, North Somerset and South Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

5. Public Sector Equality Duties

Public sector equality duties are entirely relevant to these proposals as we are seeking to eliminate
discrimination and harassment and address the inequalities and disadvantage faced by people with
Learning Disabilities and Autistic people. Many people who have Learning Disabilities and Autistic
people also face multiple disadvantages and may have other protected characteristics (e.g. related to
race, age, sexual orientation) and this is also being considered. Equalities Impact assessments will
need to be undertaken for all agreed proposals and people with lived experience involved in coproducing any changes or plans.
Appendices:
1. Building Rights powerpoint slides
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

Page 28

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

Background Papers:
Building Rights – Report of Sir Stephen Bubb – Link

Page 29

Page 30

Building Rights: a review of Bristol’s policies
and actions for people with learning
disabilities and autistic people

uilding Rights

Page 31

People with Learning Disabilities and Autistic people experience some of the greatest
social disadvantage of all citizens. Our social structures are not geared up to cater for
people with diverse needs. This is about equity, human/civil rights, social justice and
citizenship.
As individual organisations, support for people with Learning Disabilities and Autistic
people is disjointed, and offers incomplete solutions.
Our services approaches seek to manage crises through control. We don’t enable.
Often we send people to assessment and treatment facilities.
Sometimes people become subject to the criminal justice system, which is also not
geared up to offer progressive support.
A joined up approach through which NHS, local authority, criminal justice system, DWP,
independent, voluntary and community sector services and support are coordinated to
provide local, bespoke and progressive solutions is essential.

uilding Rights

Page 32

Sir Stephen Bubb recognised these issues in his independent review of the Winterbourne View ‘hospital’
facility in 2014. He recommended within that that all such facilities should be closed, and replaced with
progressive community solutions.
transforming-commissioning-services.pdf (england.nhs.uk)
Sir Stephen Bubb makes clear that we commit huge amounts of resource to these inadequate approache
and that we could support our citizens in better and more cost effective ways that do not involve what is
in effect, incarceration.
Sir Stephen recommended the following, in direct response to the experiences within the stories of the
three families featured in his review.
A charter of rights for people with LD and Autism.
A simple and effective ‘right to complain’, for people who feel marginalised by decisions made about
them.
An ‘independent commissioner’. (To be specified)

uilding Rights

Page 33

In Bristol, we want to follow up the report with an ‘aggressive’ challenge to the
iniquitous social experiences of people with Learning Disabilities, Autistic people and
their families have. Marvin Rees is behind this.
We are soon to hear about our Changing Futures bid: work which will bring together
disparate parts of our system to work more effectively together to support people with
complex needs.
We are working across BNSSG through the Healthier Together programme on Learning
Disabilities and Autism.
Work will include the following.
An audit of the situation ‘as is’, with a strong ‘lived experience’ approach, to actively
develop working relationships with people with Learning Disabilities, Autistic people,
their families and support organisations in order to co-produce plans.
A systemic approach to complex needs through Changing Futures.

Agenda Item 10
People Scrutiny Commission – Report

People Scrutiny
Commission
19 July 2021
Report of: Alison Hurley, Service Director Education and Skills, People
Title: Alternative Learning Provision Statement of Action
Ward: All
Officer Presenting Report: Alison Hurley, Service Director Education and Skills, People
Contact Telephone Number: 0117 922 4682
Recommendations:
To note and provide feedback on:
• The content and recommendations of the ALP Review.
• The approach Bristol City Council intends to take in response to the ALP Review.

The significant issues in the report are:
A review of ALP (appendix A) has been completed which makes 31 recommendations for improvement in
the ALP system in Bristol.
Bristol City Council’s view of the work required to deliver against the recommendations is outlined in a
draft ALP Statement of Action (appendix B).
Co-production of the final ALP Statement of Action is in progress and will be completed by 22nd October
2021. Completion of the ALP Statement of Action is expected by September 2022.

Page 34

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

1. Summary
1.1 Alternative Learning Provision (ALP) is education outside of school arranged by local authorities
and schools for children in Key Stage 1, 2, 3 or 4 who are permanently excluded, at risk of
exclusion, or for whom mainstream education is inappropriate. It is for children and young
people of school age who are unable to attend mainstream or special educational settings
because of health, emotional or behavioural reasons.
1.2 The purpose of the report is to present the Review of Alternative Learning Provision (“ALP
Review”) and associated draft ALP Statement of Action (SOA) and co-production proposal to
People Scrutiny Commission for information, consultation, and discussion.
2 Context
2.1 An outcome of a Judicial Review in SEND required BCC to review the effectiveness of
Alternative Learning Provision (ALP). The review was incorporated into Improvement Priority
4.3 of Bristol Local Area Written Statement of Action (WSoA) for Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities (SEND)
2.2 As a response, BCC commissioned an independent review into ALP with the following aims:
 To gain a full understanding of how Alternative Learning Provision is currently being used in
Bristol in order to enable transparent decision making for future placements and
consistency across settings.
 To inform the collaborative approach to specialist education to agree what Bristol would
like to achieve with ALP and how it will be used in the future.
 To inform future ALP recommissioning. This links with the Inclusive City Belonging Strategy
and the review of Specialist Provision, alongside the WSOA SEND.
This provides momentum for BCC to transform and improve ALP arrangements to better meet
the needs of citizens and is a key part of the reform of the end-to-end SEND system.
2.3 The ALP Review made 31 recommendations for improvement in the ALP system (see appendix
A for further detail). These have been grouped into interlinking themes for delivery:
Special
Educational Needs
and Disabilities

Schools

Data

Finance

Commissioning

Safeguarding

Post-16

Governance

2.4 ALP and SEND refers to the current inter-dependency between SEND and ALP with actions to
clarify and strengthen processes and relationships between these two areas. There are high
numbers of pupils with SEND with either education, health and care (EHC) plans or proceeding
through the EHC Needs Assessment process, currently in ALP. High numbers of pupils going to
ALP are also presenting with additional needs, particularly Social, Emotional and Mental Health
(SEMH), Speech and Language and low literacy and maths skills.

Page 35

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

2.5 ALP and Schools is concerned with supporting and challenging schools with the aim of
implementing a graduated response to prevent exclusions and reliance on ALP.
2.6 ALP and Data indicates improvement is necessary in data capture to facilitate accurate
planning and reporting.
2.7 ALP and Finance shows ALP is used to cover a deficiency in the number of appropriate SEND
placements and links to the current review of High Needs Block Element 3 funding. While both
the ALP and SEND budgets are from the Dedicated School Grant High Needs Block, different LA
Officers are making different placements. A clear protocol for placing children/young people
with an EHC plan into AP needs to be agreed.
2.8 ALP and Commissioning mandates a joint ALP and SEND commissioning strategy along with
joint quality assurance processes. This links to the recommissioning of ALP in progress.
2.9 ALP and Safeguarding covers the strengthening of systems for sharing key information between
school and ALP, social and mental health support along with capturing the pupil and parent
voice.
2.10 ALP and Post-16 will improve careers advice and guidance to young people and is concerned
with moving post-16 support from Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) funding back
into the Local Authority. It will also cover arrangements for supporting young parents.
2.11 ALP and Governance links ALP to actions in progress with respect to corporate themes such as
the SEND Written Statement of Action and the Belonging Strategy, which will be launched in
Spring 2021. There is also the need for clear system-wide strategic leadership of ALP as the ALP
Hub has been working in isolation, with insufficient direction or accountability built into
structures.
2.12 BCC has accepted all the recommendations and the ALP Statement of Action sets out BCC’s
response to the review. It should be noted this is BCC’s internal view of the work required and
not the end product. It is intended to help guide the co-production process.
2.13 The final agreed version of the Statement of Action will outline the activity that will occur to
deliver against all of the recommendations and the timescales to do so. It will contain agreed
milestones for delivery so that progress can be tracked in the delivery phase of the Statement
of action.
2.14 Delivery will be part of the second phase of the Education Transformation Programme using
the governance structure that is in place and progress will be published regularly on the Local
Offer.
2.15 To deliver an inclusive ALP system that works for all, co-production with ALP stakeholders is
required. Information sessions with a range of key stakeholders such as ALP Heads have
already taken place.
2.16 In addition to the eight delivery themes there will be a cross-cutting co-production
workstream. This workstream has two purposes – to co-produce the delivery plan and, once in
the delivery phase, to monitor delivery and ensure new systems and processes are fit for

Page 36

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

purpose. There will be four Reference Groups made up of clusters of stakeholders:

Education
settings

Children and
Young People

Parent/carers

Key
stakeholders

2.17 The groups will:
 Review the recommendations and prioritise those which are considered to be most
important.
 Review the plans to ensure the right activity is covered and that implementation of the
recommendations will be achieved. This is likely to result in changes to the initial planning
to produce the final version of the ALP Statement of Action.
 Review the draft recommissioning strategy.
2.18 Co-production activity with the reference groups is planned to be completed by 1st September
2021. Following co-production and agreement of the final ALP Statement of Action,
stakeholders will continue to be involved to track progress and ensure the quality of the
outcomes.
2.19 Stakeholder engagement on the ALP Review has already occurred and more information on
this activity can be found in appendix C.
2.20 Appendix B ALP Statement of Action shows BCC’s view of the work required to deliver against
the recommendations in the ALP Review. It should be noted this is the starting point of coproduction and not the final plan.
2.21 Areas of the report expected to be of particular interest to stakeholders are ALP and SEND and
ALP and Schools. The outline of BCC’s response to these areas is below.
2.22 ALP and SEND
Ref.
3

11

12

24

Recommendation
Clear expectations and protocols between ALP
hub and SEND teams need to be agreed and
clarified.
SEND team do not commission individual
bespoke ALP packages. Procurement
arrangements need to be agreed by Senior
Officers of ALP and SEND.
Sufficiency plan of SEND placements is underway
but a plan of how to manage and fund the SEND
pupils in ALP provision in the meantime needs to
be drawn up and agreed.
Develop as a matter of urgency a protocol for
SEND and ‘high cost’ placements with ALP Hub to
enable appropriate placements.

Summary of response
These recommendations will be delivered through the
development of new pathways for the various scenarios
when children and young people may be considered for
specialist provision and ultimately alternative provision.
A review of the consultation process for specialist
provision is included along with consideration of out of
local authority requests.
We plan to introduce Mainstream Awaiting Placement
Panel (MAPP) meetings. In the MAPP meeting, the
school will have the opportunity to discuss what
support they require to meet the needs of children and
young people and how to prepare for transition to
specialist setting with colleagues from other schools, an
Educational Psychologist and representatives from
specialist outreach providers.

Page 37

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

14

15

A system for joint monitoring, quality assurance
and co-ordination of all ALP placements with
SEND needs to be established.

A review of Top Up (pre EHCP) funding is
urgently needed.

We plan to increase capacity to enable better, more
joined up quality assurance of placements. We will also
introduce a new standard operating procedure which
will be reflected in the commissioning arrangements.
This recommendation links to recommendation 16 and
also the recommissioning of ALP in section 5.5.
We will review current funding arrangements and put in
place a new funding matrix for element 3 of High Needs
Funding. This will build on learning from other
comparable Local Authorities to ensure best practice is
followed.

2.23 ALP and Schools
Ref.
2

20

19

21

30

Recommendation
Protocols regarding graduated
response from schools need to
be drawn up.
Paperwork and graduated
response from schools should be
evidenced prior to the BIP
referral. Better evidence is
needed of previous behaviour
and learning supports. (There is a
separate review of the BIP taking
place which may address this
issue)
Establish a SEMH Pathway
including common language for
reporting and recording.
A review of early intervention to
schools, support advice and
challenge to prevent exclusions
and reliance on ALP.
Consider how to appropriately
support and challenge schools
around the areas of inclusion and
exclusions.

Summary of response
We will work with the schools and settings participating in the Bristol
Inclusion Panel1 process to clarify expectations and evidence required
to support the graduated response more explicitly within the referral
process. This will ensure more robust, complete and relevant
safeguarding information is available to support/improve safe
transitions between schools.
A clear understanding of what an appropriate response looks like will be
developed and good practice shared.
This links to recommendation 27 in the Safeguarding theme.
We will review existing early support arrangements within schools with
a view to introduce measures to better support settings.
An SEMH pathway will be established. This will be supported by the
introduction of a SEMH champions network and training across settings
to ensure a consistent approach and knowledge transfer.

2.24 The ALP Statement of Action is expected to be agreed, following co-production, by 22nd
October 2021. Indicative delivery dates are included in the draft ALP Statement of Action, but it
is expected these will change through the co-production activity. Current expectations of the
work required show an end date of September 2022.

1

The main functions of the Bristol Inclusion Panel are to support the education arrangements for children at
risk of permanent exclusion and to fulfil the requirements of the local area Fair Access (mid-year admissions)
Protocol – finding school places for vulnerable children missing education. The BIP was co-created by schools
and the local authority and continues to be well supported by schools and other education settings. It has been
successful in achieving its purpose of significantly reducing permanent exclusions from Bristol secondary schools
and ensuring that children are given the opportunity to be successful in appropriate education settings, best
suited to the individual needs of students.

Page 38

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

3. Policy
Not applicable.
4. Consultation
a) Internal
Not applicable.
b)External
Not applicable.
5. Public Sector Equality Duties
5a)

Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the
need to:
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under
the Equality Act 2010.
ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular,
to the need to --

remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic;

-

take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons'
disabilities);

-

encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.

iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –
- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.
5b)

An Equality Impact Assessment for the ALP Statement of Action has been completed and is
available in Appendix D.

Page 39

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified:
Changes to the ALP system have the potential to affect CYP both with and without protected
characteristics. As the ALP SOA has not yet been finalised, negative impacts will be mitigated
through representative Reference Groups.
These groups will co-produce the ALP SOA ensuring their views are incorporated and that the
actions included in the plan reduce any negative impacts on people with protected characteristics.
Once the ALP SOA moves into the delivery phase the Reference Groups will continue to monitor
delivery with a focus on reducing negative impacts.
Summary of positive impacts/opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty:
The changes to the ALP system resulting from the ALP Statement of Action will help to ensure that
the educational needs of children and young people (CYP) are met with all CYP in appropriate
provision. The key objectives of the programme of work are to implement a fairer system with
improved service user experience and transparent decision making. This will benefit all CYP
including those with protected characteristics.
Appendices:
A. ALP Review Report
B. ALP Statement of Action (draft)
C. ALP Co-production proposal
D. EqIA
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:
None.

Page 40

REVIEW REPORT – BRISTOL ALTERNATIVE LEARNING PROVISION –
OCTOBER – NOVEMBER 2020

Commissioned by Bristol City Council

Page 1 of 44

Page 41

1 Table of Contents
2

Review Brief .................................................................................................................................... 4

3

Methodology................................................................................................................................... 4

4

Executive summary ......................................................................................................................... 4
4.1

Overall Relationships .............................................................................................................. 4

4.2

Data ......................................................................................................................................... 5

4.3

Strategic Planning ................................................................................................................... 5

4.4

Cost of ALP .............................................................................................................................. 6

4.5

Finance .................................................................................................................................... 7

4.6

Quality Assurance (QA) ........................................................................................................... 7

4.7

Information sharing ................................................................................................................ 8

4.8

Early Intervention Bases (EIB) and Support to schools ........................................................... 8

4.9

SEND ........................................................................................................................................ 9

4.10

Case Studies highlights............................................................................................................ 9

4.11

Post-16 concerns................................................................................................................... 10

4.12

The Meriton (BHES)............................................................................................................... 10

4.13

School Improvement ............................................................................................................. 10

4.14

Commissioning review 2016 ................................................................................................. 11

5

Recommendations ........................................................................................................................ 12

6

Description of ALP and general outcome findings ........................................................................ 14

7

6.1

What is the alternative learning provision known as ALP? .................................................. 14

6.2

Local education landscape in Bristol ..................................................................................... 15

6.3

Mainstream schools in Bristol ............................................................................................... 15

6.4

Alternative Learning Provision – ALP/AP .............................................................................. 16

6.5

Cost of full-time (F/T) and part-time (P/T) provision ............................................................ 17

6.6

Local ALP Provision ............................................................................................................... 17

6.7

Analysis of Provision ............................................................................................................. 20

6.8

Use of ALP ............................................................................................................................. 21

6.9

Exclusions .............................................................................................................................. 21

6.10

Fair Access Protocols & Bristol Inclusion Panel .................................................................... 24

6.11

Case Studies .......................................................................................................................... 25

REVIEW OF THE MERITON WITHIN Bristol Hospital Education Service (BHES) ............................ 26
7.1

8

The Meriton .......................................................................................................................... 26

Other help for children and families in Bristol .............................................................................. 27

Page 2 of 44

Page 42

8.1

First Response ....................................................................................................................... 27

8.2

Citywide area-based ‘Early Help’ services ............................................................................ 27

8.3

Safer Options......................................................................................................................... 28

8.4

ALP Hub team - ..................................................................................................................... 28

8.5

A City Belonging in Education Strategy ................................................................................. 28

8.6

Role of local authority and the development of ALP ............................................................ 29

8.7

Managed moves .................................................................................................................... 30

8.8

Different models of provision ............................................................................................... 31

9

The Way Forward .......................................................................................................................... 32

10

Appendix 1 – Data supporting case study highlights ................................................................ 34

11

Appendix 2 - Legal and policy context ...................................................................................... 35

11.1

Legal framework ................................................................................................................... 35

11.2

Safeguarding duties .............................................................................................................. 35

11.3

Children Act 2004.................................................................................................................. 35

11.4

Local authority duties owed to excluded pupils ................................................................... 36

11.5

Alternative Provision Statutory Guidance ............................................................................ 36

12

Appendix 3 - Bristol Exclusions data ......................................................................................... 38

13

Appendix 4– Education and Skills Structural Chart and other interventions ........................... 42

14

Appendix 5 - References ........................................................................................................... 43

Table of Figures
[Figure 1 Costs - Percentage of Total REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]
.............................................................................................................................................................. 17
[Figure 2 -Percentage of Children in ALP by Postcode REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE
INFORMATION] ..................................................................................................................................... 17
[Figure 3 - Percentage of Children in ALP by Ethnicity REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE
INFORMATION] ..................................................................................................................................... 17
Figure 4 Boundary Map......................................................................................................................... 18
Figure 5 ALP Places ............................................................................................................................... 19
Figure 6 Indices of Deprivation ............................................................................................................. 23
Figure 7 Fixed Term Exclusions ............................................................................................................. 24
Figure 8 Reasons for Referral to ALP .................................................................................................... 34
Figure 9 Percentage SEND in Case Studies ........................................................................................... 34
[Figure 10 Ethnicity in ALP REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]............... 34
Figure 11 Updated Bristol Exclusions info from the DfE release for School Year 2018-19................... 38
Figure 12 Fixed Term Exclusion Rate .................................................................................................... 38
Figure 13 One or more fixed-term exclusions rate ............................................................................... 38
Figure 14 Permanent Exclusions - Bristol.............................................................................................. 39
Figure 15 Permanent Exclusions - Bristol, Core Cities, National & Statistical Neighbours ................... 39
Figure 16 Bristol Exclusions & Ethnicity ................................................................................................ 40

Page 3 of 44

Page 43

Figure 17 Number of Permanent Exclusions in total schools ............................................................... 41

2 Review Brief
•

•

•

To gain a full understanding of how Alternative Learning Provision (ALP) is
currently being used in Bristol in order to enable transparent decision making
for future placements and consistency across settings.
The review will be used to inform the collaborative approach to specialist
education to agree what Bristol would like to achieve with ALP and how it will
be used in the future.
It will also inform future ALP recommissioning. This links with the Inclusive
City Belonging Strategy and the review of Specialist Provision, alongside the
‘Written Statement of Action’ (WSOA) SEND.

3 Methodology
•

•
•
•
•

•

Online interviews with all current ALP providers at CEO and Head teacher
level. Examination of data given, finance information and use of ALP via the
Bristol Inclusion Panel (BIP).
Interviews of wide range of professionals involved with students in ALP and
attendance at Local Authority Officer meetings.
Examination of School’s Forum information, strategic plans, previous reviews,
checking of Local Authority (LA) website information.
Data from statistical neighbours, DfE advice and guidance.
Deep dive of 39 case studies regarding students accessing or who have
accessed ALP. Identified by using a cross section of age, gender, ethnicity
and post code to select the cases in each of the main ALP settings.
Meetings with the Chair of the Management Committee of the Bristol Hospital
Education. Examination of previous review of the Meriton.

4 Executive summary
4.1 Overall Relationships
Very good relationships exist between schools and ALP Hub, and the whole team is
highly thought of. Head of ALP makes excellent connections across professional
boundaries and aims to collaborate with all parties involved with the children. There
was evidence of good case practice witnessed during a number of team meetings
attended. Providers feel well supported by the hub and report effective
communications.
Page 4 of 44

Page 44

Generally, all Local Authority Officers are keen to improve the system for young
people and are open to change. They are open about strengths and weaknesses of
the organisation, with failures frequently attributed to numerous changes of senior
management. There is a positive view that the new Director of Education and Skills
has had a good impact on moving issues forward and working with schools. ALP
providers report a lack of communication especially from Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND) teams and management. The Providers would like clearer
strategic direction. They also report lack of appropriate information on pupils from
schools, leading to some inappropriate placements.

4.2 Data
The reviewer found that the data capture given was unreliable and incorrect on many
of the fields, leading to difficulties for reporting and planning accurately. The ALP
Hub collects separate data, reporting that there are difficulties using the EYES
system which prevents them using the central system. The June 2020 data capture
was incorrect when tested against other information from Providers and the Hub.
The use of ALP over the last few years lacks centrally held data. While there is
information in the 2016 ALP commissioning review that established the ALP Hub, the
main data for the department is now only held by the ALP Hub team. Different teams
within the LA are collecting information on the ALP pupils. For example, Safer
Options teams are triaging cases with the police but they report poor health input.
However, all this information is not on one IT system as yet and cannot be used for
effective case planning and management.

4.3 Strategic Planning
Insufficient and incorrect data makes it difficult to strategically plan ALP. There is a
whole system IT development (EYES) which isn’t imbedded and requires universal
data entry, which, as already mentioned, is not yet the case. The ALP Hub has very
good ‘separate’ data to predict need but there is little evidence this has been used or
reported appropriately. There was an ALP review Commissioning Plan in 2016 called
‘pushed out learners’, where one of the actions was to set up three eight placed
KS1&2 provision and Early Intervention Bases (EIB). The base in the South of the
City offers eight full time places. while the other base in the North does not offer the
full-time provision. North Star developed an alternative offer based on what they
could provide practically not what had been originally commissioned. Both provisions
are funded on a per-place basis. North Star appear to provide a good outreach and
part time programmes but no full-time provision in this area of the City does cause a
travel issue for the younger pupils. An area-based needs assessment would help
with development and recommissioning ALP in this area. There are a number of
strategic plans, both in place and on-going for sufficiency of places across the city
and it would be helpful to include the EIBs in the planning. It is worth mentioning the
following two plans though there are others. These illustrate the necessary links, the
first plan a whole city approach and the second focused on the delivery of the whole
city plan; One City Plan - Mayor Marvin Rees published the city’s first ever One City
Plan on 11 January 2019, a first written attempt to set out the challenge and bring
Page 5 of 44

Page 45

the city together around its common causes. The Belonging Strategy is lead and
developed within the Educational Directorate with a central focus of school
attendance and inclusion. It is expected to be a joined up, whole system approach
to trauma informed practise and adverse childhood experiences. This strategy has
yet to be published and was not available for input into this report.

4.4 Cost of ALP
Bristol City Council block-purchase places at most provisions for £10,000 and top-up
by £9,330. However, there are 50 commissioned places at £28,000 a place at one
ALP provider = £1,400,000, 14 of these places are ‘reserved’ for SEND pupils with
EHCPs and attract additional top-up spending from SEND. The funding for this
provider is higher cost than the other providers and it isn’t clear that these are
‘different’ children or if the provision is offering different support. The responsibility
for quality assurance of all pupils need to be clarified, in particular for the SEND
pupils. The SEND team monitors the EHCPs to ensure that the pupil’s needs are
met but does not have a quality assurance role around the SEND placements. There
have been some examples of the SEND team members arranging bespoke ALP
packages and the ALP Hub having little or no knowledge of this process taking
place. This makes for two parallel systems for providers and different reporting
systems on some of the same pupils. ALP Budget appears to be £3,514,712.67,
which includes £600,000 for Early Intervention, though the cost centre only reports
£300,000. The total ALP actual spend appears to be closer to £3,940,000 but the
cost centres and the budget lines do not match.
Data Capture June 2020 shows a predictive spend of:
£1,300,000 for Block purchase (actual £1,400,000)
£1,200,000 for spot purchasing (which also includes some unknown income from
schools)
EIBs = £360,000
(EIB actual £600,000 includes, Lansdown South, North Star and The Nest)
Education 1st = £710,615
The budget includes:
Snowdon Village = £1,083,000
Bristol Futures = £293,053
Learning Partnership West = £1,093,516
BHES Budget is £2,155,000, which (includes £150,000 for the Meriton. The charging
policy of £25 a day has been suspended and needs to be reviewed and applied or
cancelled.

Page 6 of 44

Page 46

There are a couple of providers that have gone out of business but total costs of
individual programmes before closure were £98,555. (i.e. Hop, Skip & Jump
£27,415)
School demands also drive the market but as already explained BCC have no sight
of other school spend on ALP and so understanding the complete spend on ALP is
impossible.

4.5 Finance
To a large degree the ALP budget is covering lack of SEND placements. While it is
an estimate as figures and reporting varies, with approximately 70% of ALP places
taken up by pupils who have SEND or are in the process of the assessment for an
EHCP and this figure is 58% in the case studies. Some ALP providers are at risk of
turning into special schools but are not registered as such. The SEND Budget is
clearly increasing (Schools Forum papers 2020) but this cost is not included. The
ALP budget is closely connected to the SEND demand, but it is unclear which areas
of spend are increasing, at what rate and why. It is normal to have a certain amount
of SEND pupils within the ALP but not to see the numbers at this high percentage.
While both the ALP and SEND budgets are from ‘High Need’ block, different LA
Officers are making different placement decisions. A protocol of SEND and ‘high
cost’ placements needs to be agreed with ALP Hub to control this area of spend.
Joint monitoring and co-ordination of all ALP placements would be advisable, some
EHCP reviews include ALP Hub staff but a lack of capacity means that this doesn’t
happen as a matter of course. This usually happens when a pupil is placed in ALP
and then undergoes assessment for EHCP. Further examination of this area of work
and the cross over between the ALP and the SEND system needs to take place.
While there are statutory requirements for SEND pupils, there is no obligation to
monitor ALP pupils in the same fashion.
Schools are also able to apply to the Local Authority for pre-EHCP top-up funding
which is supposed to prevent the need for further assessment or exclusion. It is
reported that a large number of pupils receiving this type of unusual funding have
SEMH needs but the exact numbers are unclear. There is also no available data on
how preventative this funding support may be or how much is being spent for this
provision.

4.6 Quality Assurance (QA)
While all AP schools used are now rated ‘Good’ from their last Ofsted inspections,
there was an issue with the closure of one of the Key Stage 3/4 provisions. This
provision has now transferred under the management of another provider, but this
happened as an emergency and not as a planned strategy. BCC has to ensure this
does not happen in other settings as there were also short notice closures of small
AP providers during this financial year. There is a lack of Service Level Agreements
across a number settings. There appears to only be one setting with an SLA in place

Page 7 of 44

Page 47

at the present time. Contract checking and general quality assurance issues for a
number of settings need to be resolved. Though the Head of Safeguarding in
education accompanies Officers on QA visits it is not clear how often these visits
take place and the visits have been suspended due to COVID. Having safeguarding
policies from settings is not enough to ensure good safeguarding working practises.
The larger Providers are doing additional QA when they are outsourcing individual
programmes. Schools are ‘rarely’ checking providers, tending to leave that to LA.
Lack of capacity in the ALP Hub and difficulties for the team to challenge schools
and ALP Providers means that the QA is not as rigorous as it needs to be. ALP Hub
team is too small to adequately undertake Quality Assurance of ALP. Safeguarding
policies are required of settings/providers, but cross triangulation is needed to
ensure good practise.

4.7 Information sharing
There are many challenges to good information sharing, some causally linked to
poor data capture as not all professionals are using the EYES/IT system. There is a
further challenge with schools who use a variety of systems. The professionals
interviewed, reported that it is often not clear which other professionals are involved
with cases and this makes follow up weak. However, they are aware of the issue and
do make efforts to link with other teams when the issues are obvious. A lack of
graduated response information to BIP and ALP providers from schools was
reported.
However, the small ALP Hub team has had a positive impact on reducing exclusions
over the last few years and make strenuous efforts to share information on pupils.
Examples of pupils with unmet and unassessed needs were identified by providers.
It was referred to as the main reason for inappropriate pupil placements. Pupils
accessing ALP are part of the windscreen of LA help and support but are also on the
continuum of SEND. SEND is often seen as a destination for pupils rather than part
of a journey. A SEMH Pathway would help schools and parents understand what
support is available.

4.8 Early Intervention Bases (EIB) and Support to schools
There has been a reduction in the overall exclusions over the last few years and in
particular the permanent exclusions, (PEX) which is primarily due to the focus and
work from the ALP Hub as already described. However, exclusions are still higher
than statistical and City neighbours. (See Appendix 3 - Bristol Exclusions data) The
availability of EIB is poorly distributed in some areas of the City. There is more
support in North and Central East than in the South of the city. Services have
developed over time but may need some restricting, redefining and coordinating in
order to address this problem. While there is some evidence of improving outreach
from Lansdown during this academic year, this may be a temporary situation due to
fewer referrals of pupils during the COVID pandemic. They have recently capped
places in order to focus more on outreach. Sufficiency for outreach support for
inclusion is an issue, as is service coordination from other LA inclusion teams. As

Page 8 of 44

Page 48

one Officer remarked ‘inclusion can’t wait’ for COVID to disappear. Further
development of EIBs especially for Secondary schools could be further developed
but would require funding and agreement from schools.

4.9 SEND
As already stated, there are extremely high numbers of SEND pupils with EHCPs
and in the progress of having EHCPs in ALP. These are the highest cost ALP
placements. There are some issues that need to be considered by BCC before
naming ALP on an EHCP, as it should not ideally be named on the plan unless the
provision can clearly meet the children or young person's needs. One of the issues
for ALP is that they are not resourced and often not trained for the needs as
described on EHCPs. Lack of sufficiency in specialist placements is in the process of
being addressed but is a long-term planning process. Pupil placement decision are
sometimes poor and with the best intentions on occasions SEND Case Officers are
arranging individual high cost bespoke programmes without further discussion with
senior ALP officers. High numbers of the pupils going to ALP are then assessed with
un-met needs. They go on to have EHCPs but then can’t be found placements. The
main presenting need is SEMH (Social Emotional Mental Health) though some pupils
with ASD/Challenging behaviour have been recorded. Providers report in the case
studies high numbers with speech and language problems, along with dyslexia and
dyspraxia and potentially other undiagnosed issues. There are 70% of SEND pupils
in the total ALP cohort and 58% of case study pupils who had EHCPs or were in the
process of obtaining an EHCP.

4.10 Case Studies highlights
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Data supporting highlights will be found in Appendix 1 – Data supporting case
study highlights
High numbers of long-term placements were found rather than revolving door
support. However, one setting did say it had better outcome of revolving door
cases than the case studies picked for that setting.
High numbers of pupils who have been moved around the system a number
of times to different setting.
Lack of sufficiency for ‘hard to reach’ and ‘hard to place’ children and young
people. Children fitting settings rather than settings fitting children.
For pupils moving schools via ‘managed moves’ or ‘negotiated transfers’,
without support the chance of success at a new setting is poor.
Potentially undiagnosed educational needs, especially speech and language
problems.
Schools looking for an ALP place before more than one mainstream school
has been attempted.
Schools being too risk averse and refusing pupils a place based on ‘hearsay’
of criminality rather than actual evidence.

Page 9 of 44

Page 49

•
•
•
•

•

•

Lack of safeguarding information and educational difficulties being forwarded
to a child’s new school.
Schools/ALPs offering pupils inappropriate amounts of offsite education due
to behavioural issues.
Some students can have to wait weeks to start at an ALP after being allocated
a place at the BIP.
Lack of graduated response and behavioural support evident at mainstream
school level leading to an over reliance on ALP to manage the city’s ‘hard to
place/reach’ young people. Information from schools needs to improve.
Evidence in the form of a young person at one ALP who has been moved
around 7 schools for ‘extreme’ behavioural incidents that all share the same
features indicative of past trauma. It is likely that undiagnosed and
unaddressed learning and mental health needs have led to numerous school
moves and a compounding of issues.
Obviously, due to the COVID pandemic and time constraints, it has not been
possible to hear the pupils or parent voice during this review.

4.11 Post-16 concerns
Lack of transition planning was highlighted for ALP pupils. Large numbers of young
people are going onto college with a wide range of ‘un-met’ needs, some with very
poor attendance. Young people who have come out of mainstream schools in their
final year/eighteen months, who had support from ALP and other professionals but
are then expected to cope in a college environment. Lack of good careers advice
and guidance results in many becoming NEET.

4.12 The Meriton (BHES)
Post -16 ESFA funding needs to move out of the budget line and management of
personnel transferred to the LA because this funding is targeted at students over 16.
There are 15 places at £10,000 and no individual programmes are taking place.
Mentoring and support to young parents is reported as positive, but this service is
not managed in the appropriate setting/department.

4.13 School Improvement
There is a lack of capacity to support and challenge schools around the area of
inclusion/exclusions. ALP Hub does this strategic work as well as all their other
duties. There is new SEND School Improvement post starting in January 2021 which
will be a positive move forward. However, it will be difficult for this post to also focus
on ALP and SEND but there is a need to consider or resource an ALP focus within
School Improvement. Lack of resources from LA means schools may not be as
‘inclusive’ as they need to be, Head of Learning City (School Partnerships),
acknowledged that schools need more support and challenge on exclusions and
management of behaviour.

Page 10 of 44

Page 50

4.14 Commissioning review 2016
The 2016 commissioning review of ‘Pushed out Learners’ did an extensive needs
analysis and made clear recommendations. It would be helpful to the LA to return to
the report to determine to what extent the actions have been carried out and
implemented successfully. It established the ALP Hub and reorganised some ALP,
but it appears that not all recommendations have been fully realised.

Page 11 of 44

Page 51

5 Recommendations
Overall Relationships Recommendation
1. A clear strategic joint SEND/ALP commissioning plan should be published.
2. Protocols regarding graduated respond from schools need to be drawn up.
3. Clear expectations and protocols between ALP hub and SEND teams need
to be agreed and clarified.

Data Recommendation
4. Migration onto the one system needs to be successfully completed as soon
as possible.
5. A common language is needed to ensure all data input is consistent.

Strategic Planning Recommendation
6. To ensure clear links between plans to reduce duplications and increase
opportunities to join work streams together.
7. The One City plan has been recently updated for 2020, the outcomes and
actions from this review need to directly link to service planning of ALP.
8. The Belonging Strategy is published.

Cost of ALP Recommendation
9. Cost centres and budget lines need to be agreed and match.
10. Officers are unable to meet budget expectations and controls, this needs to
be rectified.
11. SEND team do not commission individual bespoke ALP packages.
Procurement arrangements need to be agreed by Senior Officers of ALP
and SEND.

Finance Recommendation
12. Sufficiency plan of SEND placements is underway but a plan of how to
manage and fund the SEND pupils in ALP provision in the meantime needs
to be drawn up and agreed.
13. As a matter of urgency there is a need for a High Needs/Block placement
spending protocol/panel.
14. A system for joint monitoring, quality assurance and co-ordination of all
ALP placements with SEND needs to be established.
15. A review of pre EHCP funding is urgency needed as this is not a normal
part of the SEND code of practise.

Quality Assurance (QA) Recommendation
16. Consider appropriate resource to adequately embed the safeguarding
principles and QA process. A dedicated QA post (is being explored and the

Page 12 of 44

Page 52

management of that post reviewed). The appointment to this post would
allow an independent check on providers.
17. Clarify SLA expectations across all settings.
18. BCC should ensure that the resources are available to satisfy itself of the
financial and educational ongoing viability of providers.

Information sharing Recommendation
19. Establish a SEMH Pathway including common language for reporting and
recording.
20. Paperwork and graduated response from schools should be evidenced
prior to the BIP referral. Better evidence is needed of previous behaviour
and learning supports. (There is a separate review of the BIP taking place
which may address this issue)

Early Intervention Bases (EIB) and Support to schools
Recommendation
21. A review of early intervention to schools, support advice and challenge to
prevent exclusions and reliance on ALP.

SEND Recommendation
22. SEND Written statement of action (WSOA) and sufficiency plan completed.
23. Capital Investment Strategy completed.
24. Develop as a matter of urgency a protocol for SEND and ‘high cost’
placements with ALP Hub to enable appropriate placements.

Case Studies highlights Recommendation
Most of the issues have been address in other section recommendations
except for the following.
25. Clarify expected response timescales with ALP providers.
26. A deeper understanding of the ‘hard to reach’ and ‘hard to place’ pupils
would be helpful in tailoring better educational, social and mental health
support. Obtain the pupil and parent voice.
27. Clarify and strengthen graduated school response, insisting on
safeguarding information before placement agreements.

Post-16 concerns Recommendation
28. Improve careers advice and guidance, especially to the group of ‘hard to
reach’ young people going into college settings.

The Meriton (BHES) Recommendation
29. Move budget, staffing and responsibility into the LA.

Page 13 of 44

Page 53

School Improvement Recommendation
30. Consider how to appropriately support and challenge schools around the
areas of inclusion and exclusions.

Commissioning review 2016 Recommendation
31. Carry out a comprehensive needs analysis of ALP.

6 Description of ALP and general outcome findings
6.1 What is the alternative learning provision known as ALP?
It is education outside of school arranged by local authorities and schools for
children in KS1, 2, 3 or 4 who are permanently excluded, at risk of exclusion, or for
whom mainstream education is inappropriate. Alternative Learning Provision is for
Children and Young People of school age who are unable to attend mainstream or
special educational settings because of health, emotional or behavioural reasons. It
is something in which the pupil participates as part of their regular timetable away
from the site of the school and not led by school staff. Schools can use ALP to
prevent exclusions or to re-engage students in their education. Schools remain
responsible for the students while they remain on their roll.
It includes:
• Pupil referral units
• Hospital education
• Education for children in custody
• Schemes providing full-time or part-time alternative education outside of schools
• Preventative programmes working with individuals or groups of pupils to prevent
them from being excluded from school.

Pupil referral units (PRUs) – These are historically maintained by the local authority
but are now Academy Trusts. In Bristol all the PRUs are Multi Academy Trusts. They
were set up specifically for excluded children as well as those unable to attend
mainstream school because of their health needs. Since 2013 the management of
PRUs has been delegated from local authorities to PRU management committees
and more often now, Management Boards of Academy Trusts. However, the local
authority retains responsibility for promoting high standards and has intervention
powers to issue warning notices where there are concerns and to drive
improvement. Local authorities can no longer open new PRUs.
Alternative provision free schools – These are a relatively new type of school which
have academy status and are funded similarly to special schools. They receive direct

Page 14 of 44

Page 54

funding from central government, as well as top-up funding from the local authority
for each child placed by the local authority. The funding is given on a per-pupil basis
depending on their level of need. These schools may also charge a per-pupil fee to
other schools who arrange for their pupils to attend the free school.
Colleges of further education - These colleges normally cater for young people over
16 but they can also offer courses to pupil’s aged 14-16. These courses are usually
functional English and Maths as well as vocational courses and are part-time.
Independent alternative learning providers (IAPs) - These are independent projects,
which may be charities, limited companies or community interest companies. They
usually charge a per-pupil fee paid by the referring mainstream school, PRU or local
authority. The IAP may also supplement these fees with their own funds raised by
charitable donations, grants and other sources. When providing full-time education,
they should be registered with the DfE as independent schools and inspected by
Ofsted.

6.2 Local education landscape in Bristol
Bristol is a broadly affluent, ethnically and culturally diverse city with pockets of
significant poverty. It is useful, within an increasingly independent Education
landscape, to consider Bristol’s Statistical Neighbours rather than National or Core
Cities when looking at how Bristol is performing with and for its citizens. The Local
Authority has a strategic & partnership role as an influencer, rather than an executive
function in these endeavours. It is also useful to consider how services and
stakeholders can work with each other to improve outcomes. The issues that
education establishments face are highly complex, cumulative & impossible to
resolve in isolation. Many of these issues are driven by funding pressures as well as
the historic & perverse incentives of competition and data driven metrics for
successful schools.

6.3 Mainstream schools in Bristol
There are:
•
•

22 state-funded secondary schools, all of which have academy or independent
school status.
108 state-funded primary schools

Special schools
•

There are 9 special schools for students with special educational needs.
Places are determined by the local authority in consultation with parents and
are only for students with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP), except
for some assessment places.

Page 15 of 44

Page 55

Schools with SEMH Specialism
•

Knowle DGE SEMH Primary, secondary & post-16

•

Woodstock SEMH Primary

•

Bristol Gateway SEMH Secondary & post-16

•

Notton House (residential) SEMH Primary, secondary & Post 16

There is also the Capital Investment Strategy ongoing which is looking at placement
sufficiency.

6.4 Alternative Learning Provision – ALP/AP
There are six AP schools in Bristol as well as a number of part time alternative
learning providers. All ALP providers rated as ‘Good’ and have good outcomes
for most pupils.
•

Lansdown Park Academy – PRU Learn@ MAT

•

St Matthias Park Academy – PRU Learn@ MAT

•

LPW Independent School – Social Enterprise Trust

•

Bristol Futures Academy – Cabot Learning Federation

•

Snowdon Village City School – Cabot Learning Federation/Bristol Futures

•

Bristol Hospital Education Service

•

There is Catalogue of approved ALP called the PALS Catalogue which is
available online.

•

There are also a number of Resource Bases across the city for students with
additional needs. These are located in or next to mainstream schools, funded
by the local authority and are run by the host schools and/or one of the special
schools listed above.

•

Some smaller ALP providers have gone out of business within the last two
years. i.e. Hop, Skip & Jump.

•

At the time of the data capture there were 212 pupils in ALPs, and this is
reported as lower than normal for the time of year due to the COVID
pandemic. There are 290 places commissioned.

Page 16 of 44

Page 56

6.5 Cost of full-time (F/T) and part-time (P/T) provision
[Figure 1 Costs - Percentage of Total REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]

•

•

•

This information was taken from the data capture of June 2020. While there
may be some errors in the data it gives an indication of the estimate costs of
different types of provision in Bristol and shows the variety of placement costs.
A closer examination of the pupil outcomes would give a better idea of value
for money.
Information taken from another spreadsheet from the ALP Hub shows full-time
provision annual unit cost of Alternative Provision and block contracts vary per
place between £28,500 to £9,330. Only one student is showing at Bristol City
College, but further checking of the data shows there were a larger number of
Early college students at 15 hours/week - £5,184 to £3,750. Pupil referral units
average around £19,500, including top-up. One Provider, SEMH special
schools & resource bases, had approximate per place funding of £28,000 plus
top-up. Also the ALP Hub data shows a total ALP being closer to = £3,940,184
Cost of part-time provision and group activities/education range from £44 to
£240 per day. Also 1:1 activities and education costs anywhere from £25 to
£130 per session depending on the Provider.

[Figure 2 -Percentage of Children in ALP by Postcode REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]
[Figure 3 - Percentage of Children in ALP by Ethnicity REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]

6.6 Local ALP Provision
Partnership and local systems leadership in Bristol schools are organised into three
areas as set out in the map below.
Areas vary in need and levels of deprivation. However, the ALP doesn’t appear to
have always developed around the same local need. Providers report that their
provision has often grown where/when premises and funding has allowed. Needs
analysis would give a better idea of need but the 2016 commissioning review did
show some trends. The 2016 review identified the need of 270 places which was a
short fall of 120 places at that time. There are now 290 ALP places available. While
the data capture in June was only showing placement for 212 pupils, this was in the
middle of the COVID-19 pandemic and the two-month closure of the BIP. It is
unlikely that more places are needed but the types of placement may need revising.
There definitely appears to be an imbalance of provision across the City which
doesn’t match with identified deprivation indices, again this needs further
examination.
The 2016 commissioning review recommended the creation a unified pathway for
pupils with SEMH. This would make sure that each pupil is learning in the education
setting that best suits them, facilitating the right provision at the right time for each
child, without the need to permanently exclude. Unfortunately, the pathway appears

Page 17 of 44

Page 57

to have been only partially created and has not extinguished the need for permanent
exclusions. However, there has been a dramatic reduction in overall exclusions as a
direct result of the work from the ALP Hub.
The ALP hub undertakes the Quality Assurance role as well as the commissioning
role with providers. They do have input from the Head of Safeguarding in Education
but struggle with the capacity to cover all the duties of the Local Authority. The
providers must meet Crown Commercial service criteria and service-related criteria.
The service-related criteria include curriculum and programs offered, attendance,
pupil engagement, safeguarding and pupil outcomes. Certainly, when the
procurement process was established in 2016 it appears to have been
comprehensive. However, the capacity to adequately fulfil this LA function appears
to sit only in the ALP Hub. There is some ongoing work to establish a post within the
commissioning team.
Figure 4 Boundary Map

The new Ofsted School Inspection Framework recognises that the way in which
schools are measured affects what they are subsequently more inclined to do.
Measuring inclusivity, exclusions and scrutinising ‘Off Rolling’ activity is now firmly in
their scope. Under successive governments, schools have been given considerably
more autonomy with the aim of to creating a self-improving school system led by
networks of schools. Schools have been encouraged to form school partnerships to
lead local school improvement. The local “systems leadership” involves good and
outstanding schools supporting others to improve by developing local networks of

Page 18 of 44

Page 58

school to school support. The local authority has a role in facilitating this system and
championing vulnerable groups. This incorporates making sure that inclusion is at
the heart of a school-led system and encouraging schools to accept responsibility for
pupil needs; making sure that specialist education provision is managed and
supported collectively, and that all pupils access education appropriate to their
needs. It was not within the scope of this review to examine if these partnerships are
in place or having a positive impact on inclusion. The chair of the BIP reported
cooperation between schools and a monitoring of pupil placements via the BIP.
Alternative provision (AP) is loosely regulated, and information on pupil moves into
AP nationally and the reasons for these moves is often scarce. Improving the quality
of available alternative provision is difficult as a result of this. The best way of
measuring success in ALP is the child’s improvement from baseline and questioning
if the individual student is doing better in ALP than they were before they came into
it. ALP should not form all, or substantially all, of a child’s education unless made in
a DfE registered school. The survey of the 39 case studies shows a wide variety of
outcomes but it is unclear if specific measurable outcomes (other than the Ofsted
measures) for each student are put in place at the beginning of these placements. All
the Provider’s interviewed in Bristol are keen to develop appropriate support and
services but see BCC as the strategic leader of that planning. The size and the
scope of the Multi Academy Trusts vary greatly but they are all responding to market
forces to a lesser or greater extent.
Figure 5 ALP Places

School

Lansdown Park

Key

Places

Area

Comments: All basically

Stage

funded at £10,000 with

(s)

£9,330 top-up

2

21

3

30

3&4

65

South Bristol

Academy

Also provides outreach
services for South
Primaries

(PRU) Learn@MAT

St Matthias
Academy

20 North
(KS3)

(PRU)
45
East/Central

Learn@MAT

Learning

KS4

60

South Bristol

KS3, only in North Bristol

Mixed KS3&4 in
East/Central

Offer across the City but

Partnership West

travel an issue from the

Independent

North

School
Bristol Futures

Page 19 of 44

KS4

50

South Bristol

Page 59

Offer across the City but

Academy (CLF)

travel an issue from the
North

Snowdon Village

KS4

50

City School (CLF)

East/Central

Offer across the City but

& South

travel an issue from the
North

CLF Nest

KS

15

East/Central

1&2

Offer across the City but
travel an issue from the
North

Bristol Hospital

All KS

Duel roll

City wide

Education Service

and open

(PRU)

numbers

1:1 Home tuition, Classes
at the North site,

School site in

Riverside (CAMHS) and

the North

tuition in Children’s
hospital.
Support to Young
Parents (The Meriton)

Total number of places commissioned = 291 + BHES numbers approx. 500 (250
in-patients and 250 programmes)

6.7 Analysis of Provision
Most of the Alternative Learning Provision (ALP) places are for 14-16-year olds and
are at Key Stage 4, in total 160 places. There are some revolving door PRU places
for 11 – 13-year olds, North, South and East Central, 70 places. However, a high
proportion of places are long term students and have a high percentage of pupils
with EHCPs or in the process of being assessed for EHCPs, approximately 70%.
Exact figures are difficult to obtain, the LA information differs from that held by
providers.
While it is not philosophically good to encourage schools to have primary aged
students out of mainstream, there are a small number of students who need this
support. There are very few primary age full time ALP places for key stage 1 and 2, 5
to 10-year olds, 14 in total and only in one location. Travel for this age group is a
challenge and again the 14 places are mainly taken by students with EHCPs
awaiting school placement of those undergoing assessment for EHCP.
There is an increasing focus on Early Intervention Outreach Support to Primary
Schools from the 3 area early Intervention Bases - North Star Outreach, CLF Nest
and Lansdown Park. They are intensifying their advice and guidance to schools, but
this is depending on how many students are in full time places within Lansdown and
the Nest. North Star does not support students on-site full time but are using the
financial resources to support part-time programmes and in-school support. It is not

Page 20 of 44

Page 60

clear if this provision is based on an area needs assessment or has just grown adhoc. It has developed over time and appears to be supporting children well with
positive outcomes.
There is anything up to 500 children accessing BHES service at any one time.
Approximately 250 in hospital and 250 spread either, on 1:1 at home, part time
programmes and at the Riverside base. All referrals come via health professions and
are rarely part of the BIP process.
There is demand on the High Needs SEND block funding of pre-EHCP funding.
Schools can apply for to the LA before full statutory assessment which is a support
that is both unusual and unmonitored.

6.8 Use of ALP
DfE benchmarks show that Bristol is a very high user of ALP against National
trends. The increasing pressure on places are blocked to a great extent by SEND
children in placements ‘long-term’. These are mainly the students with EHCPs
awaiting school placement of undergoing assessment for EHCP. The schools
commission part time ALP as well as the Local Authority commissioning of part time
ALP. Schools are also commissioning directly with ALP providers with no
involvement from the Local Authority. How much direct use of ALP schools are using
isn’t captured and cost is also unknown. Equally, BCC does not have visibility of
Academy ALP spend and so cannot know the full market demand. Schools have
access to a Provider Catalogue (PAL) produced by BCC. The main ALP settings are
included in the twenty-nine providers within the catalogue. BCC quality assure all
providers on the list but schools can and will make their own arrangements,
especially for part time learning. BCC gives each provider in the catalogue an overall
quality score of satisfactory, good or excellent, but these scores are not shown within
the catalogue. PALs sets out what the provider can offer to which students and the
costs of provision. It is a helpful tool for schools to have some assured settings to
support alternative learning. To what extent schools are using the catalogue is
anecdotal and how much money is being spent is, as stated, unknown.

6.9 Exclusions
There are two types of exclusions: fixed term exclusions (FTE) and permanent
exclusions (PEX). All exclusions are issued on disciplinary grounds – School
Behaviour/Exclusions Policy. A fixed term exclusion excludes the pupil from the
premises temporarily. Permanent exclusions are where a Headteacher decides to
exclude permanently, either in response to serious or persistent breaches of the
school's behaviour policy; or where allowing the pupil to remain in school would
seriously harm the education or welfare of the pupil or others in the school.

Page 21 of 44

Page 61

Bristol’s FTE in the past have been relatively high, the picture is steadily improving
but not for all groups. While there are very few PEX from Bristol Schools with more
permanent exclusions of Bristol resident children from schools in other local
authorities, there has been a recent rise. Boys feature highly in the numbers, as do
children from financially deprived areas, children with SEND and Children and Young
People from BAME communities are overrepresented in Bristol’s school exclusions.
This is highlighted in the heat map below which shows the correlation between social
deprivation areas and exclusions. West Brislington is an exception, which may
indicate a more inclusive practise in this area or better use of appropriate support
services. This is worthy of closer investigations and a sharing of good practice. The
increase use of ALP may be in part related directly to the reduction in exclusions
over the last couple of years. BAME communities were not found to be proportionally
over represented within ALP.

The majority of FTEs are not unsurprisingly from secondary schools. Most Bristol
secondary schools work with ‘Ready to Learn’ or similar ‘Behaviour for Learning’ as
a standard Behaviour Policy. Whilst there appears to be an evidence base that says
‘Ready to Learn’ is an effective whole school behaviour approach and some schools
have described it in positive terms as ‘transformational’, it does generate high
numbers of FTE (at least initially). Whilst some might consider ‘Ready to Learn’ as a
zero-tolerance or no excuses policy its supporters say it does allow for flexibility with
some (cohorts of) children. In line with expectation and statutory requirements
stating that schools have to take into account disability (discrimination) and equalities
factors. Looking at the characteristics of both FTE and PEX pupils this does not
always seem to be the case. Some schools are taking a more trauma informed, or
relationship based, approach encouraged by the LA. The negative and cumulative
life experiences, often driven by trauma (ACEs) and in many cases compounded by
unassessed and unmet additional learning, social, communication & mental health
needs (special educational needs and disabilities or SEND) cannot always be
ameliorated by a year or two in AP. Children have often had multiple exclusions,
managed moves, poor attendance and limited engagement in learning, extra familial
harm, abuse, criminal exploitation and youth violence. There has been some
sharing good practice and the LA intends to step this up with advice & guidance via
the Belonging in Education Strategy.

Page 22 of 44

Page 62

Exclusion data below shows the coloration between deprivation and
exclusions – see Appendix 3 - Bristol Exclusions data for further data.

Figure 6 Indices of Deprivation

Page 23 of 44

Page 63

Figure 7 Fixed Term Exclusions

6.10 Fair Access Protocols & Bristol Inclusion Panel
All local authorities must have a Fair Access Protocol, agreed with the majority of
schools in its area, which aims to ensure that children who have not been able to
secure a school place during the school year are offered a place at a suitable school
as quickly as possible. It must also ensure that no school, including those with
available places, is asked to take a disproportionate number of children who have
been excluded from other schools, or who have challenging behaviour.

Page 24 of 44

Page 64

Bristol has a Primary Fair Access Protocol in place for pupils of Reception age
through to Year 6 and a Secondary Fair Access Protocol in place for students in
Years 7 to Year 11. Bristol’s Secondary Fair Access Panel meets every two weeks to
find places for children missing education (CME). The Panel is called Bristol
Inclusion Panel (BIP) this panel also seeks to find and manage alternatives to PEX.
All 22 secondary schools and 5 ALP schools attend, along with other agencies.
Students coming to Panel are at risk of permanent exclusion. Students may be
found a new mainstream school place, be offered a place for 12 weeks at a PRU, or
(for older students in KS4) be offered a place at an ALP school. There is an ongoing
and separate safeguarding review of the BIP taking place which is looking into this
process in more detail.
Children with EHCPs do not come to Fair Access or Behaviour Inclusion Panels
(BIP), though a number of students referred to the panel may have an ongoing
SEND assessment.

6.11 Case Studies
As part of the review a deep dive of 39 case studies was undertaken regarding
students accessing or who have accessed ALP. Survey proformas were sent to each
setting and cases were identified by using a cross section of age, gender, ethnicity
and post code. There were many examples of good case work reflecting pupil’s
attendance and attainment improving. All Providers showed they are committed to
the pupils in their care and are passionate about improving their life chances. While
some pupils make expected progress, other were coming from a very low starting
point. i.e. one student identified in year 10 by the ALP provider’s SENCO as having
been missing from education since year 6 for a variety of reasons.
Settings reported a lack of graduated response and behavioural support in some
mainstream schools, which then can lead to an inappropriate placement. There are
pupils moving schools via ‘managed moves’ or ‘negotiated transfers’, those without
support stand less chance of success at a new setting. Undiagnosed educational
needs, especially speech and language problems, were all given as reasons for poor
outcomes.
There were high numbers of long-term placements rather than revolving door
support in the cohort. One Provider did say it had data on better outcomes of
revolving door cases than the case studies picked for that setting. However, there
were high numbers of pupils who have been moved around the system a number of
times to different settings.
When looking at the cases where outcomes were not so positive, a lack of
sufficiency for ‘hard to reach’ and ‘hard to place’ children and young people was
given as the main reason. In both SEND (EHCP) pupils and late arrivals in key stage
4 pupils the outcomes are the least positive. Children fitting settings rather than
settings fitting children. [SENTENCE REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY
IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION] There are a large number of pupils at key stage 4
being offered high amounts of offsite education due to behavioural issues. Bespoke

Page 25 of 44

Page 65

packages are arranged in these circumstances and other agencies appear to be
involved with these young people. ALP providers are quality assuring these
arrangements but it’s unclear if the bespoken package providers are in the PAT
Catalogue. There were 58% of case study pupils who had EHCPs or were in the
process of obtaining an EHCP.
On the other end of the spectrum the surveys also reported some schools being too
risk averse and refusing pupils a place based on ‘hearsay’ of criminality rather than
actual evidence. Some schools looking for an ALP place before more than one
mainstream school has been attempted occurred in a small number of cases. Some
cases were found where safeguarding information and educational difficulties were
not being forwarded to a child’s new school. Also, there were some reports from
professionals that students can wait weeks to start at an ALP after being allocated a
place at the BIP. However, it has not been possible to include the pupil voice or hear
the views of parents during this review.

7 REVIEW OF THE MERITON WITHIN Bristol Hospital
Education Service (BHES)
7.1 The Meriton
Prior to 2017, The Meriton was a registered PRU which supported young women
between the ages of 13-19 to gain an education other than at school. Alongside the
educational courses offered, the Meriton provided advice and guidance with housing,
benefits, job and college applications. It had teaching and support staff as well as
learning mentors, sexual health support and advice, links with health and social care
and a 0-3yrs nursery provision on site. The Meriton was transferred under the
management of the BHES provision and re-organized in 2017 due to falling number
on roll. The service review plan was drawn up as the consequence of significant
changes in the needs of school students in Bristol. Specifically, the significant
reduction in pre16 young parents due to the pregnancy prevention strategies
implemented in schools, increased inclusive practice by education providers and
also budgetary constraints due to changes in funding streams available to meet the
costs of providing the service to post 16 students at The Meriton. All of these factors
led to the review of the service provision and staffing structure. As a consequence,
The Meriton was de-registered as a PRU and staff redeployed. The plan agreed in
2017 left an allocation of 1.6fte learning mentors with 0.2 management within the
BHES.
The rate of teenage conceptions in Bristol per 1,000 females aged 15-17 years has
shown a steep decline since 2007. In 2017, the Bristol rate was 14.8 conceptions per
1,000 girls aged 15-17, statistically similar to the England average of 17.8 per 1,000.
In terms of absolute numbers, teenage conceptions (to under 18s) in Bristol fell from
360 in 2007 to 94 in 2017. Conceptions in young women under 16 have also fallen

Page 26 of 44

Page 66

markedly during the last 10 years; the rate of teenage conceptions per 1,000 females
aged 13-15 years old was 1.6 per 1,000 in 2017, similar to the England average of
2.7 per 1,000. There were 10 conceptions within this age group in Bristol in 2017,
compared to 73 in 2009. Around half of teenage conceptions in Bristol end in an
abortion, and of the 94 conceptions in Bristol in 2017, 51 led to a birth, compared to
206 in 2007.
The present service is mainly a post-16 support service, with a different funding
stream coming from ESFA. It does not appear to be appropriately aligned with the
remit of the BHES. The work links more directly to that of Children’s Centres and
community services. It is not an ALP provider service and while the Head of BHES
has efficiently managed the service to the best delivery, this is a situation that needs
to be resolved. In last year’s budget it amounted to £150K in high needs block
funding coming directly from the ESFA. The funding is for colleges, Higher Education
Institutions, training organisations, Local Authorities and employers to deliver
education and training for young people aged 16-19. While the individual mentoring
staff may be making good connections with the Bristol young parents, (the reviewer
did not examine their work specifically), it is recommended that they need an official
route to link their services into Post-16 advice and guidance services.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/921382/ESFA_Funded_Adult_Education_Budget_Funding_Rates_an
d_Formula_2020_to_2021_V3.pdf

8 Other help for children and families in Bristol
•

During 2012-2014, the local authority and partners introduced a series of
changes to services for children and young people in Bristol. These changes
included the following new ways of working:

8.1 First Response
•

A single place for people to call if they are concerned about a child or young
person, or think they need some help. It aims to provide preventative services
to help families early and brings together specialist teams in a joined-up
approach to protect vulnerable young people and support parents. First
Response may give advice about services available or make referrals to an
area-based Early Help Team or to a social work team.

8.2 Citywide area-based ‘Early Help’ services
•

To get the right help to children sooner. There are three area-based Early
Help Teams who coordinate requests for help referred from First Response
and support those children and families who don’t need a social worker, but
still require some help.

Page 27 of 44

Page 67

8.3 Safer Options
•

Integrated 0-25 service for disabled and SEN children and young people
including council and health staff. The council is a top-performing local
authority in the Government’s Troubled Families programme. Key workers
spend up to six hours a week with families to tackle issues such as youth
crime, employability and anti-social behaviour. The programme has
contributed to reducing police call outs, domestic abuse and school
exclusions. These changes to services have reflected national research and
best practice using early support principles. They identify each service or
provision within a level spectrum known as universal, targeted or specialist.
Children and families can require support in just one area at one time, they
can need support in more than one area and they can need support to
prevent them moving into the next level .The focus is always on early
intervention and prevention in order to reduce the need for specialist services
or provision. Access to support is through assessment and the local authority
threshold document shows how children and families’ needs are assessed
and supported. There are also three area-based Education Inclusion
Managers based in FiF teams, working with schools and other professionals
are mentioned below.

Following the ALP commissioning review in 2016 and other organisational changes,
the following services have also been created:

8.4 ALP Hub team •

•

The ALP Hub. The small team of five Officers (inclusive of one part-time
administrative post) deal with all the City schools and the young people who
are residents. They carry out the Local Authority functions and statutory
responsibilities for children in Alternative Learning Provision, School
Exclusions (fixed-term and permanent) & Fair Access Protocols & Process for
potentially complex mid-year admissions of vulnerable children. All 3 areas of
responsibility are connected with numerous stakeholders & partners. The
ALP Hub is a relatively small but outward facing team with a wide and
complex brief. The team has made a positive impact in reducing exclusions
across the city.
Under the Safer Options umbrella three new posts of Education Inclusion
Managers have been created in the last eighteen months to build a bridge
between schools and other services addressing the issues of knife crime and
gang violence. These posts have been in place for just over a year but are
showing some promising impacts.

8.5 A City Belonging in Education Strategy

Page 28 of 44

Page 68

•

The Local Authority is working with Bristol City Schools to adopt an ACE
aware/ trauma informed approach to inclusion, supporting individuals on a
relationship-based approach to behaviour support. This is an ongoing
development and has been held up to some degree by the COVID pandemic.
See Appendix 4– Education and Skills Structural Chart and other
interventions for other interventions

8.6 Role of local authority and the development of ALP
The role of the local authority has changed significantly in recent years as schools
have become more autonomous. The local authority’s core role in the new education
landscape is to be:
• a champion for children, especially the more vulnerable
• a commissioner of places
• accountable for performance
• a system leader for learning partnerships.
(See Appendix 2 - Legal and policy context)
There are several risks to the further expansion of Alternative Provision (AP),
including increasing perverse incentives for schools. Expansion may encourage
schools to move more pupils into AP, when it may not necessarily be in a pupil’s best
interests. Such a policy could easily undermine existing SEND support in
mainstream schools and reduce the inclusion of vulnerable children.
The high court cases challenging the government’s funding of special needs and DfE
has since committed to review both funding and the overall system for SEND and the
‘high needs block’ is an obvious focus for policy change. This is the allocation
mechanism through which funding for local authority SEND services, special
schools, alternative provision, and top-up funding for schools educating children with
greater needs, flows. There are increasing pressures on high needs funding which
arise from a number sources. The relevant source to Bristol is the rising SEND
pressure which is driven by a combination of:
•
•
•

Increasing numbers Education Health and Care Plans, (EHCPs) particularly
those children with SEMH
Complex needs and those with autism
The extension of SEND services to the age of 25 years

Linked to and exacerbating rising need is the tendency of funding and accountability
pressures in mainstream schools, which those schools say are making it more
difficult for them to provide adequate SEND support. Even though numbers of
permanent exclusions remain relatively low in the Bristol City the national picture is
of rising numbers of permanent exclusions increasing the pressure on specialist

Page 29 of 44

Page 69

places, and increases in home schooling or missing education where specialist
provision demand cannot be met. The movement of students out of schools via the
BIP also masks the numbers of PEX but the experience for the students is often the
same. Another source of pressure is the inability of the current high needs allocation
formulae to deliver funding that is reasonably consistent from one local authority to
another and also flexible in the face of changing needs profiles.
The first point to note is that for alternative provision, no objective basis for
determining the “right” number of places has been proposed. By contrast, there is a
clear – albeit imperfect – regulated process that controls the flow of children into
special schools. And it has been clear for some time that special school places are in
shortage. The number of children with SEND who are out of school has at least
doubled since 2010, to approximately seven-and-a-half thousand nationally, counting
those either awaiting a suitable place or for whom the LA or their parents have made
educational arrangements other than a school.
These numbers exclude older children and young people newly eligible for SEND
support since 2014 from the latest figures for the purposes of making a reasonable
comparison over time, but a similar number of young people over age sixteen are
either awaiting a place or not in education, employment or training (NEET).
The regulation of entry to special schools through the SEND Code of Practice
performs an important function that is missing from alternative provision, by
regulating the demand for places such that children’s best educational interests must
be considered before removing them from mainstream school. By contrast, school
exclusions have very weak regulation with the decision vested almost entirely in the
hands of the head teacher, who by definition is an interested party, and faces
incentives other than the interest of the individual child concerned. As described
above, the regulation of school exclusions does not adequately protect children with
SEND as a matter of law. Where schools are strongly encouraged not to exclude
SEND pupils (with or without EHCPs) there is nothing stopping them from doing so.
Often schools may exclude out of frustration when they feel that the Local Authority
is not moving forward on a more appropriate placement for the child. The question is
does Bristol have a vision for using the present ALP available effectively?
Benefits might be found should BCC develop and communicate a vision with schools
for using the present ALP effectively, positioning ALP to support inclusion and
schools appropriately and ensuring good systems of quality assurance and
accountability.

8.7 Managed moves
Behaviour Inclusion Panels (BIP) were established to oversee the process of
Manage moves, reduce permanent exclusions and provide alternatives to
Page 30 of 44

Page 70

exclusions. It is also important to note that many children enter alternative provision
without having been officially excluded, via a process which varies locally, but is
known generically as ‘managed moves’. The Bristol BIP fulfils these functions
accessing revolving door placements in PRUs and manages places into AP schools.
It enables joint funding of placements, as well as providing oversight and
management of the process. It provides the monitoring of school practise and should
advocate in the best interests of the pupils. The LA should take a stance on
Managed Moves and Negotiated Transfers as part of a strategy on inclusion. The
decision to move a child into ALP via managed move is even less transparent
nationally than official exclusion as it is only recorded locally, and is unlikely to face
any effective challenge from parents because it purports to have taken place with
their consent. It’s important to note that the parents waive their right to the exclusion
appeal system by agreeing to the referral to the Panel (BIP). It is also worth noting
that some managed move are monitored via the BIP and others are negotiated
moves between schools which do not involve the LA. There are clear records of the
former but no capacity or means the monitor the latter.
The line between a managed move by parental consent and an illegal exclusion by
coercion is difficult to distinguish due to a paucity of case law. The net result is that
we are in the dark about the volume and appropriateness of managed moves,
including those into AP. Partial data systems and incomplete regulation mean that
complete information on this cannot be extracted from administrative data.
It is reported anecdotally nationally that on occasions parents are allegedly coerced
with the threat of permanent exclusion if they did not sign a managed move
agreement, but nobody knows how common this is precisely because it is likely to be
illegal but is not effectively regulated. The success of these moves is caged by the
stability of the new placement and if the pupil does not reappear within the system.
Fundamentally the BIP route into ALP is a choice. Also, anecdotally ALP providers,
along with schools in Bristol, report that pupils are less traumatised and more
positive about transferring to AP via the BIP than going through a permanent
exclusion route.

8.8 Different models of provision
The current system includes routes into two kinds of specialist education provision,
one more tightly regulated than the other, but each often providing for children with
similar underlying needs. The SEND and special school route provide a place until
age eighteen and, at least in theory, support until age twenty-five. The alternative
provision without EHCP route can result in loss of support after age sixteen and
difficulty continuing in education. This is a simplification: there are children with
EHCPs without places or placed in ALP, and some children in ALP do transition to
further education. But it is a reasonable simplification of what is typical in a complex
system. In addition to these two main forms of specialist school provision, a third
option exists for pupils with SEND and/or behaviour difficulties: mainstream
schooling with additional support and reasonable adjustments.

Page 31 of 44

Page 71

The weaknesses in the regulation of exclusions and managed moves that currently
allow increasing numbers of children to slip out of mainstream schooling fail to reflect
the reality that unmet special needs are an extremely common underlying
cause for challenging behaviour.
To recap, in the absence of a major policy shift, mainstream schooling is supposed
to be the default unless a child’s needs and best interests are more effectively met in
a specialist placement. In terms of regulatory safeguards and transparency, special
school provision has advantages over alternative provision, but they are often used
interchangeably for educationally vulnerable groups of children. The cost of one
being higher than the cost of the other.
Bristol schools face incentives to demand ever more places in AP as a release valve
for pressures in school funding and increased attainment expectations and
accountability. There is no regulation to act as an effective brake on this demand,
unlike for special schools. If alternative provision is expanded significantly, there will
be little incentive for schools to improve the support for the inclusion of children with
SEND.

9 The Way Forward
A little-known feature of the high needs funding formula is that when new special
schools are approved, corresponding extra place funding is channelled to the local
authority in question – it is not ‘out of pocket’. However, the same is not true of new
alternative provision. Free school AP places are direct funded by central government
without recourse to the LA for the first two years, but after that £5,833 per place is
deducted from the LA high needs budget. This is one reason why LAs have had a
say in new provision, over time it drains their budget, and those funds are then not
available for providing top-up funding and other support for mainstream schools.
With less support available in mainstream, the more AP you have, the more you are
likely to need.
High needs funding sits with local authorities, and is not devolved to schools, as
previously envisaged. This means that schools do not have to budget for it when
moving pupils into AP, which would constrain them to limit their demand. They only
have to convince the local fair access panel that the child is at risk of exclusion and if
a school says a child is at risk of exclusion, then by definition they are, whatever the
accuracy of that assessment.
These conflicts of interest become even worse if one considers, hypothetically, a
multi-academy trust (MAT). Under the new policy, that MAT can bid to open new
alternative provision under the free schools’ programme. The local authority wouldn’t
be able to block this even though they will be paying towards it from their high needs
budget. There is no regulation that restricts children from being moved
inappropriately from mainstream schools into this provision. When those children are
moved to AP, they no longer count in the school performance tables for that MAT
and they are then funded at a higher rate than they were previously, with no checks
or balances. It is imperative that BCC works alongside the local provider’s to ensure
Page 32 of 44

Page 72

appropriate provision and all the providers interviewed are very keen for this
collaboration to take place. Implementation of this review’s recommendations will go
some way to ensuring value for money and fair access to ALP.
Bristol needs to keep its eyes firmly fixed on the best interests of the children
concerned when planning provision and shaping policies to tackle these issues. The
children this concerns are somebody’s children and there needs to be a real
commitment not to marginalised children with SEMH further. Obviously, it’s been a
challenging time to carry out this review due to the pandemic but as one Bristol
Officer remarked ‘inclusion can’t wait’. It was a shame that the voices of children and
parents weren’t able to be captured more widely via this review but some second
hand feedback via providers was heard. There is evidence that pupils in ALP are
making good progress and have been appropriately supported during this
challenging time. What Bristol needs now is not only ‘innovators and trailblazers’,
though these are welcome if they support inclusion, they need the careful
development of policy and provision based on empirical evidence.

Finally, apart from the recommendation challenges in section 5 of this report, the
reviewer found a great deal of good practise across the city and a real capacity for
improvement and change. Grateful thanks to all those who participated.

Page 33 of 44

Page 73

10 Appendix 1 – Data supporting case study highlights
Figure 8 Reasons for Referral to ALP

Count

Percentage
of total

1

1%

CME

7

10%

FAP - CME
Graduated
Response
Graduated
response - SEND
without EHCP

1

1%

2

3%

2

3%

5

7%

PEXED

11

16%

previous exclusion
or risk of exclusion

17

25%

17

25%

1

1%

SEND with EHCP

2

3%

SEND without EHCP

2

3%

Reason for referral
12-week BFA
revolving door as
part of Graduated
response

ill health (including
mental health

Risk of PEX
risk to the
community

Figure 9 Percentage SEND in Case Studies

Percentage by EHCP Progress

42%

45%

EHCP
status

Count

Percentage

None

29

43%

In Progress
EHCP

8
31

12%
46%

13%

None

In Progress

EHCP

[Figure 10 Ethnicity in ALP REMOVED DUE TO PERSONALLY IDENTIFIABLE INFORMATION]

Page 34 of 44

Page 74

11 Appendix 2 - Legal and policy context
11.1 Legal framework
Local authorities’ general duties
• Duty to secure sufficient education in the area (s.14-15B Education Act 1996)
• Duty to promote high standards in education (s.13A Education Act 1996)
• Duty to cooperate to promote children’s well-being and protect children from harm
and neglect (s.10 Children Act 2010) (‘safeguarding duty’)
• Duty to promote participation of 16-17-year olds in education and training (s.10
Education and Skills Act 2008)

11.2 Safeguarding duties
The Government has defined safeguarding as the process of protecting children
from abuse or neglect, preventing impairment of their health and development, and
ensuring they are growing up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe
and effective care that enables children to have optimum life chances and enter
adulthood successfully.

11.3 Children Act 2004
• Section 10 requires each local authority to make arrangements to promote
cooperation between the authority, each of the authority’s relevant partners and such
other persons or bodies who exercise functions or are engaged in activities in
relation to children in the local authority’s area as the authority considers
appropriate. The arrangements are to be made with a view to improving the wellbeing of children in the authority’s area – which includes protection from harm and
neglect alongside other outcomes.
• Section 11 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals (including
local authorities, schools and contracted service providers) to make arrangements
for ensuring that their functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are

Page 35 of 44

Page 75

discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
Education Acts
• Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities in relation
to their education functions; and on the governing bodies of maintained schools and
the governing bodies of further education institutions (which include sixth-form
colleges) in relation to their functions relating to the conduct of the school or the
institution to make arrangements for ensuring that such functions are exercised with
a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children.
• Similar duties apply to proprietors of independent schools (which include
academies/free schools) and non-maintained schools.
The March 2015 Working Together to Safeguard Children guidance is published
here:
• The Children Act 1989 places a duty on local authorities to promote and safeguard
the welfare of children in need in their area.

11.4 Local authority duties owed to excluded pupils
Local authorities are responsible for arranging suitable full-time education for
permanently excluded pupils, and for other pupils who
– because of illness or other reasons
– would not receive suitable education without such provision
This applies to all children of compulsory school age resident in the local authority
area, whether or not they are on the roll of a school, and whatever type of school
they attend. When a child receives a fixed-term exclusion of more than five days or a
permanent exclusion, the school (in the case of a fixed-term exclusion) and the local
authority (in the case of a permanent exclusion) must provide alternative education
for the child from the sixth day.

11.5 Alternative Provision Statutory Guidance
- Statutory guidance for local authorities 2016

Page 36 of 44

Page 76

This detailed guidance sets out the government’s expectations of local authorities
and maintained schools. It should also be used as a guide to good practice for
academies and alternative learning providers. The guidance emphasises that all
pupils must receive a good education, regardless of their circumstances and sets out
some common features of good alternative provision:
• Supports academic attainment (especially Maths, English and Science)
• Meets specific personal, social and academic needs of each pupil
• Improves pupil motivation, self-confidence, attendance and engagement
• Has clearly defined objectives, including next steps and re-integration
• Has arrangements for working with other relevant services It also outlines that
commissioners should:
• Clearly define the objectives of alternative provision placements and agree them
with the provider and parents
• Regularly review pupil progress and maintain contact with both the pupil and
provider
• Share all relevant information with providers
• Make sure the alternative provision they use is of good quality
• Where alternative provision is part-time, make sure it complements current
curriculum and timetable
• Where a pupil returns to school from alternative provision, get a report from the
provider and use it to plan re-integration
• Where a pupil does not return to school, collect information about their destination
Unless the pupil’s health means that full-time education would not be in his or her
best interests 6 Section 19(1) of the Education Act 1996, as amended by section 3 of
the Children, Schools and Families Act 2010 7 Section 100 of the Education and
Inspections Act 2006

Page 37 of 44

Page 77

12 Appendix 3 - Bristol Exclusions data
Figure 11 Updated Bristol Exclusions info from the DfE release for School Year 2018-19

EXCLUSIONS* RANKING of 152 LAs – Statistical Neighbours
LA Name
Portsmouth **

201112
147

201213
140

201314
132

201415
134

201516
140

201617
133

201718
143

201819
143

Bristol

102

126

138

137

141

142

139

128

Bournemouth

131

136

137

120

134

136

136

140

Plymouth
Sheffield

25
112

23
135

28
143

53
138

78
143

71
140

126
125

136
133

Coventry

65

71

66

58

86

110

104

76

Brighton and Hove

145

148

98

68

114

111

96

70

Derby

91

94

119

108

120

99

91

120

Reading

64

108

93

22

73

106

86

48

Southampton

149

149

128

94

94

77

63

71

Leeds

115

99

105

122

124

128

56

85

*overall fixed term exclusions (FTE) only from all school types primary, secondary and special This does not include permanent
exclusions (PEX) **For the purpose of comparison Portsmouth data is included but cannot taken into account. The number of
FTEs in Special school is assumed to be as a result of some atypical action or event.
Figure 12 Fixed Term Exclusion Rate
Figure 13 One or more fixed-term exclusions rate

Page 38 of 44

Page 78

Figure 14 Permanent Exclusions - Bristol

Figure 15 Permanent Exclusions - Bristol, Core Cities, National & Statistical Neighbours

The overall number of
fixed term exclusions
(FTE) has decreased
from 2017-18.

(1) The number of
fixed-term exclusions
expressed as a
percentage of the
number of pupils on
roll.
(2) The number of
pupils with at least
one fixed-term
exclusions, expressed
as a percentage of the
number of pupils on
roll.
(1) and (2) differ from
each other because (2)
may include pupils
with more than one
FTE

Page 39 of 44

Page 79

Numbers of Permanent Exclusions (PEX) from Bristol Schools are low for all school types and phases
compared to Core Cities, National & Statistical Neighbours. Secondary PEX is very low. Primary PEX
has reduced since 2017-18.
Figure 16 Bristol Exclusions & Ethnicity

There was a significant increase in the number of FTEs for Black African and Gypsy Roma children in
2018/19. Also, an increasing 3-year trend in the number of FTEs for Mixed-White/Caribbean & Mixed
Other and children not assigned a classification. The overall numbers of FTEs were significantly reduced
from 2017/18, particularly for the largest group - White British.

Page 40 of 44

Page 80

Figure 17 Number of Permanent Exclusions in total schools

The number of PEX for children in all categories has decreased year on year since 2016 and remains
relatively low. It is possible to assert that the % of the small number of children who were PEX and not
White/British is disproportionately high.

Page 41 of 44

Page 81

13 Appendix 4– Education and Skills Structural Chart and other
interventions

•

•

•

•

Universal Interventions • Behaviour for learning • Schools behaviour policy
and behaviour management framework and Guidance on Bristol’s thresholds
has been published. There is Provision Guidance being developed but the
delivery of this has been affected by COVID.
Early Help referral through First Response triage • Pastoral Support Plan •
SEN Support (formerly School Action / School Action Plus) • THRIVE
intervention (THRIVE schools) • Boxall Profiling, leading to Nurture Group
intervention (Nurture Group Network schools) • One-to-one learning support •
Speech and language referral / intervention Individual pupil THRIVE
assessment* (THRIVE schools) (*A universal offer within specific schools
Targeted support in mainstream and special schools)
Mindfulness
programme* (where programme runs) • Nurture group network schools* •
Inclusion Services – Systemic advice from Learning Improvement Service,
Education psychology referral / intervention • Outside engagement worker
referral (e.g. Youth Moves / Breakthrough mentoring) / intervention • Autistic
Spectrum Disorder Outreach team referral / intervention • School learning
mentor / behaviour manager referral, or referral to school attendance / family
liaison worker (where available) • Counselling (internal where available, and
external through Early Help) • Referral to part-time or sessional alternative
learning programme (mostly used in secondary Educational Psychology is a
buy back service and varies across the City.
SEND Services, HOPE Virtual School (CiC), Education Welfare Service,
Educational Psychology Service, Safeguarding in Education Team, Gypsy
Roma Traveller Service, Bristol Autism Team (Education & Family Hubs),
School Partnerships, School Improvement, Alternative Learning Providers,
Hospital Education Service, Early Years, Post 16 Education Providers, Place
Planning, Data and Assessment, Governor Services, Adult and Community
Learning, Young Careers and Pathways, Families in Focus, Safer Options
Team, Social Care, Disabled Children’s Service, Supportive Parents, Finance,
Children’s Commissioning Team, Procurement, ICT, EYES, SEND &
Education Transformation, Primary Mental Health Care and CAMHS, Health
Commissioning, Police and Youth Justice/Youth Offending Team, Voluntary
Sector Services, Private Sector Education Specialists, Other Local Authorities
and other Local Authority Schools, Bristol Admissions, Targeted Youth
Services… along with new providers & professional services as they come
along.

Page 42 of 44

Page 82

14 Appendix 5 - References
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/41959
5/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children.pdf see also statutory guidance for
local authorities on Schools causing concern (DfE January 2015)

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/43404
7/Schools_Causing_Concern_Jan2015_FINAL_24Mar.pdf 12 Children Act 1989
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision
Local policy - Bristol City Council Corporate Plan 2014-2017
Bristol Schools Forum papers –
ALP Review 2016
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/921382/ESFA_Funded_Adult_Education_Budget_Funding_Rates_an
d_Formula_2020_to_2021_V3.pdf
Have we reached a ‘tipping point’? Trends in spending for children and young people
with SEND in England. Natalie Parish, Ben Bryant & Beth Swords. Isos Partnership
July 2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/statistics-exclusions July 2020
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/752540/2019_Alternative_Provision_Census_Guide_v1.2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/statements-of-sen-and-ehc-plans-england2019
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ccoskipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorderadhd/symptoms/

Page 43 of 44

Page 83

https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/behaviour/distressedbehaviour/all-audiences
https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/high-needs-funding-overview/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/educational-excellence-everywhere
Bercow Review of Services for Children and Young People (0-19) with Speech,
Language and Communication Needs 2008

Page 44 of 44

Page 84

Draft Alternative Learning Provision
Statement of Action
1.0 Summary
Page 85

Bristol City Council (BCC) commissioned an independent review of Alternative Learning Provision (ALP). The review made 31 recommendations for improvement in
the ALP system in Bristol. BCC has accepted all the recommendations and this Statement of Action sets out BCC’s response to the review and outlines the
committed actions that will be taken over the next one and a half years. It should be noted this is not the end product but is intended to help guide the coproduction process. Following the reference group sessions, the Statement of Action will be amended to reflect the views of participants.
The final agreed version of the Statement of Action will outline the activity that will occur to deliver against all of the recommendations and the timescales to do
so. It will contain agreed milestones for delivery so that progress can be tracked in the delivery phase of the Statement of action.

2.0 Governance
The ALP Statement of Action (SOA) will report into the Education Transformation Programme Board. The Board meets monthly and is chaired by Director Education
and Skills. The ETP Board is responsible for driving the actions set out in the Statement of Action.
For each of the themes outlined in section 4.0, there will be a lead officer. These roles will be accountable for delivery of the recommendations within those
working groups. The working groups will report monthly on progress with key milestones also being tracked.
Many of the recommendations within the report link to planned development work with the Bristol Inclusion Panel (BIP). Dependencies will be maintained
between the two areas of work to coordinate and align the two areas of activity.
1

The SOA will also report into existing governance mechanisms outlined in the structure below.

Page 86
2

Progress on the SOA will be published externally on the Local Offer on a quarterly basis.
There will be four Reference Groups made up of clusters of stakeholders. These groups are

Education
settings

Children and
Young People

Parent/carers

Other
interested
Parties

Page 87

Each of the groups will initially contribute to developing and amending plans for delivery and make sure areas important to attendees of the groups are covered.
Once the Statement of Action is agreed the reference groups will continue to meet regularly to track progress against the plan, sign off deliverables and provide
expert advice and guidance.

3.0 Principles
Bristol’s Child and Young Person Outcomes Framework identifies four themes, developed with children, young people and their families to help describe and
develop individual outcomes:
• Independent Lives
• Family, Friends and Community
• Good Health and Wellbeing
• Learning, Employment and a Positive Contribution
In addressing the recommendations, the actions outlined in this SOA will help us to achieve these outcomes for children and young people with alternative needs.
Partners across the local area are working together and with parents, carers and children and young people to:

3

Page 88

•

Better understand Bristol’s communities and their needs, so we can reach out and communicate more effectively with all parents and carers and young
people, enabling genuine co-production and consistently purposeful engagement and collaboration, to ensure we are putting children, young people and
families first; gaining their trust and improving their confidence in the system.

•

Develop transparent and effective arrangements for children, young people and families to hold Bristol’s leaders, including school leaders, to account for
the Local Area, so that there is continuous improvement that meets the needs of our diverse population.

•

Ensure all professionals working directly with children and young people in Bristol understand how to recognise when a child might have an alternative
educational need and understand Bristol’s Local Offer, so that children and young people’s needs are identified early, assessed swiftly, and appropriate
and effective support is provided when it is needed.

•

Ensure that children and young people with disabilities and those with alternative educational needs can access their full entitlement to a good education,
feel included, make progress and achieve their full potential.

•

Ensure parents and carers, children and young people have a positive experience of the alternative education system, and plans reflect the needs and
aspirations of the child or young person, and enable them to reach their full potential and prepare them for adulthood.

4

4.0 Approach
The recommendations in the review have been grouped into 8 interlinking themes for delivery. These themes are:

Page 89

Special Educational
Needs and
Disabilities

Schools

Data

Finance

Commissioning

Safeguarding

Post-16

Governance

There will also be a cross-cutting theme of co-production. This theme has two purposes – to co-produce the delivery plan and, once in the delivery phase, to
monitor delivery and ensure new systems and processes are fit for purpose.
1. ALP and SEND refers to the current inter-dependency between SEND and ALP with actions to clarify and strengthen processes and relationships between
these two areas. There are extremely high numbers of pupils with SEND with either education, health and care (EHC) plans or proceeding through the EHC
Needs Assessment process, currently in ALP. High numbers of pupils going to ALP are also presenting with additional needs, particularly Social, Emotional and
Mental Health (SEMH), Speech and Language and low literacy and maths skills.

5

2. ALP and Schools is concerned with supporting and challenging schools with the aim of implementing a graduated response to prevent exclusions and reliance
on ALP.
3. ALP and Data indicates improvement is necessary in data capture to facilitate accurate planning and reporting.
4. ALP and Finance shows ALP is used to cover a deficiency in the number of appropriate SEND placements and links to the current review of element 3 funding.
While both the ALP and SEND budgets are from the ‘High Need’ block, different LA Officers are making different placements. A clear protocol for placing
children/ young people with an EHC plan into AP needs to be agreed.
5. ALP and Commissioning mandates a joint ALP and SEND commissioning strategy along with joint quality assurance processes. This links to the
recommissioning of ALP in progress.

Page 90

6. ALP and Safeguarding covers the strengthening of systems for sharing key information between school and ALP, social and mental health support along with
capturing the pupil and parent voice.
7. ALP and Post-16 will improve careers advice and guidance to young people and is concerned with moving post-16 support from Education and Skills Funding
Agency (ESFA) funding back into the Local Authority. It will also cover arrangements for supporting young parents.
8. ALP and Governance links ALP to actions in progress with respect corporate themes such as the SEND Written Statement of Action and the Belonging
Strategy, which will be launched in Spring 2021. There is also the need for clear system-wide strategic leadership of ALP as the ALP Hub has been working in
isolation, with insufficient direction or accountability built into structures.
In addition to the above themes, the ALP Review alludes to additional areas for development, connected with Hospital Education and CYP too ill to attend school,
in terms of funding and organisational arrangements. We plan to align delivery of the SOA with further analysis of this area in addition to the actions outlined
within this document.

6

5.0 Actions
5.1 ALP and SEND
5.1.1 Recommendations
Ref.
3

11

Page 91

12

24

14

15

Recommendation
Clear expectations and protocols between ALP
hub and SEND teams need to be agreed and
clarified.
SEND team do not commission individual bespoke
ALP packages. Procurement arrangements need
to be agreed by Senior Officers of ALP and SEND.
Sufficiency plan of SEND placements is underway
but a plan of how to manage and fund the SEND
pupils in ALP provision in the meantime needs to
be drawn up and agreed.
Develop as a matter of urgency a protocol for
SEND and ‘high cost’ placements with ALP Hub to
enable appropriate placements.
A system for joint monitoring, quality assurance
and co-ordination of all ALP placements with
SEND needs to be established.

A review of Top Up (pre EHCP) funding is urgently
needed.

Summary of response
These recommendations will be delivered through the development of new pathways for the various
scenarios when children and young people may be considered for specialist provision and ultimately
alternative provision.
A review of the consultation process for specialist provision is included along with consideration of out
of local authority requests.
We plan to introduce Mainstream Awaiting Placement Panel (MAPP) meetings. In the MAPP meeting,
the school will have the opportunity to discuss what support they require to meet the needs of
children and young people and how to prepare for transition to specialist setting with colleagues from
other schools, an Educational Psychologist and representatives from specialist outreach providers.
This also links to recommendation 13 in the Finance theme.
We plan to increase capacity to enable better, more joined up quality assurance of placements. We
will also introduce a new standard operating procedure which will be reflected in the commissioning
arrangements.
This recommendation links to recommendation 16 and also the recommissioning of ALP in section 5.5.
We will review current funding arrangements and put in place a new funding matrix for element 3 of
High Needs Funding. This will build on learning from other comparable Local Authorities to ensure
best practice is followed.

7

5.1.2 Milestones
Milestone
Proposal for ALP & SEND Protocol agreed and signed off by Director Education and Skills
Mainstream Awaiting Placement Panel (MAPP) in place
New ALP & SEND protocol in place
New funding matrix for element 3 of High Needs Funding
Quality assurance standard operating procedure in place

Date
June 2021
September 2021
September 2021
September 2021
August 2022

Page 92
8

5.2 ALP and Schools
5.2.1 Recommendations
Ref.
2
20

Page 93

19
21

30

Recommendation
Protocols regarding graduated response from
schools need to be drawn up.
Paperwork and graduated response from schools
should be evidenced prior to the BIP referral.
Better evidence is needed of previous behaviour
and learning supports. (There is a separate review
of the BIP taking place which may address this
issue)
Establish a SEMH Pathway including common
language for reporting and recording.
A review of early intervention to schools, support
advice and challenge to prevent exclusions and
reliance on ALP.
Consider how to appropriately support and
challenge schools around the areas of inclusion
and exclusions.

Summary of response
We will work with the schools and settings participating in the BIP process to clarify expectations and
evidence required to support the graduated response more explicitly within the referral process. This
will ensure more robust, complete and relevant safeguarding information is available to
support/improve safe transitions between schools.
A clear understanding of what an appropriate response looks like will be developed and good practice
shared.
This links to recommendation 27 in the Safeguarding theme.
We will review existing early support arrangements within schools with a view to introduce measures
to better support settings.
An SEMH pathway will be established. This will be supported by the introduction of a SEMH
champions network and training across settings to ensure a consistent approach and knowledge
transfer.

5.2.2 Milestones
Milestone
Audit of existing early support within Schools
SEMH pathway in place
Establish SEMH champions network

Date
October 2021
January 2022
April 2022

9

5.3 ALP and Data
5.3.1 Recommendations
Ref.
4
5

Recommendation
Migration onto the one system needs to be
successfully completed as soon as possible.
A common language is needed to ensure all data
input is consistent.

Summary of response
In order to establish the requirements for data recording and reporting a gap analysis must first be
completed. Following the analysis, the future data model will be agreed and a delivery plane
developed.
Further milestones will be dependent on the future data model chosen.

5.3.2 Milestones

Page 94

Milestone
Report of assessed options
Agreed delivery plan for future data model
Further milestones to be determined dependent on data model

Date
May 2021
June 2021
TBD

10

5.4 ALP and Finance
5.4.1 Recommendations
Ref.
9
10
13

Recommendation
Cost centres and budget lines need to be agreed
and match.
Officers are unable to meet budget expectations
and controls, this needs to be rectified.
As a matter of urgency there is a need for a High
Needs/Block placement spending protocol/panel.

Summary of response
Current cost centres and budget lines used for ALP will be reviewed and an appropriate financial
structure to monitor spend will be put in place.
The AP/SEND protocol in section 5.1.1 and the alterations to the financial system (recommendation 9)
will deliver the changes necessary to implement this recommendation.
This links closely with the development of an AP/SEND protocol in section 5.1.1 and will be delivered
through the response to those recommendations.

5.4.2 Milestones

Page 95

Milestone
Cost centre review completed

Date
September 2021

11

5.5 ALP and Commissioning
5.5.1 Recommendations
Ref.
1
17
18

31

Page 96

16

25

Recommendation
A clear strategic joint SEND/ALP commissioning
plan should be published.
Clarify SLA expectations across all settings.
BCC should ensure that the resources are
available to satisfy itself of the financial and
educational ongoing viability of providers.
Carry out a comprehensive needs analysis of ALP.
Consider appropriate resource to adequately
embed the safeguarding principles and QA
process. A dedicated QA post (is being explored
and the management of that post reviewed). The
appointment to this post would allow an
independent check on providers.
Clarify expected response timescales with ALP
providers.

Summary of response
These recommendations will be delivered through the recommissioning of the ALP framework. This
process involves developing a full needs analysis of ALP before consulting widely with the sector,
families and children and young people to establish the commissioning plan.
Alongside the recommissioning, work will be done with ALP academies and maintained schools to
develop Service Level Agreements, to ensure consistent expectations of providers of ALP across the
city, regardless of funding source or contracting arrangement.
The commissioning plan will be approved by cabinet before the framework goes out to tender.
We plan to increase capacity to enable better, more joined up quality assurance of placements. We
will also introduce a new standard operating procedure which will be reflected in the commissioning
arrangements.
This recommendation links to recommendation 14 in the ALP and SEND theme.
We will consult with appropriate internal teams and with ALP providers in order to develop a standard
timeline from the decision to commission an ALP placement to the point the CYP starts. This will be
incorporated into the recommissioning of ALP.

5.5.2 Milestones
Milestone
Consultation on draft commissioning strategy and draft needs analysis
Final needs analysis completed
Final ALP/SEND commissioning strategy in place
Agreed response timescales in place
Start of tender process
ALP framework live

Date
May 2021
August 2021
August 2021
September 2021
December 2021
September 2022
12

5.6 ALP and Safeguarding
5.6.1 Recommendations
Ref.
26

Page 97

27

Recommendation
A deeper understanding of the ‘hard to reach’
and ‘hard to place’ pupils would be helpful in
tailoring better educational, social and mental
health support. Obtain the pupil and parent
voice.

Clarify and strengthen graduated school
response, insisting on safeguarding information
before placement agreements.

Summary of response
The response to this recommendation is split into two parts – obtaining the pupil and parent voice,
and a full review of complex cases.
Review of complex cases entails a deep dive to pinpoint barriers to education facing young people. A
set of further recommendations will be developed with a view to integrate into the wider
programme of work.
The commissioning process outlined in section 5.5 will include wide consultation with families and
children and young people.
This links to recommendations 2 and 20 in section 5.2 and will be delivered through those actions.

5.6.2 Milestones
Milestone
Communications plan for consultation to reach parents and pupils developed
Documentation of educational barriers
Additional recommendations finalised

Date
May 2021
June 2021
September 2021

13

5.7 ALP and Post-16
5.7.1 Recommendations
Ref.
28

29

Recommendation
Improve careers advice and guidance,
especially to the group of ‘hard to reach’ young
people going into college settings.
Move budget, staffing and responsibility into
the LA (ESFA Post-16 funding)

Summary of response
In order to improve careers advice and guidance, we will undertake a full review of current practice.
A proposal for a new model will be developed before implementation across the sector through
service specifications.
We are widening our response to this recommendation by including a review of young parents with
a view to implement a new model. This will also cover ESFA Post-16 funding. This process will include
a consultation with key stakeholders including young people.

5.7.2 Milestones

Page 98

Milestone
Current careers pathway mapped
New careers pathway agreed
Reference group formed
Draft model agreed including costings
Consultation completed on model
Model implemented (including movement of budget and staffing)

Date
May 2021
June 2021
May 2021
June 2021
September 2021
December 2021

14

5.8 ALP and Governance
5.8.1 Recommendations

Page 99

Ref.
6

Recommendation
To ensure clear links between plans to reduce
duplications and increase opportunities to join
work streams together.

7

The One City plan has been recently updated for
2020, the outcomes and actions from this review
need to directly link to service planning of ALP.
The Belonging Strategy is published.
SEND Written statement of action (WSOA) and
sufficiency plan completed.
Capital Investment Strategy completed.

8
22
23

Summary of response
To ensure clear links between plans and joined up workstreams an ALP Written Statement of Action
Board will be established. The remit of the Board will include bringing together the various
workstreams to make sure activity is not duplicated. In addition, a full time Business Change
Manager for the WSA will be appointed to work across the programme with oversight of all activity.
Delivered outside of ALP WSA programme.

Delivered outside of ALP WSA programme.
Delivered outside of ALP WSA programme.
Delivered outside of ALP WSA programme.

5.7.2 Milestones
There are no milestones associated with these recommendations.

15

6.0 Milestone summary
Apr 21

May 21

ALP and
SEND

Jun 21

Jul 21

Aug 21

Protocol
agreed

Sep 21

Nov 21

Dec 21

Feb 22

Mar 22

Apr-Jun 22 Jul-Sep 22

QA SOP

Early
support
audit

Page 100

Options
appraisa
l

Jan 22

MAPP

ALP and
Schools

ALP and Data

Oct 21

SEMH
Pathwa
y

SEMH
Networ
k

Delivery
plan

ALP and
Finance

Cost
centre

ALP and
Commissioning

Needs
analysis

Start of
tender

ALP and
Safeguarding

Commu
nication
s plan

Educati
on
barriers

Additio
nal
recomm
endatio
ns

ALP and Post16

Existing
pathwa
ys

New
pathwa
ys

Consult
ation

Framew
ork live

Post-16
model
in place

16

ALP Statement of Action – Co-production
1.0 Background
Bristol City Council (BCC) commissioned an independent review of Alternative Learning Provision (ALP).
The review made 31 recommendations for improvement in the ALP system in Bristol. BCC has completed
initial scoping of the work required to deliver against all of the recommendations. However, in order to
deliver an inclusive ALP system that works for all, co-production with ALP stakeholders is required. This
document sets out how this will be achieved, both in planning the work needed and subsequent delivery
of the plan.

2.0 Engagement principles
BCC is currently developing a Co-Production Charter which will outline the principles for working with
stakeholders to improve services. Until the charter is in place, co-production of the ALP Statement of
Action will adhere to the following principles. Once the charter is available this document will be
reviewed to ensure best practice is being followed.
In its simplest essence, to co-produce is to make something together. Co-production is not just a word,
it's not just a concept, it is a meeting of minds coming together to find shared solutions.
Co-production is about developing more equal partnerships between people who use services, carers and
professionals.
The National Co-production Critical Friends Group, a very diverse cross-sector network, agreed this
definition:
“Co-production is a relationship where professionals and citizens share power to plan and deliver support
together, recognising that both have vital contributions to make in order to improve quality of life for
people and communities.”
The Care Act 2014 statutory guidance offers the following definition:
"Co-production" is when an individual influences the support and services received, or when groups of
people get together to influence the way that services are designed, commissioned and delivered.”
Transformative co-production is when:
•
•
•
•
•
•

There is movement on from involvement and participation towards people who use services and
carers having an equal, more meaningful and powerful role in services.
People who use services and carers are involved in all aspects of a service – the planning,
development and actual delivery of the service.
Power and resources are transferred from managers to people who use services and carers.
People who use services, carers and staff are assets and are valued.
It is recognised that if someone makes a contribution, they should get something back in
exchange.
Frontline staff are seen as a group that needs to have more independence and a greater role in
planning services.

Page 101

3.0 Co-production proposal
In addition to the proposed workstreams to deliver against the recommendations in the ALP Review
there will be a cross-cutting co-production workstream. This workstream has two purposes – to coproduce the delivery plan and, once in the delivery phase, to monitor delivery and ensure new systems
and processes are fit for purpose.
There will be four Reference Groups made up of clusters of stakeholders. These groups are:

Education
settings

Children and
Young People

Parent/carers

Key
stakeholders

Each of the groups will initially contribute to developing and amending plans for delivery and make sure
areas important to attendees of the groups are covered. Once the Statement of Action is agreed the
reference groups will continue to meet regularly to track progress against the plan, sign off deliverables
and provide expert advice and guidance.

3.1 Potential attendees
3.1.1 Education settings reference group
Comprised of representatives of the network of ALP providers, mainstream settings and special schools.
•
•
•
•
•

Headteachers of Alternative Learning Provision
BASHP (Bristol Association of Secondary Heads and Principals)
Special Heads group
PHAB – (Primary Heads Association, Bristol)
HOPE Virtual School

An initial session was held with ALP providers on 23rd February 2021. In particular, the group were keen
to use the opportunity of the ALP Statement of Action to address how ALP is used in the city with respect
to SEND. In October 2020, a survey was sent out to local AP settings, including those not currently on the
AP framework. This has been used to inform initial development of the draft ALP Commissioning Strategy
and is reproduced in appendix A.

3.1.2 Children and young people (CYP) reference group
ALP providers will assist in identifying current CYP attending ALP to be part of this group. Mainstream
settings will also be asked if there are CYP within their settings who may be appropriate to contribute.
Previously basic engagement has occurred with this cohort at the end of 2021 in the form of a survey.
This has been used to inform initial development of the draft ALP Commissioning Strategy and is
reproduced in appendix A.

3.1.3 Parent/carers reference group
Along with representatives from parent/carers groups, individual parent/carers outside of these groups
will be asked if they would like to be included. Parent/carer organisations include:
•

Parent Carer Forum

Page 102

•
•

Families in Focus
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Information Advice and Support Services (SENDIASS)

One of the challenges in engaging parents/carers of CYP in ALP settings outside of the above groups is the
Education Directorate privacy notice, which Data Protection have said does not specifically allow
contacting parents for the purposes of surveys. Therefore, previous surveys have gone largely through
parties like the ones listed, where parents signed up to receive information, however, this skewed the
results heavily to parents of Bristol Hospital Education Service (BHES) pupils.
If we want to properly reach a wide range of parents in ALP and engage a representative sample, the
privacy notice will need to be updated to explicitly allow engagement of parents.

3.1.4 Key stakeholders reference group
An expression of interest to be part of the group has been received from a Councillor. In addition to
Members, other groups will be approached to provide representation. These groups are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

West of England Centre for Inclusive Living (WECIL)
Council for Disabled Children (CDC)
SEND Partnership Group
Belonging and Attendance Group
Schools Forum
Foster Carers
Social Workers

3.2 Resources
Co-production principles in section 2.0 above indicate, that asking CYP to give up their own time should
come with some recognition.
Vouchers have been used with a previous young commissioners project - but the organisers of that also
flagged that resources were needed for face-to-face meetings (food & drink, meeting rooms, transport
(bus tickets), taxis etc.), as well as officer resource cost in recruiting and engaging young people to
participate in the first place.
Other resources will likely be needed to distribute the consultation widely, including production of an
easy read version.
A budget for this work needs to be established.

3.3 Timescales
BCC will be recommissioning a new ALP framework of ALP providers. This is due to be completed by 1st
September 2022. A key part of this work requires consultation on the draft commissioning strategy and
proposals before publication of the final commissioning strategy.

ALP recommissioning timeline
Stage
Consultation on draft commissioning strategy and proposals
Publication of final commissioning strategy
Opportunity for providers to submit tenders
Implementation of new framework
New framework and service level agreements start

Page 103

From
24/05/2021
07/09/2021
03/01/2022
01/06/2022
01/09/2022

To
04/07/2021
25/02/2022
31/08/2022

Delivery of the ALP Statement of Action and the recommissioning of ALP are closely linked and so it
makes sense to align co-production of the Statement of Action with the consultation. Prior to 24th May
2021 the reference groups will be formed and once in place, sessions will be held with the reference
groups to cover both areas.

3.4 Methods
Ideally sessions with the reference groups would be held face-to-face. Initially this will not be possible in
order to manage the risk of COVID-19. Therefore, meetings will be held electronically using Zoom/Teams
for co-production and consultation events.
During the delivery phase of the Statement of Action it may become possible to hold face-to-face
sessions with the reference groups.

4.0 Areas for co-production
4.1 Recommendations from ALP Review
The ALP Review made 31 recommendations for improvement of the ALP system in Bristol. The reference
groups will review the recommendations and prioritise those which are considered to be most important.

4.2 Approach
BCC has developed an initial plan for delivery (see section 5.0). The reference groups will review the plans
to ensure the right activity is covered and that implementation of the recommendations will be achieved.
This is likely to result in changes to the initial planning to produce the final version of the ALP Statement
of Action.

4.3 Recommissioning
The consultation for the recommissioning of ALP will obtain the reference groups’ views on the draft
commissioning strategy. This will result in changes to the strategy to ensure the framework proposals are
fit for purpose.

5.0 Initial BCC planning
As a starting point for discussion, a draft ALP Statement of Action has been developed. This is not the end
product but is intended to help guide the co-production process. Following the reference group sessions,
the Statement of Action will be amended to reflect the views of participants.
The final agreed version of the Statement of Action will outline the activity that will occur to deliver
against all of the recommendations and the timescales to do so. It will contain agreed milestones for
delivery so that progress can be tracked in the delivery phase of the Statement of action.

Page 104

6.0 Appendix A
Reproduced from draft ALP Commissioning Strategy section 6 Stakeholder Engagement.

Stakeholder Engagement
Proposals in this strategy have been shaped by initial engagement with stakeholders across pupils,
parents/carers, providers, schools and other relevant professionals, and engagement work will continue
throughout this process, alongside the consultation for this strategy. Results of this initial engagement is
set out below.

Pupils
A survey was sent out to all pupils in full-time and part-time AP settings in July 2020, to better
understand their experience, with follow-up phone calls for pupils who expressed an interest in further
discussion.
In terms of the move into AP, there was a range of pupil experiences, with most pupils saying they got
information about the setting before going, but only half feeling they were part of a discussion around
which one was best. One pupil felt that they and their parent were given information about a setting
including options for moving on, but that once they were in, they felt that these options fell away and the
move felt much more permanent than was initially suggested.
Most respondents did not have any particular suggestions on what could have improved their experience
starting at AP, although answers that were given focused on meeting staff beforehand and on travel time.
Around half of respondents (52%) were taught in groups of between 3 and 8 pupils, with 48% taught on a
one-to-one basis. All pupils who responded were happy with their group sizes.
Pupils were also asked what, if anything changed for them as a result of their learning in AP. A significant
minority (33%) said nothing changed for them. Of those who did identify a positive change, the main
changes were:
•
•
•

Behaviour (33%)
Engagement in learning (22%)
Confidence/ independence (17%)

Most pupils identified something that had worked well for them in AP. The main responses were:
•
•
•

Relationship with staff/ consistent staffing (47%)
Teaching and engagement in learning (18%)
Support managing behaviour (12%)

Over half of pupils that responded stated that there was nothing that didn’t work well for them. Of the
pupils who did identify things that didn’t work, these included: too much time off-site, feeling
stereotyped by staff, distance from home, lessons starting too early, and not being comfortable in large
groups. A number of these pose significant challenges for fostering a sense of belonging in their AP
school.
Similarly, 42% of pupils did not identify anything that they would change about AP. Of those who did
identify specific changes, these included: better facilities especially exercise facilities, more work

Page 105

experience opportunities, more choice in settings, consistency in the offer (that is, schedules not being
changed at the last minute) and more flexible timetabling.
Bristol is currently engaging with young people in mainstream schools to understand their experience of
support available and their sense of belonging in school, as well as continuing to seek feedback from
pupils in AP to further shape proposals, and ensure the pupil voice is central to any plans for alternative
provision.

Parents/Carers
A survey of parents and carers of pupils in AP was published in November 2020 to seek views on their
experience of AP. Response rate was low (8 parents/carers), with all pupils attending BHES, which, as a
very distinct provision, makes it difficult to conclude more widely (although some pupils did also attend
part-time AP commissioned through the current framework). As a result, further engagement will be
undertaken with parents and carers.
Most parent/carers thought that the AP was appropriate for the needs of the child (86% agreed or
strongly agreed), but results were more mixed when asked if the child made progress in AP (50% agreed
or strongly agreed, 25% disagreed or strongly disagreed).
When asked what went well about the AP the child attended, the most common responses were:
•
•
•

Individualised and flexible learning approaches
Small class sizes
Relationship with staff

Whilst smaller class sizes may be harder to replicate in mainstream schools, the benefits of flexible and
individualised learning approaches may be an approach for further consideration in mainstream as well
as AP settings.
In terms of areas where AP has worked less well, parent/carers highlighted:
•
•
•

Limited provision (some of which related to COVID-19 limitations)
Lack of information provided on progress
Not understanding or supporting the child’s SEND

This does show the importance of ongoing engagement with parents and carers throughout pupils’ time
in AP, not just at the point of referral and move.

Schools
In December 2020, a survey sent out to all Bristol schools asked the main reasons for referring a pupil to
AP. The most common responses given by schools were:
•
•
•
•
•

Persistent disruptive behaviour
Threatening or violent behaviour towards adults or pupils
Needs unable to be met in mainstream school (often related to SEND)
Prevention of PEX
Disengagement with education

Schools were also surveyed about the support offered to pupils in-school prior to referral to external AP.
92% of the 12 responding schools said that they would be interested in purchasing more outreach
services through the ALP catalogue if these were available, with the 8% of respondents who replied ‘no’
to this question highlighting strain on budgets and affordability of these services.

Page 106

The following outreach services were identified by responding schools, in terms of what is currently
purchased and what they would like to purchase if there was more availability or there was clearer
information on services they could access (such as those already offered by the local authority):

School outreach support
Speech & Language Therapy
EHCP application support
Practical/outdoor activities
Tutoring
Play therapy
Staff CPD
Early Intervention Base
Behavioural support
Mentoring
Therapeutic & counselling (inc. trauma informed)
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%
Currently purchased by schools

Would purchase if more availability/awareness

Needs identified by schools that weren’t currently met by the AP market included mental health support
for pupils who did not meet CAMHS thresholds, outreach support working with families, and AP for pupils
up to Key Stage 2.

Providers
In October 2020, a survey was sent out to local AP settings, including those not currently on the AP
framework. Providers on the framework scored the following statements about their experience:

What the framework offered

I feel the framework
agreement offers a
collaborative approach
across Bristol schools,
alternative learning
providers and BCC
I feel the framework
agreement offers a
consistent referral and
placement process
I feel the framework
agreement offers stronger
assurance around
placements being made

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither
agree nor
disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

13%

27%

47%

13%

0%

27%

27%

40%

7%

0%

27%

7%

53%

13%

0%

In terms of what works well about the current framework arrangement, and what could be improved
from a provider perspective, some of the main responses were:
What works well

Page 107

•
•
•
•
•

Opportunities to collaborate with other providers through the forum
Clear expectations of service set out in the framework contract
Catalogue is a mark of quality to promote services
Good relationship and partnership with ALP Hub
Opportunity to speak and work directly with senior school leaders

What could be improved
•
•
•
•

More pupil information on demographics and need
More follow-up information once a pupil placement is ended
Increased training and CPD opportunities provided or advertised through the framework
Moves into AP earlier in the school year to help relationships with pupils

Whilst the final point in particular is clear from a provider perspective, of primary importance are the
needs of the pupil, and opportunities should be given to make mainstream education work.

Other stakeholders
A number of stakeholders interviewed also identified a need for provision that better supported pupils at
risk or engaged in Child Criminal Exploitation, serious youth violence and gang involvement, as well as a
need for AP that better supported children in care (CiC) returning to Bristol from out of area, in order to
support their return to local residential or foster care.
Bristol City Council’s Education Inclusion Managers (EIM) were among many stakeholders who were keen
to emphasise the importance of early intervention work in keeping pupils in school and preventing pupil
exclusions (PEX) or transfers through the Bristol Inclusion Panel (BIP). The success of the EIM’s weapons
in schools incidents was highlighted as an example of this, with 93% of pupils they worked with remaining
in their school after intervention work. A similar scheme related to minor drugs incidents is now planned
to be rolled out. The EIMs felt that a wider offer of external providers schools could access or purchase
from, as well as a clearer route to publicise these services, would support this work.

Page 108

7.0 Appendix B

Engagement log
Group
Internal staff

Date
Purpose
22/01/2021 Review recommendations and
develop response.

Special Schools
Head Teachers

03/02/2021 Overview and establish how
group would like to be involved
going forward.

AP Heads

23/02/2021 Review recommendations and
establish how group would like
to be involved going forward.

People Scrutiny
Commission

08/02/2021 Provide overview of report and
next steps.

Post-16 at Risk
Group

27/04/2021 Review safeguarding and Post16 recommendations and
establish how group would like
to be involved going forward.
10/05/2021 Review safeguarding
recommendations and establish
how group would like to be
involved going forward.

Keeping Bristol
Safe Partnership Educational
Group

Page 109

Outcome
Working groups formed to
develop ALP Statement of
Action.
View captured.

AP Heads' views captured.

Group's views captured.

Equality Impact Assessment [version 2.9]
Title: Alternative Learning Provision Statement of Action
☐ Policy ☒ Strategy ☐ Function ☒ Service
☐ Other [please state]
Directorate: Education and Skills
Service Area: Learning City

☐ New
☒ Already exists/review ☒ Changing
Lead Officer name: Oliver Buell
Lead Officer role: Project Manager

Step 1: What do we want to do?
The purpose of an Equality Impact Assessment is to assist decision makers in understanding the impact of proposals
as part of their duties under the Equality Act 2010. Detailed guidance to support completion can be found here
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com).
This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of the
proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team approach to
completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Equality and Inclusion Team early for advice and
feedback.

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal?
Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the intended
aims/outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use plain English,
avoiding jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of people including
decision-makers and the wider public.
An independent review of Alternative Learning Provision (ALP) was commissioned. The review provided 31
recommendations for improvement of the ALP system. Bristol City Council has accepted all the recommendations
and will develop and deliver an action plan (the “ALP Statement of Action”) to improve the ALP system.
The recommendations cover the following areas:
ALP and SEND refers to the current inter-dependency between SEND and ALP with actions to clarify and
strengthen processes and relationships between these two areas. There are extremely high numbers of pupils
with SEND with either education, health and care (EHC) plans or proceeding through the EHC Needs Assessment
process, currently in ALP. High numbers of pupils going to ALP are also presenting with additional needs,
particularly Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH), Speech and Language and low literacy and maths skills.
ALP and Schools is concerned with supporting and challenging schools with the aim of implementing a graduated
response to prevent exclusions and reliance on ALP.
ALP and Data indicates improvement is necessary in data capture to facilitate accurate planning and reporting.
ALP and Finance shows ALP is used to cover a deficiency in the number of appropriate SEND placements and links
to the current review of element 3 funding. While both the ALP and SEND budgets are from the ‘High Need’ block,
different LA Officers are making different placements. A clear protocol for placing children/ young people with an
EHC plan into AP needs to be agreed.
ALP and Commissioning mandates a joint ALP and SEND commissioning strategy along with joint quality
assurance processes. This links to the recommissioning of ALP in progress.

Page 110

ALP and Safeguarding covers the strengthening of systems for sharing key information between school and ALP,
social and mental health support along with capturing the pupil and parent voice.
ALP and Post-16 will improve careers advice and guidance to young people and is concerned with moving post-16
support from Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) funding back into the Local Authority. It will also cover
arrangements for supporting young parents.
ALP and Governance links ALP to actions in progress with respect to corporate themes such as the SEND Written
Statement of Action and the Belonging Strategy, which will be launched in Spring 2021. There is also the need for
clear system-wide strategic leadership of ALP as the ALP Hub has been working in isolation, with insufficient
direction or accountability built into structures.
The ALP Statement of Action (ALP SOA) will be co-produced with stakeholders including education settings,
children and young people, parent/carers and other interested parties. This will be achieved through formation of
four reference groups which will help to co-produce the plans and also continue to be involved during delivery of
the plan.

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect?
☐ Bristol City Council workforce
☒ Commissioned services
Additional comments:

☒ Service users
☐ The wider community
☒ City partners/Stakeholder organisations

Children and young people who either use ALP settings or could potentially use ALP could be affected as changes
to the system could alter the setting in which it is most appropriate for them to be educated.
The ALP settings themselves could also be affected (these are commissioned services) as well as mainstream
education settings.

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?
Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the potential to
change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?
If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by Equality
and Inclusion Team.
If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment, or if you plan to complete the assessment at a later stage please state
this clearly here and request review by the Equality and Inclusion Team.

☒ Yes

☐ No

[please select]

Step 2: What information do we have?
2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected?
Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include general
population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with particular reference to

Page 111

protected and other relevant characteristics: https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/measuring-equalitiessuccess .
Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix of
qualitative and quantitative data e.g. from national or local research, available data or previous consultations and
engagement activities.
Outline whether there is any over or under representation of equality groups within relevant services - don't forget
to benchmark to the local population where appropriate. Links to available data and reports are here Data, statistics
and intelligence (sharepoint.com). See also: Bristol Open Data (Quality of Life, Census etc.); Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA); Ward Statistical Profiles.
For workforce/management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected teams using
available evidence such as HR Analytics: Power BI Reports (sharepoint.com) which shows the diversity profile of
council teams and service areas. Identify any over or under-representation compared with Bristol economically
active citizens for different characteristics. Additional sources of useful workforce evidence include the Employee
Staff Survey Report and Stress Risk Assessment Form

Data/Evidence Source

Summary of what this tells us

[Include a reference where known]

Exclusions and ethnicity
Number of fixed-term exclusions in total by year by
ethnicity.
From page 40, Review of ALP.

Child population diversity
From JSNA Health and Wellbeing Profile 2020/21

Pupil demographics
From: 2018 inquiry into Alternative Provision

There was a significant increase in the number of FTEs
for Black African and Gypsy Roma children in 2018/19.
Also, an increasing 3-year trend in the number of FTEs
for Mixed-White/Caribbean & Mixed Other and
children not assigned a classification. The overall
numbers of FTEs were significantly reduced from
2017/18, particularly for the largest group - White
British.
Bristol’s child population is increasingly ethnically
diverse. 28% of Bristol children (under 16) belong to a
Black, Asian and minority ethnic/ethnicity group (2011
Census), compared to the wider Bristol population
average of 16% Black, Asian and minority
ethnic/ethnicity. Using the alternative definition of
diversity, 32% of children belong to the non-‘White
British’ population, compared to the Bristol population
average of 22%. Ethnic diversity varies considerably
across the city; 53% of children under 16 in the Inner
City & East are Black, Asian and minority
ethnic/ethnicity, compared with 21% in North & West
and 13% in South Bristol. By ward, the figure ranges
from 4% Black, Asian and minority ethnic/ethnicity in
Bishopsworth to 60% in Lawrence Hill.
An evidence review by the Education Select
Committee found particular groups of children
disproportionately more likely to be educated in ALP:
• Children in care
• Children in need
• Pupils with SEND
• Pupils from economically disadvantaged
backgrounds

Page 112

•

Pupil characteristics
From: Snapshot of 140 pupils in full-time ALP in June
2020.

Pupils from Black Caribbean and Gypsy, Roma,
Traveller (GRT) heritage backgrounds
Headline figures from this analysis show that:
• 69% of pupils in full-time AP are male
compared to 49% of secondary pupils in
Bristol overall (2020 school census).
•

97% of pupils are in Key Stage 4 (38% in year
10, 59% in year 11).

•

There is a lower proportion of Black, Asian
and minority ethnic/ethnicity pupils in fulltime ALP (17.9%) than in the wider secondary
population (29.8%). As per the national
picture, there is a higher proportion of pupils
from a Black Caribbean or GRT heritage
background – although small pupil numbers
for these groups mean this is subject to
significant confidence intervals. The
proportion of White British and pupils of
mixed ethnicities is also higher in AP than the
wider secondary population.

•

A significant majority of pupils in full-time AP
are from South Bristol (63%), compared to
37% of the wider secondary population. This
may in part account for the higher proportion
of White British pupils in AP, due to the higher
White British population in South Bristol.

•

43% of pupils in full-time AP were eligible for
Free Schools Meals, compared to 21% of the
wider secondary population.

•

57% of pupils in AP had SEN support needs
(SEMH), 22% had a recorded EHCP or EHCP
assessment in progress, whilst 20% of pupils
had no recorded SEND. 15% of the wider
secondary population were recorded as having
SEN support needs or an EHCP in the January
2020 census.

•

The proportion of AP pupils recorded as
children in care was almost six times higher
than the rate in the wider secondary
population, although care should be taken
with these figures given the small number of
pupils involved.

•

Similarly, a higher proportion of pupils in AP
were recorded as having involvement with

Page 113

Bristol Youth Offending Team than the wider
secondary population.
Additional comments:
More information on the analysis of pupils in ALP will be set out in the Needs Analysis that will accompany the
final version of the Commissioning Strategy currently under development. It will also include an analysis of the
differing experiences of fixed-term exclusions across pupil groups.

2.2 Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected characteristics?
☒ Age
☐ Marriage and Civil Partnership
☐ Religion or Belief

☒ Disability
☒ Pregnancy/Maternity
☒ Sex

☐ Gender Reassignment
☒ Race
☐ Sexual Orientation

2.3 Are there any gaps in the evidence base?
Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups, include an
equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the assessment without
the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the assessment later. If you are
unable to fill in the gaps, then state this clearly with a justification.
For workforce related proposals all relevant characteristics may not be included in HR diversity reporting (e.g.
pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not known/not
disclosed may require an action to address under-reporting.
Although ALP settings are instructed to record orientation and gender identity, none of the pupil information from
the June 2020 snapshot recorded a pupil as LGBQ+ or transgender. This is potentially due to how providers record
or ask, rather than indicative of no LGBTQ+ pupils, as 7% of year 10 pupils in the 2019 Bristol Pupil Voice survey
identified as gay/lesbian, bisexual or other, and 1% identified as transgender. Consideration will be taken with the
new framework on how best to record this information in future. Recommended templates to use are available:
Why we collect equalities information about our services (sharepoint.com)

More information on the analysis of pupils in ALP will be set out in the Needs Analysis that will accompany the
final version of the Commissioning Strategy currently under development. It will also include an analysis of the
differing experiences of fixed-term exclusions across pupil groups.

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?
You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your assessment.
The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This should usually include
individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics. Please include details of any
completed engagement and consultation and how representative this had been of Bristol’s diverse communities. See
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/people-communities/equalities-groups.
Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above.
If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to Managing change or restructure
(sharepoint.com) for advice on consulting with employees etc. Relevant stakeholders for engagement about
workforce changes may include e.g. staff-led groups and trades unions as well as affected staff.
Engagement has occurred with the following groups:
• Special Schools Head Teachers
• Alternative Provision Heads
• People Scrutiny Commission
• Keeping Bristol Safe Partnership – Education group

Page 114

•

ALP Forum

However, these groups are not representative of Bristol’s diverse communities.

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue?
Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery. Please
describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to undertake it. Include
any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend to undertake it, please set
out your justification. You can ask the Equality and Inclusion Team for help in targeting particular groups.
In addition to the proposed workstreams to deliver against the recommendations in the ALP Review there will be
a cross-cutting co-production workstream. This workstream has two purposes – to co-produce the delivery plan
and, once in the delivery phase, to monitor delivery and ensure new systems and processes are fit for purpose.
There will be four Reference Groups made up of clusters of stakeholders. These groups are:
• Education settings
• Children and young people
• Parents/carers
• Other interested parties
Each of the groups will initially contribute to developing and amending plans for delivery and make sure areas
important to attendees of the groups are covered. Once the Statement of Action is agreed the reference groups
will continue to meet regularly to track progress against the plan, sign off deliverables and provide expert advice
and guidance.
As a starting point BCC has produced a draft ALP Statement of Action. It should be noted the document is not the
final version and is intended as a starting point of the conversation only. Engagement of the Reference Groups will
be at a formative stage as part of co-production, to design the delivery plan before it is agreed.
Key to future engagement is the inclusion of under-represented groups (male/socio-economic/children in
care/CYP with SEND) within the reference groups outlined above. We will seek to ensure future engagement is
diverse.

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact?
Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality Act 2010.
Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking to address or
mitigate through this proposal. See detailed guidance documents for advice on identifying potential impacts etc.
Equality Impact Assessments (EqIA) (sharepoint.com)

3.1 Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people based on their
protected or other relevant characteristics?
Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with combined
characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds of disadvantage.
Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.
GENERAL COMMENTS (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups)
Changes to the ALP system could result in disruption to the education of all CYP attending ALP settings if the
agreed actions in the ALP SOA mandate large changes to the system.
• As the ALP SOA has not yet been finalised, negative impacts will be mitigated through representative
Reference Groups.

Page 115

ALP settings are typically smaller than mainstream school with fewer staff and pupils. There is a risk that children
with protected characteristics could be marginalised within smaller settings.
• All commissioned services will have a contract which will clearly state the duty of the provider to comply
with the Equality Act 2010 including the duty to have due regard to equality objectives. Providers will be
required to develop diversity action plans setting out the equality priorities for their service and action to
achieve those priorities.
The diverse needs of pupils may not be taken into consideration when placing into ALP.
• Purchasing from the ALP framework at KS4 will allow more choice for students.
Lack of staff cultural awareness and diversity may lead to indirect discrimination against protected groups.
• Service specifications will require that all providers’ staff are well trained in equality issues and managing
these behaviours.
• Quality assurance and contract management will include discussion of what providers are doing to tackle
equalities issues.
• Providers forum will encourage more partnership working between professionals and arenas for
discussion of equalities issues.
• Schools and providers should have their own procedures for reporting and acting on discrimination.
We currently lack sexual orientation and religion data about ALP pupils.
• We will require that providers collect and share full equality data for pupils over the age of 13.
There may be a lack of suitable provision to meet the diverse needs of pupils.
• A flexible framework will allow new specialist providers to join the market in response to emerging needs.
PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS
Age: Young People
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐
Potential impacts:
• Disruption to education.
Mitigations:
• Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.
• Easy read versions of documentation.
Age: Older People
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Potential impacts:
Not applicable.
Mitigations:
Disability
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐
Potential impacts:
• Disruption to education.
• The ALP providers forum will allow professionals to share intelligence about
risks affecting groups of girls and boys.
• ALP provisions which are lacking in physical space may provoke feelings of
claustrophobia.
• Children with anxiety and depression have very different needs and will often
require different settings from those with very challenging behaviour.
• Changes of setting may impact on CYP who find it challenging to navigate the
city.
• Some CYP may find it difficult to enter settings if accessible arrangements
aren’t in place.
Mitigations:
• Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.
• Easy read versions of documentation.

Page 116

•

Sex
Potential impacts:

Mitigations:

Sexual orientation
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Pregnancy/Maternity
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Gender reassignment
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Race

Providers will be required to deliver services in accessible locations and make
any reasonable adaptations to comply with the Equality Act 2010 and The
Children and Families Act.
• Individualised placements will be purchased to meet particular needs.
• Monitoring and quality assurance procedures will require providers to evidence
distance travelled outcomes for improving mental and emotional health.
• Outreach from specialist SEMH providers will allow pupils with SEN to be better
supported earlier in mainstream school
• The ALP Providers Forum will be an opportunity to share information about
other services that promote the emotional health and wellbeing of children and
young people with protected characteristics e.g. Freedom Youth LGBTQ service,
and Zazi – a partnership between Off The Record (Bristol) and Nilaari targeting
Black, Asian and minority ethnic/ethnicity young people.
• Home to school travel team to be engaged in placements relating to ALP
settings.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐
• Disruption to education.
• Schools are placing predominantly boys in some vocational ALP settings, and
predominantly girls in others (e.g. vehicle maintenance vs hair and beauty). This
may be stereotyping gendered career choices.
• Some ALP provisions have few pupils of one gender in a cohort of another
gender. This can make it harder for providers to meet their pastoral and
learning needs.
• The location and premises of ALP provision may increase the likelihood of risk
for issues that affect girls and boys differently, such as sexual exploitation,
substance misuse and street conflict.
• Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.
• We will assess whether providers are offering good quality information and
guidance and careers advice.
• We will communicate with ALP providers via the providers forum and market
development events that there is a need for gender neutral options at KS4.
• We will require providers to have robust safeguarding policies and procedures
in place and staff training for all protected characteristics.
• We will require framework providers to have safe, boundaried premises, and
we will consider the availability of nearby public transport links.
• The ALP providers forum will allow professionals to share intelligence about
risks affecting groups of girls and boys.
• Providers will be required to deliver services in accessible locations and make
any reasonable adaptations to comply with the Equality Act 2010 and The
Children and Families Act.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Not applicable.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Not applicable.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Not applicable.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐

Page 117

Potential impacts:
Mitigations:

Religion or
Belief
Potential impacts:

Mitigations:

•
•
•

Disruption to education.
Unconscious bias of staff could stereotype CYP due to their race.
Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.
• Providers forum will help workers to share expertise in cultural awareness and
diversity.
• We will require providers to have robust equality and diversity policies in place
to actively tackle racism and promote inclusion.
• Flexible framework will allow new providers in respond to emerging needs.
• Providers will be required to deliver services in accessible locations and make
any reasonable adaptations to comply with the Equality Act 2010 and The
Children and Families Act.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
•

It may be harder for pupils in a smaller ALP setting to openly express religious
views or observe religious duties because of a pressure to integrate with their
cohort.
• Settings may not have the skills and knowledge to take into account the equity
of all pupil’s religions.
• Monitoring and quality assurance of Providers will address issues such as:
o Observance of religious practice where required.
o Ensuring staff have adequate cultural awareness training.
o Providing a broad and balanced curriculum to ensure pupils have a
diverse education that presents opportunities to share and celebrate a
variety of religious significant dates and events.
• ALP Hub can signpost providers to work with Multi Faith Forums who have
specific youth programmes targeting young people from communities who are
at risk of exclusion.
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒

Marriage &
civil partnership
Potential impacts:
Not applicable.
Mitigations:
OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS
Socio-Economic
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☒ No ☐
(deprivation)
Potential impacts:
• Disruption to education.
Mitigations:
• Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.
Carers
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Potential impacts:
Not applicable.
Mitigations:
Other groups Looked after Children/Care Leavers
Potential impacts:
• Disruption to education.
Mitigations:
• Funding for participation in Reference Group to cover transport and incentives
to attend sessions.

3.2 Does the proposal create any benefits for people based on their protected or other
relevant characteristics?
Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal will
support our Public Sector Equality Duty to:

Page 118

✓ Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group
✓ Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t
✓ Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t
The changes to the ALP system resulting from the ALP Statement of Action will help to ensure that the educational
needs of children and young people (CYP) are met with all CYP in appropriate provision. The key objectives of the
programme of work are to implement a fairer system with improved service user experience and transparent
decision making. This will benefit all CYP including those with protected characteristics.

Step 4: Impact
4.1 How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?
What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings. This
summary can be included in decision pathway reports etc.
If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification showing
how the proposal is proportionate, necessary, and appropriate despite this.
Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified:
Changes to the ALP system have the potential to affect CYP both with and without protected characteristics. As
the ALP SOA has not yet been finalised, negative impacts will be mitigated through representative Reference
Groups.
These groups will co-produce the ALP SOA ensuring their views are incorporated and that the actions included in
the plan reduce any negative impacts on people with protected characteristics. Once the ALP SOA moves into the
delivery phase the Reference Groups will continue to monitor delivery with a focus on reducing negative impacts.
Summary of positive impacts/opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty:
The changes to the ALP system resulting from the ALP Statement of Action will help to ensure that the educational
needs of children and young people (CYP) are met with all CYP in appropriate provision. The key objectives of the
programme of work are to implement a fairer system with improved service user experience and transparent
decision making. This will benefit all CYP including those with protected characteristics.

4.2 Action Plan
Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this.
Improvement/action required
Easy read documentation
Ensure representative Reference Groups
Needs analysis of CYP in full and part time ALP

Responsible Officer
Oliver Buell
Oliver Buell
Alex Bate

Timescale
As required
June 2021
September 2021

4.3 How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?
How will you know if you have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective your approach is still
appropriate.
•
•

Attendance at reference groups.
Survey of participants of reference groups.

Page 119

Step 5: Review
The Equality and Inclusion Team need at least five working days to comment and feedback on your EqIA. EqIAs
should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the equalities
impact of the proposal. Please seek feedback and review from the Equality and Inclusion Team before requesting
sign off from your Director1.

Equality and Inclusion Team Review:

Director Sign-Off:

Date:

Date:

1

Review by the Equality and Inclusion Team confirms there is sufficient analysis for decision makers to consider the
likely equality impacts at this stage. This is not an endorsement or approval of the proposal.

Page 120

Agenda Item 11
People Scrutiny Commission – Report

People Scrutiny
Commission
19 July 2021
Report of:

Alison Hurley – Director, Education and Skills

Title:

Schools Places Update

Ward: All
Officer Presenting Report: Alison Hurley
Contact Telephone Number: 0117 9224682
Recommendations: That the Commission note the report

The significant issues in the report are:
Rising demand for secondary school places and falling demand for primary.

Page 121

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

1. Background
The number of pupils starting Year 7 has been increasing as the primary bulge years move through.
Proportionately fewer Bristol pupils are transferring to schools outside of the city and this has also
increased demand. The increase in pupils starting Year 7 may have been restricted by the
availability of places and could potentially have been higher if more places had been available,
particularly in the east and north of the city. The south has been the area where previously some
places have been available after allocation. For the last 2 years every available place, including
additional places and overallocations, has been allocated.
After a period of rapid growth, the number of children entering primary schools in the Reception
Year has been falling since 2016. This reflects a decline in the birth rate. The slower than expected
development of new housing, particularly in the south of the city, means the additional pupils are
not yet having a significant impact.
2. Context
Overall numbers of pupils registered at schools in Bristol
The total number of pupils registered at schools in Bristol has been increasing. In October 2016,
58,723 pupils were registered, compared to 62,552 in October 2020, with significant increases in
secondary, post-16 and special. The table below shows how these pupils are spread across the
different phases.
Numbers on Roll (October Census)

Year
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020

EYs
3,228
3,119
2,834
3,023
2,802

Primary
35,240
36,069
36,221
36,154
35,869

Secondary
17,047
17,566
18,391
19,187
19,947

Post16
2,268
2,382
2,548
2,625
2,726

Special
834
897
962
1.004
1,119

Pupil
Referral
Unit
(PRU)
106
62
64
71
89

Early Years includes Nursery Classes in Primary Schools
Primary includes ‘all-through’ primary age but not nursery classes
Secondary includes ‘all-through’ secondary age but not post-16
Special and PRU include all ages

Secondary
The number of pupils entering Year 7 has been increasing. There were 3,812 pupils in Year 7 in
October 2016, increasing to 4,416 by October 2020.
For admission in September 2021, on-time 1st preferences for Bristol schools increased by 2%
from 4,465 to 4,553. The number of 1st preference applications from outside the city fell from 330
for 2020 to 262 for 2021.

Page 122

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

Offers for Year 7 places were made on 1st March 2021. 4,524 offers were made for Bristol schools.
With only 4,233 places available within the admission numbers, there were some temporary
increases to Published Admission Numbers (PAN) which state the maximum number of pupils that
the admission authority will admit to each year group, and some over-allocation of places in
expectation of numbers decreasing.
September 2021 Year 7 Offers made on 1st March 2021.
Bristol Resident
1st Preference
2nd Preference
3rd Preference
Non-Preference

3280
493
213
342
4328

Resident
Outside Bristol
160
26
10
n/a
196

Total
3440
519
223
342
4524

92.5% of applicants were offered a preference school, with 76% offered their 1 st preference. 7.5%
were offered a school that was not a preference. For the first time some of these non-preference
offers were for a school outside the city (John Cabot Academy). This was much closer for the
families than any school that could be offered within the city.
The numbers of places required for September 2022 is forecast to increase to around 4,700. As in
previous years, this will require schools to take additional pupils over their Admission Number.
Officers are working closely with academy trusts and schools to ensure enough places are available.
Pupil projections for each area are shown in appendix 1.
Additional ‘Free Schools’
The new Trinity Academy has made a significant difference with 180 more places each year but the
continued delays and uncertainty around the opening of Oasis Temple Quarter has put enormous
pressure on the availability of places in east and parts of north. The good relationships with school
and academy trusts has meant Bristol has continued to meet the statutory duty to provide
sufficient places. Capital investment will be required if there are continued delays to the Temple
Quarter school. The Oasis South Bristol school is scheduled to open in 2023.
Primary
The number of pupils entering Reception has been falling since the peak in 2016 when there were
5,581 pupils on roll, falling to 5,180 by October 2020.
Offers for Reception were made on 16th April 2021. 4,863 offers were made for Bristol schools. This
number is likely to increase as historically late applications increase the numbers requiring a place.
The forecast is that around 5,000 places will be required.
Bristol Resident
1st Preference
2nd Preference
3rd Preference
Non-Preference

4349
342
106
86

Resident
Outside Bristol
63
15
2
n/a

Page 123

Total
4412
357
108
86

People Scrutiny Commission – Report

Total

4883

80

4963

98% were offered a preference school (89% 1st preference). 2% were offered a non-preference
school.
The surplus of places in primary is beginning to cause financial concerns for some schools and
officers are in communication with governing bodies and leaders.
The closure of St Pius X Catholic Primary and the reorganisation of St George and St Michael’s on
the Mount C of E Primary Schools to create the new Willow Park C of E Primary (in the St Michael’s
buildings) will help to reduce surplus capacity.
Additionally, a number of schools have already reduced their planned intake through the annual
admission arrangements process. Where demand is lower, some schools are managing their intake
down temporarily to help with forward planning of staffing. More schools will need to reduce their
intake to avoid having large numbers of surplus places but it is important to retain capacity that can
be brought back in to use if pupil numbers rise again.
Officers are working with schools to identify where excess capacity can be used for other education
priorities, particularly around the need to increase SEND capacity.
The projected requirement for September 2022 is for around 4,800 places. Pupil projections are
shown in appendix 1.
Appendices:
1. Projections for July Scrutiny 2021
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers:
None

Page 124

City of Bristol Primary Reception Year Projection 2020
7000
6000
5000
4000
3000

Page 125

2000
1000
0
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22
PAN

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

2020 Forecast Yr R

City of Bristol

PAN

2020 Forecast
Year R

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

5853
5853
5726
5681
5681
5681
5681

5269
5176
5323
5202
5011
4818
4877

BCC School Place Planning Sept 2020

Secondary - City of Bristol Year 7 Projection 2020
6000
5000
4000
3000
2000
1000

Page 126
0

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23
PAN

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

2026/27

2027/28

2028/29

2020 SCAP Forecast (Year 7)

BCC School Place Planning Sept 2020

City of
Bristol

PAN

2020 SCAP
Forecast (Year 7)

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

4166
4182
4225
4276
4276
4276
4276

4128
4320
4379
4510
4702
4751
4791

Secondary – East Central
2500

8010015

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

PAN

2020 SCAP
Forecast (Year 7)

808
824
747
747
747
747
747

841
878
890
917
956
966
974

BCC School Place Planning Sept 2020

2000
1500
1000
500
0

Page 127

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
PAN

Establishment

Avanti Garden's Academy Bristol
The City Academy Bristol
Bristol Brunel Academy
Colston's Girls' School
Bristol Metropolitan Academy

*SMRT moved from East Central Planning Area to
North

2020 SCAP Forecast (Year 7)

PAN
PAN
PAN
NOR Jan
2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022
2019

52
195
232
165
180
824

0
195
232
140
180
747

0
195
232
140
180
747

45
197
232
168
199
841

NOR Jan
2020

15
215
260
167
221
878

Secondary - North
2500

8010016

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

PAN

2020 SCAP
Forecast (Year 7)

1982
2102
2102
2153
2153
2153
2153

BCC School Place Planning Sept 2020

1829
2136
2165
2230
2325
2349
2369

2000
1500
1000
500
0
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Page 128

PAN

Establishment

Bristol Free School
Orchard School Bristol
Blaise High School (formely Henbury School)
Cotham School
Fairfield High School
St Bede's Catholic College
Redland Green School
Bristol Cathedral Choir School
Oasis Academy Brightstowe
St Mary Redcliffe and Temple School
CST Trinity

2020 SCAP Forecast (Year 7)

PAN
PAN
PAN
NOR Jan NOR Jan
2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2019
2020

200
185
189
243
216
207
216
150
160
216
120
2102

200
185
189
243
216
207
216
150
160
216
120
2102

200
185
180
243
216
207
216
150
160
216
180
2153

201
213
185
243
223
209
232
152
171
219
0
2048

201
184
178
244
214
206
232
150
192
215
120
2136

Secondary - South
2500

8010017

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25

PAN

2020 SCAP
Forecast (Year 7)

1376
1376
1376
1376
1376
1376
1376

BCC School Place Planning Sept 2020

1458
1306
1324
1363
1421
1436
1448

2000

1500

1000

500

0

Page 129

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29
PAN

Establishment

Bridge Learning Campus
Oasis Academy Brislington
Ashton Park School
Bedminster Down School
St Bernadette Catholic Secondary School
Merchants' Academy
Oasis Academy John Williams

2020 SCAP Forecast (Year 7)

PAN
PAN
PAN
NOR Jan
2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2019

180
270
216
216
150
182
162
1376

180
270
216
216
150
182
162
1376

180
270
216
216
150
182
162
1376

121
204
223
220
151
141
179
1239

NOR Jan
2020

115
260
223
214
150
160
184
1306

Agenda Item 12
People Scrutiny Commission – Quarterly performance report

People
Scrutiny Commission
Date: 19 July 2021
Report of: Hugh Evans, People Executive Director
Title: Quarterly Performance Progress Report, (Quarter 4, 2020/21)
Ward: All wards
Officer Presenting Report: Hugh Evans
Contact Telephone Number: 0117 9037856

Recommendation
That Scrutiny note the progress made by Directorate teams against the relevant Key
Performance Indicators (Appendix A1) and that Scrutiny members and Directors discuss
measures to address any performance issues.
The significant issues in the report are:
Highlighted in section 2 below, and noted within the suite of KPIs set out in appendix A1.
Of all People Directorate measures reported this quarter:
- 63% are on or above target
- 59% are performing better than at the same time last year
Note that all Performance Indicators carry something of a ‘health warning’ due to the impacts of
Covid-19; some targets were re-profiled in Q1 to account for the significant impacts of Covid-19,
and these targets will now remain for the duration of the year. However, some indicators have
been more adversely impacted than others during both the Q1 lockdown and subsequent ‘2nd &
3rd waves’, so the headline figures “% meeting target” do not give a full picture of the current
situation.

Page 130

People Scrutiny Commission – Quarterly performance report

1. Summary
This performance progress report and appendix is part of the standard reporting arrangements around
the Bristol City Council (BCC) Corporate Strategy 2018-23 and Business Plan for 2020/21. A number of
measures have been identified as Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to demonstrate delivery for the
People Directorate (set out in Appendix A1), including Business Plan measures (coded BCP) and others
agreed with Directorate leadership teams and Cabinet Members.
Indicators are “RAG rated” alongside management comments indicating progress of actions underway
or planned to bring performance in line with target.
BCC measures and City-wide measures - For 2020/21 we have differentiated between indicators that
are wholly owned by BCC, so are direct measures of our performance, and those where BCC is a key
player but performance is dependent on other partners or factors. Indicators are listed accordingly.
Impact of Covid-19 – Many indicators are significantly affected, and some suspended; where relevant,
targets were adjusted to take account of this. Some indicators have data but are marked as exempt
from performance status for Q4 due to severe impacts. Individual details are in the management
comments (Appendix A1).
2. Context
This report and appendix is designed to standardise a set of Key Performance Indicators and reporting
arrangements around the corporate strategy and Bristol City Council’s business plan. Some areas of
Public Health also report to Communities Scrutiny Commission. In terms of performance in Q4, for the
People Directorate, progress can be summarised as follows:
Performance summary
Taking the available KPI results for the entire People Directorate* this quarter, and noting the BCC /
City-wide differentiation:


63% of all EDM measures (with established targets) are performing on or above target (27 of 43)
o 56% of BCC-only measures (5 of 9)
o 65% of city-wide measures (22 of 34)



59% of all EDM measures (with a comparison from 12 months ago) have improved (23 of 39)
o 75% of BCC-only measures (6 of 8)
o 55% of city-wide measures (17 of 31)

*Some People (Public Health) indicators are also reported to Communities Scrutiny Commission.
Sixteen measures were suspended this year due to the major impact of Covid-19.

Page 131

People Scrutiny Commission – Quarterly performance report

Adult Social Care
 3 x PIs were suspended owing to C-19 and nearly all the others were affected because of the pandemic.
 The increase in the percentage of people accessing Tier 1 and 2 support after they contact Adult Social Care
is below but better than last year’s performance. This can largely be attributed to an increased number of
contacts during C-19 pandemic and the increased offer of community/ volunteer support available. This
measure has been reviewed and a better way of reporting the levels of care provided will be introduced
next quarter.
 Over the year, there was a gradual reduction in the number of Direct Payments which is of concern. The
likelihood is that this is an indirect result of the C-19 pandemic, in that became increasingly difficult to
employ/recruit Personal Assistants. A review of the Direct Payment systems is underway.
Children & Families Service
 One PI was suspended owing to C-19 and at least 2 others have been impacted.
 100% of the performance indicators reported for this service improved on the same period last year. This is
an unprecedented achievement and not seen in over 20 years of reporting performance at this level.
 The percentage children becoming the subject of a child protection plan for a second/subsequent time
(20.4%) has not been at this level since September ’16. This reduction shows the impact of investment and
focus on increasing the sustainability planning and quality of social work interventions, reducing drift and
harm for children.
 Early indications are that the percentage of 17 - 18 year-old care leavers in Employment, Education or
Training will be on or above target when the outturn is reported in Q1.
Educational, & Skills
 9 x PIs have been suspended owing to C-19 and at least 6 others have or will be impacted because of the
pandemic.
 The number of Educational Health Care Plans that are issued within timescales continued to improve
throughout the year. For transparency it is noteworthy that the DfE updated the reporting protocols in year
and the year-end figure will be slightly adjusted to reflect this, when reporting next year’s progress.
 Oddly, the fact that people were under quarantine meant that contacting post-16 young people was made
easier and had a positive impact on the ‘unknowns’ recording, but unfortunately there were fewer
employment and educational places available [This is the lowest level (6.9%) since the performance measure
was introduced 6 years ago].
 The spend of the Apprenticeship Levy is significantly lower than desired and can be directly attributed to
the C-19 pandemic. There are plans in place to improve this over the coming year.
Public Health
 3 x PIs have been suspended owing to C-19 and at least 8 others have been impacted because of the
pandemic.
 Most of the other performance indicators are recorded annually, through the Quality Of Life Survey,
updates and focus on these measures were detailed in the previous quarter’s report, when the data
became available.
 The rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions per 100,000 population has steadily reduced over the year;
there is a concern that as we move out of lockdown and the night-time economy opens this may increase
again.
 The Percentage of people, aged 15 and over, presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection is below the
National average (43.1%). A recent initiative ‘Common Ambition Bristol’ was launched in February and will
focus on the HIV inequalities amongst people of African and Caribbean Heritage, including late diagnosis.
This will hopefully reduce the percentage of cases presenting with HIV, still further.
 The percentage of MMR vaccinations increased and may be one of the few KPIs that benefitted from the C19 pandemic. It raised awareness of the value of vaccinations but there is still much work required to
involve the remaining 12.7% of the population.

Page 132

People Scrutiny Commission – Quarterly performance report

3. Policy
Performance is reported as part of quarterly governance process as soon as possible after gathering
all the necessary data.
4. Consultation
a) Internal
Performance progress has been presented to the People Directorate leadership teams and
Cabinet Members prior to the production of this report.
b) External
Not applicable.
5. Public Sector Equality Duties
5a)

Before making a decision, section 149 Equality Act 2010 requires that each decision-maker
considers the need to promote equality for persons with the following “protected
characteristics”: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion
or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Each decision-maker must, therefore, have due regard to the
need to:
i) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under
the Equality Act 2010.
ii) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular,
to the need to:
- remove or minimise disadvantage suffered by persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic;
- take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
that are different from the needs of people who do not share it (in relation to disabled
people, this includes, in particular, steps to take account of disabled persons'
disabilities);
- encourage persons who share a protected characteristic to participate in public life or in
any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionately low.
iii) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
those who do not share it. This involves having due regard, in particular, to the need to –
- tackle prejudice; and
- promote understanding.

5b)

Not applicable

Appendices:
Appendix A1: Quarterly Performance Progress Update
Appendix A2: A list of short definitions for each measure shown in Appendix A1
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
Background Papers: None

Page 133

Appendix A1

People Directorate – Qtr4 2020/21 Performance Summary
OVERALL SUMMARY:
63% (27) PIs are On or Above target
59% (23) PIs are the same or better than Q4 last year
ADULT SOCIAL CARE

Page 134

Title
BCPB280: Increase the % of people who contact Adult Social Care
and then receive Tiers 1 & 2 services
BCPB281: Average change in level of homecare following shortterm assessment and reablement episode
BCPC278: Percentage of older people at home 91 days after
discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation *
DPEB005a: Increase the percentage of adults receiving direct
payments

Target status

DoT

Below



Above



CHILDREN & FAMILIES SERVICES
Title
BCPC216: Percentage children becoming the subject of a child
protection plan for a second/subsequent time
BCPC217: Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care leavers in EET
(statutory return - recorded around birthday)*

Below



Well Below



EDUCATION & SKILLS
Target status
Title
BCPB225: Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20
Above
weeks including exception cases *
BCPC265a: Increase the amount of Bristol City Council
Well Below
Apprenticeship Levy spent
BCPC263a: Reduce the % of young people of academic age 16 to 17
Well Above
years who are NEET & destination unknown
BCPC266: Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known to
Below
social care, who are in paid employment
BCPC268: Increase the number of adults in low pay work &
Above
receiving benefits accessing in-work support

DoT = 'Direction of Travel' compared to this time last year

Target status

DoT

Well Above



Below

n/a

BCPC248: Number of hate crimes

Below



DPEC011a: Stability of placement of Children in Care: number of
moves

Above



PUBLIC HEALTH
DoT


n/a





Target status
Title
BCPC251: Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions
Below
per 100,000 population
BCPC257: Increase the number of food outlets holding a 'Bristol
On
Eating Better Award' in priority wards
BCPC311: Levels of engagement with community development
Well Above
work
DPEC130: Percentage of people, aged 15 and over, presenting with
Above
HIV at a late stage of infection
DPEC135: Increase the percentage coverage of MMR vaccination
Above
coverage in 5 year olds

DoT







Appendix A1

People EDM - Quarter 4 (1st April - 31 March '21) Performance Outturn Report
Corp Plan
KC ref

Code

Title

Status

+/-

2019/20
Outturn

2020/21
Target

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

Comparison
over last 12
months

Responsible
Manager

Management Notes

Adult Social Care
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
Continued good performance. Reablement has been working with the highest number of people ever
over the last 2 quarters. This due to new faster hospital discharge processes because of the pandemic.
Whilst people are being discharged earlier in the recovery process they are achieving very good
outcomes in relation to maintaining their independence.
Improved since last quarter due to increased contacts at Care Direct. We also know that the actual no
of people accessing tier 1 and 2 is higher as people are supported directly via the voluntary sector, some
services which are commissioned specifically by BCC to provide tier 2 services. We are looking for a
better way of reporting this.
There is a continued reduction in the no of Direct Payments which is concerning. This may be as a result
of Covid -19 and it being more difficult to employ/ recruit Personal Assistants (PAs). There is continued
joint work between care management to improve processes and practise, and commissioning to
increase market offer and availability of provision to support DP holders is actively working to increase
take up. This includes close partnership working with external partners. We are looking at ways to
ensure Direct Payments are easier to manage and more desirable and to improve opportunities to
recruit/ employ PAs.

CV1

BCPB281

Average change in level of homecare following shortterm assessment and reablement episode

EC3

BCPB280

Increase the % of people who contact Adult Social
Care and then receive Tier 1 and 2 services

Below target

+

51.5%

60.0%

62.8%

53.8%

54.5%

55.9%



Stephen Beet

EC3

DPEB005a

Increase the percentage of adults receiving direct
payments

Well below
target

+

25.9%

28.0%

26.7%

25.1%

25.2%

22.4%



Stephen Beet

W1

BCPB279

Improve the monthly Delayed Transfers of Care for
BCC (Delayed Days per 100,000 population)

Data not due

-

295.1 (11/12)

Not set

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Jane Stiddard

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Above target

+

5.3 hrs

5.5 hrs

6.0 hrs

7.4 hrs

6.6 hrs

5.8 hrs



Jayne Clifford

Page 135

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

EC3

BCPC276a

Reduce the permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential and nursing care, per 100,000 population

EC3

BCPC277

Percentage of adult social care service users, who feel
that they have control over their daily life

Well below
target

-

591.2

550

586.1

592.7

620.7

626.8



Stephen Beet

The number for this indicator has increased in the last quarter. However the total no of people over 65
currently in residential/ nursing care has actually reduced by over 10% in the last 12 months. The reason
for the discrepancy is the way this national indicator is recorded (for SALT return) as it includes every
single incident of a new placement which can includes temporary placements. There has been an
increase in temporary placements due to the change in Hospital discharge arrangements and increase
in people leaving hospital into temporary discharge to assess arrangements, many of who return home.
We now have a new PI with a different indicator from April which provides a more accurate figure of
total funded placements.

Data not due

+

74.0%

78.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Stephen Beet

KPI Suspended Covid-19

EC3

BCPC278

% of older people at home 91 days after discharge
from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation *

Below target

+

86.4%

88.0%

84.1%

90.6%

84.4%

See Q3



Jayne Clifford

This performance indicator is reported with a 3 month data lag. We continue to see high referrals in Q3
and much earlier in the persons recovery due to changes in hospital discharge processes in response to
the pandemic. Sadly a significant number of people discharged from hospital in the autumn have
passed away at home before day 91.
Only a few people entered a care home during this period. Slightly below target overall but increased
numbers of people supported, some of who in previous years, may have remained in hospital.

EC3

DPEC004

Increase % of BCC regulated CQC Care Service
providers, where provision is rated 'Good or Better'

Data not due

+

91.3%

91.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Lucia Dorrington

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Children & Families Services
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

EC1

DPEB009

Percentage of Children in Need cases open for more
than 2 years (snapshot figure)

EC1

DPEB013

Child protection plans lasting 2 years or more

Above target

-

9%

8%

8%

8%

8%

7%



Fiona Tudge

1,113 children in need aged under 18 were open to teams other than Through Care on 31/03/2021. Of
these, 80 had been open for 2 years or more. There has been a focus on ensuring there is purposeful
intervention and that we are not intervening in children's lives any longer than we need to. Children
open for more than 2yrs are reviewed in performance clinics to ensure there is no drift.

Well above
target

-

3.2%

1.1%

0.0%

0.0%

0.4%

0.3%



Becky Lewis

342 Child Protection Plans ended between 01/04/2020 and 31/03/2021. Of these, 1 had lasted for two
years or more. This reflects work by the service to reduce drift for children to ensure they are living in
circumstances which meet the threshold for significant harm for the lowest possible time.

Corp Plan
KC ref

EC1

Code

DPEB014

Title

Percentage of Missing Children, offered a return
interview

Status

Above target

+/-

+

2019/20
Outturn

90.3%

2020/21
Target

90.0%

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

87.1%

86.7%

81.9%

90.8%

Comparison
over last 12
months



Responsible
Manager

Becky Lewis

Management Notes
In 199/219 episodes children were offered a missing return conversation. There is a lag on some of this
data being reflected in the data reports due to the missing return conversation not being finalised on
LCS. This is because for children who went missing at the end of the month there can be time delay as
the services try to engage them with the service and an issue with recording delays therefore this data
has been pulled and triangulated from both LCS and the missing from care monitoring. Bristol ensures
that attempts to engage children around missing are not tokenistic.

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

Page 136

EC1

BCPC216

EC1

DPEC007

Percentage of Pathway Plans are reviewed on a six
monthly basis or less

Above target

+

75.3%

87.0%

85.3%

92.4%

80.8%

87.3%



Maria Finlayson

EC1

DPEC010

Percentage of Repeat Referrals to children's social
work

Well above
target

-

27.0%

25.0%

27.7%

24.2%

20.4%

21.5%



Fiona Tudge

935 referrals were received between 01/01/2021 and 31/03/2021. Of these, 201 had a previous referral
in the preceding 12 months. There has been a focus on practice and process to reduce the number of re
referrals. The current figure is now in line with national and regional benchmarking.

EC1

DPEC011a

Stability of placement of Children in Care: number of
moves

Above target

-

9.3%

9.0%

9.1%

8.8%

8.9%

8.1%



Tara Parsons

639 children were looked after on 31/03/2021. Of these, 52 had 3 or more placements in the previous
12 months.

EC1

DPEC011b

Improve the stability of placement of Children in Care:
Above target
length of placement

+

72%

72%

72%

75%

75%

73%



Tara Parsons

254 children had been looked after for 2.5 years or more on 31/03/2021. Of these, 185 had been in their
current placement for 2 years or more.

Fiona Tudge

54 children aged 13 to 17 entered care between 01/04/2020 and 31/03/2021. Of these, 5 are children
held On Remand and 15 are UASC. There has been an increase in the number of adolescents entering
care particularly since Jan 2021 and this is attributed to increased family tensions and concerns of extra
familial harm impacted by Covid 19. A prevention of care panel has been established to ensure all
support to family has been explored and look to creative solutions to support the family. All adolescents
coming into care require the permission of the HoS and are reviewed on a monthly basis.

EC1

DPEC018

Reduce the number of adolescents (aged 13-17) who
need to enter care

Well above
target

-

27.4%

24.0%

21.6%

22.2%

23.3%

20.4%



Becky Lewis

260 Child Protection Plans started between 01/04/2020 and 31/03/2021. Of these, 53 had a previous
plan at any time. This reduction shows the impact of investment and focus on increasing the
sustainability planning and quality of social work interventions, reducing drift and harm for children.
This is below stat neighbours and in line with the England average.
There were 314 care leavers aged under 21 with open referrals on 31 March 2021, of these 274 have a
pathway plan completed in the previous 6 months. This is above target. This is the first time in six years
that this KPI has finished the year above target. There has been focussed work over this period to meet
timely completion of Pathway Plans for our care leavers.

Percentage children becoming the subject of a child
protection plan for a second/subsequent time

Well below
target

-

n/a

27

n/a

n/a

35

39

n/a

FI3

BCPC217

Improve the % of 17 - 18 year old care leavers in EET
(statutory return - recorded around birthday)*

Below target

+

73%

72%

71%

70%

69%

See Q3

n/a

James Beardall,
Maria Finlayson

FI3

DPEC019

Improve the % of 19 - 21 year old care leavers in EET
(statutory return - recorded around birthday)*

Below target

+

62.2%

70.0%

57.0%

63.0%

66.0%

See Q3

n/a

James Beardall,
Maria Finlayson

FI4

BCPC248

Increase the number of hate crimes reported

FI4

DPEC016

Percentage of youths (aged 10-17) who reoffend in
the last 12 months

FI4

DPEC017

Number of first time entrants to the youth justice
system aged 10-17 (per 100,000 population)

This performance indicator reports with a 3-month data lag. Of the 55 Care Leavers aged 17 and 18
whose birthdays fell in the report period 1 Apr 2020 to 31 Dec 2020, 38 were EET at the time of the
'Birthday Contact'. This measure does not include 5 young people who are recorded as being Returned
Home or Deceased.
This target is 72% and this last year has remained around 70%, although below target this is higher than
statistical neighbours and the England average. EET monitoring is carried out by managers both to
consider engagement and improvement. REBOOT has secured further funding to continue to work with
care leavers to support them into EET or to improve their EET. Early indications are that the Q4 outturn
will be 72%.
This performance indicator reports with a three-month data lag. Of the 230 Care Leavers aged 19 and 21
whose birthdays fell in the report period 1 Apr 2020 to 31 Dec 2020, 151 were ETE at the time of the
'Birthday Contact'. This measure does not include 21 young people who are recorded as being Returned
Home or Deceased. This KPI is below target by 4% at 66%. Although below target this is higher than
statistical neighbours and the England average and has steadily increased from 57% in quarter 1. EET
monitoring is carried out by managers both to consider engagement and improvement. REBOOT has
secured further funding to continue to work with care leavers to support them into EET or to improve
their EET.

Below target

+

1,902

1,950

490

1,142

1,521

1,940



Clare Sims

Reported hate crime for this quarter has continued to increase - although 10 under target this is
considered as a positive in that reporting continues at a higher rate. Disability & gender reported hate
crimes are significantly lower than last year - this may be directly linked to Covid-19 lockdown
restrictions impacting on this data in so far as reporting and/or actual incidents occurring.

Well above
target

-

38.2%

38.0%

25.6%

27.7%

31.1%

See Q3



Gary Davies

The most recent figure from the 105 Final YDS published in March 2021 was 31.1%. This figure relates to
the Oct 18 - Dec 18 cohort who are then tracked to identify reoffending and was used for Q3. We are
currently waiting an updated figure to report for Q4, which is due to be published in late May 2021.

Data not due

-

330

330

319

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Gary Davies,
Justine Leyland

Updated figure for Q4 is due to be published in late May 2021.

Corp Plan
KC ref

Code

Title

Status

+/-

2019/20
Outturn

2020/21
Target

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

Comparison
over last 12
months

Responsible
Manager

Management Notes

Education & Skills
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

FI2

FI2

FI2

BCPB225

BCPB264

BCPB265a

Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within
20 weeks including exception cases *

Increase the total number of apprenticeships created
and managed by Bristol City Council

Increase the amount of Bristol City Council
Apprenticeship Levy spent

Above target

Below target

+

+

1.5%

527

20.0%

527

Well below
target

+

n/a

£1,000,000

Data not due

+

94.7%

n/a

7.4%

487

14.8%

483

19.3%

489

20.4%

499

£151,164 £318,496 £515,120 £647,299

Mary Taylor

Between January and December 2020, 724 EHC plans were finalised including exception cases. Of these
148 were completed within the 20 week statutory timescale. In Q4 (Oct - Dec), 153 plans were finalised
of which 38 were in timescale. Please note that the DfE methodology for this KPI has changed to
exclude plans issued after a mediation and/or tribunal. The new methodology changes the timeliness to
21.5%

Darren Perkins

Anticipated ongoing growth delayed in 2020 due to COVID lockdown and cessation of new starts
between March and September and a high % of apprentices completing programmes. Current rate of
new starts slightly exceeding completions and we have good levels of interest in BCC and On Site Bristol
schemes - the latter is seasonal and so will see an overall reduction in numbers in Q1/Q2 2021 followed
by a new intake of 80 or more September 21. With Public Sector Duty confirmed as 2.3% of staff starting
apprenticeships in 2021/22 £ year and joint working with HR and OD plus

n/a

Darren Perkins

Total Contributions 2020/1 were £1.23million versus spend £647,299 (53%) which remains significantly
lower than anticipated. This reflects the cessation of new apprenticeships starts until late autumn,
delays in achievements and an increasing number of programmes that have ceased. A lag in providers
claiming funding for starts in Q4 has impacted year end outcome but current projections show that
2021/2 spend will be a minimum of £885k Since 1st August 20 an incentive scheme to assist new
employees through apprenticeship training is in place but the Council has not yet been able to take full
advantage of this scheme due to significantly reduced levels of external recruitment - particularly
around entry level roles. Levy sharing through transfer will increase in 2021/2 and we expect this to
contribute an additional £100k spend.

n/a

Lesley O'Hagan

Suspended owing to C-19
The DfE have recently classified this data as 'Official-Sensitive' and may not be published.

Paul Gaunt

The pandemic has had a significant effect on the city's unemployment claimant count seeing a rise from
Feb 2020 (8345 / 2.6% of the 16-64 year old population) to Feb 2021 (19,850 - 6.5%). We have secured
additional funding through DWP to establish a new One Front Door employment support service to
mitigate the impact of this significant rise. The programme will see collaboration between all existing
employment support programmes across the City and will provide a triage service into them and
additional support for individuals and employers from other agencies.



Richard Hanks

The Early Years team has reviewed DWP information for 1,679 children who will be eligible in the
autumn term. Through targeted support 64% of these families have now applied for places. Further
work is on-going to increase this further. Fliers and information have been provided to key LA teams in
education and social care to promote the offer. The offer has also been publicised on BCC Twitter and
Facebook accounts as well as through the Family Information Service. The team have identified some
localised hotspots are liaising with family support leads to target families and increase take-up.
Inclusion officers have also worked with families where a child is receiving the Disability Living
Allowance. Almost every child is now expected to access their place.





City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

Page 137

CV1

CV2

BCPC245c Improve the Bristol Schools' pupil attendance rate

BCPC041

EC1

BCPC222

EC1

BCPC223

EC1

BCPC244

EC2

BCPC245

FI2

BCPC230a

FI2
FI2

Improve the overall employment rate of working age
population

Increase the take-up of free early educational
entitlement by eligible 2 year olds

Percentage of children achieving a good level of
development at Early Years Foundation Stage
Key Stage 4: Improve the Average Attainment 8 score
for Children in Care pupils
Improve the Bristol Schools' pupil attendance rate

KS2 - Increase the % of pupils achieving the expected
standard in reading, writing and maths
KS2 - increase the % of disadvantaged pupils, at KS2,
BCPC230b
achieving the expected standard in RWM
Key Stage 4: Improve the Average Attainment 8 score
BCPC231a
per pupil

Above target

+

76.7%

70.0%

n/a

76.3%

n/a

76.0%

n/a

75.6%

n/a

75.8%

Annual
Annual
Measure Measure
See Q2
See Q2



Below target

+

64.0%

66.0%

n/a

62.0%

Data not due

+

70.6%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Data not due

+

16.0 points

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Rachael Pryor

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Data not due

+

94.70%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Lesley O'Hagan

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Data not due

+

65%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Data not due

+

49%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Data not due

+

45.3 points

46.0 points

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

FI2

BCPC231d

Key Stage 4: Attainment 8 - Reduce the Points gap
between the Disadvantaged and Non-Disadvantaged

Data not due

-

16.4 points

17.0 points

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

FI2

BCPC246

Increase percentage of schools and settings rated
'Good' or better by Ofsted (all phases) (OCP)

Data not due

+

n/a

80%

79%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Richard Hanks

KPI Suspended Covid-19

Corp Plan
KC ref

Code

Title

Status

+/-

2019/20
Outturn

2020/21
Target

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

Comparison
over last 12
months

Responsible
Manager

FI3

BCPC263a

Reduce the % of young people of academic age 16 to
17 years who are NEET & destination unknown

Well above
target

-

15.0%

15.0%

14.5%

16.3%

11.3%

6.9%



Delyse Taylor

FI3

BCPC270

Increase experience of work opportunities for priority
groups

Above target

+

5,131

2,500

271

683

1,327

2,570



Delyse Taylor

WC3

BCPC266

Increase % of adults with learning difficulties known to
Below target
social care, who are in paid employment

+

5.2%

6.0%

5.2%

5.2%

5.2%

5.3%



Paul Gaunt

WC3

BCPC268

Increase the number of adults in low pay work &
receiving benefits accessing in-work support

+

820

820

97

289

501

845



Paul Gaunt

Above target

Management Notes
NEET and NK figure reduced from tracking activities and completing the transfer of young people from
Bristol to neighbouring local authorities.
Cumulative data is 2,570 for the year . During this the quarter there has been more schools opening for
delivery either via virtual or face to face. During this period there was also the national careers and
apprenticeship weeks that had a variety of activities and events - many of these focused with activities
for the SEND cohorts. It is hoped with the reopening that the face to face BCC Work experience offer
will become available again in the coming months
For the majority of the year we were unable to deliver employment support for people with learning
difficulties on a face to face basis due to the pandemic however we were able to run a limited online
service. Furthermore the pandemic had a knock on effect with our supported internship programmes
due to host employers complying to Covid restrictions.
We are hoping to see a significant improvement in the coming year as we emerge from lockdown. In
January 2021, we launched our brand new £4.5m, three year ESF / WECA / LA funded WE WORK for
Everyone programme which provides specialist employment support for people with learning difficulties
/ disabilities. This three year £4.5m West of England initiative will support 2,444 people in their journey
towards and into paid work.
Our Future Bright in work support programme continued to deliver to profile. The second phase of the
programme, funded through WECA launched March 2021 and we have received a grant of £1.54m to
continue the programme for a further three years.

Public Health
Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

Page 138

W4

BCPB253

Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure
centres and swimming pools

Data not due

+

2,373,178

695,145

0

171,613

399,343

399,343
(Dec '20)

n/a

Guy Fishbourne,
Katharine Moran

Although the actual numbers initially appeared to be exceeding the target, another national
coronovirus lockdown in November and the announcement of Bristol being in "tier 3" following the
lockdown has had a considerable impact on the totals going forward. The attendances however, were
well ahead of target and remain ahead, without adding the November data. December will see a natural
dip in attendances. A third national lockdown at the start of January has seen all leisure facilities closed
until April 12th, and therefore there is no increase in attendances for Q4.

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:
CV1

BCPC259

New COVID19 cases occurring in the final 7 days of the
Target not set
month per 100,000 population

-

New KPI
2020/21

Not Set

2.2

38.2

343.3

37.1

n/a

Anne Colquhoun

EC4

BCPC311

Levels of engagement with community development
work

Well above
target

+

8,000

3,000

0

1,041

2,447

4,394



Penny Germon

EC4

BCPC312

Increase % respondents who volunteer or help out in
their community at least 3 times a year (QoL)

Above target

+

47.6%

44.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

47.2%



Penny Germon

EC4

BCPC314

Reduce the percentage of people who lack the
information to get involved in their community (QoL)

Below target

-

27.8%

28.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

30.5%



Penny Germon

FI4

BCPC324

Increase the percentage of people who feel they
belong to their neighbourhood (QoL)

Above target

+

62.0%

60.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

62.8%



Penny Germon

FI4

BCPC327

Reduce the percentage of people who have noted
“mainly negative effects” from gentrification (QoL)

W1

BCPC250

Reduce the percentage of people in Bristol who report
below national average Mental Wellbeing (QoL)

W1

BCPC251

Reduce the rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions
Below target
per 100,000 population

Above target

-

21.4%

25.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

24.7%



Penny Germon

Well below
target

-

14.7%

14.7%

n/a

n/a

n/a

19.7%



Sally Hogg

-

916

839

919

881

864

845



Leonie Roberts

Case rates have fallen dramatically since January, with Bristol's rate now significantly below England
rate. Vaccination programme in Bristol is going well with over 86% of over 50's having had at least one
dose and 43% of all adults having had at least one dose.
This is down on least year because of the adjustment made at the start of 20/21 for anticipated Covid
19 impact. The outturn is very positive. Despite focussing on Covid-19 community support the team has
managed to exceed their target in community building conversations for the year. Significant progress
has been made in the last quarter where there has been a real focus on building on the Covid-19
community response for medium and long term resilience.
This is above the target which is likely due to the Covid-19 community response. The target is down on
last year in anticipation of the impact of Covid-19 and that much of the usual volunteering activity has
ceased.
This reflects the impact of Covid 19, the move to online and the stopping of many information and
community networks and social spaces. Both, Bristol City Council and the voluntary, community and
social enterprise sector Community Development work stopped in order to deliver the Covid-19
community response & relief effort.
This is a positive result and is likely to reflect the increase connection with neighbours due to the
pandemic.
Negative effects tend to be increased living costs, house and rent prices and cultural disconnect/feeling
excluded, changes in the local amenities. Covid 19 has increased neighbourly and community
connections, possibly there has been less movement of people. This may correlate with the
improvement in residents satisfied with where they live.
The figure is the same as that reported in 2018. Community wellbeing is a major public health challenge,
which is likely to be worse due to the effect of Covid-19. Plans are in place to address mental health
wellbeing.
There has been a downward trend in alcohol related admissions over the last year. There is a reduction
in the rate of alcohol-related admissions in Bristol in the last quarter. As we move out of lockdown and
the night time economy opens up this may increase again.

Corp Plan
KC ref

Code

Title

Status

2019/20
Outturn

2020/21
Target

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

Comparison
over last 12
months

Responsible
Manager

Management Notes

Guy Fishbourne

QoL 2020 data just out shows that this indicator is only 0.1% lower than the 19/20 target, and above the
20/21 target by 16.5% points. Targets for 20/21 (reaching 70% of previous target figures) were set based
on the insight and predictions of the leisure industry in light of the Coronavirus pandemic.
The Covid 19 pandemic has had a huge impact on people having access to sport and physical activity
opportunities with the first national lockdown in March, and all leisure facilities being closed. The slight
decrease is likely to be a combination of the restrictions in place to make leisure 'Covid safe' places for
customers on reopening, not all facilities reopening and peoples personal circumstances. We are
working closely with our leisure operators and Sport England to understand what we can do to support
the recovery of leisure and physical activity for Bristol.



Jo Williams

This Q4 figure actually relates to Q3 data which is the Latest statistic available. Indicator reported one
quarter in arrears due to 2-month reporting delay. This figure reflects the intensive support and extra
initiatives put in place as part of the Covid-19 response through our commissioned health visiting and
breastfeeding support services.

n/a

Anne Colquhoun,
Jo Williams

KPI Suspended Covid-19

BCPC255

Increase % of people living in the most deprived areas
who do enough regular exercise each week(QoL)

W1

DPEC123

Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks as a percentage of all
children with a known feeding status

Above target

+

69.9%

70.0%

69.9%

70.1%

69.6%

70.3%

W1

DPEC126

Increase the percentage of target schools who have
achieved one or more healthy schools awards

Data not due

+

27.8%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

W1

DPEC130

Percentage of people, aged 15 and over, presenting
with HIV at a late stage of infection

Above target

-

43.4%

42.4%

n/a

n/a

n/a

39.6%



Joanna Copping

W1

DPEC135

Increase the percentage coverage of MMR vaccination
Above target
coverage in 5 year olds

+

86.0%

86.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

87.3%



Jo Williams

W1

DPEC140

Reduce the Suicide Rate, per 100,000 population

Below target

-

11

11

n/a

n/a

n/a

11.4



Leonie Roberts

W3

BCPC249

Prevalence of child excess weight in 10-11 year-olds

Data not due

-

31.3%

34.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Jo Williams

The National Child Measurement Programme has remained paused since March 2020 due to Covid 19,
and has not been restarted in January 2021. National data for 2019/20 is however now available.

W1

Well above
target

+/-

+

55.3%

38.7%

n/a

n/a

n/a

55.2%



Page 139

Lastest data (published December 20) gives a late diagnosis rate of 39.6% (national rate is 43.1%). Fast
Track Cities work has continued despite Covid, and a new project Common Ambition Bristol is about to
launch in February. This will aim to address HIV inequalties amongst people of African and Caribbean
Heritage, including late diagnosis.
There has been a slight increase in uptake despite the restrictions as a result of Covid. There was
increased effort to offer vaccinations that were easily accessible. It may also be that because there was
much publicity about the importance of vaccination for Covid, this may have had a beneficial effect on
the take up of other vaccinations. There is still work to do in terms of where low uptake is and how we
can promote vaccinations to the families that are still reluctant.
The suicide rate has not changed significantly over the last year despite the challenges of Covid-19. The
ambition is for the suicide rate to be below 11.

W3

BCPC257

Increase the number of food outlets holding a 'Bristol
Eating Better Award' in priority wards

On Target

+

29

35

n/a

34

n/a

35



Grace Davies

The third wave of the pandemic, which led to a full national lockdown has continued to affect trading
for food businesses. This has had continued to impact on BEBA uptake. There have been no further
Early Years or school awards. The figures above represent the total number of BEBA settings held. This
includes a number who are due for revalidation of the award. Revalidation of the award has been
delayed due to Covid and the limited capacity for businesses, as well as reduced capacity within the PH
team to be able to administer this.
However, as lock down is easing we are contacting and revalidating all businesses as appropriate and
are working to a comms plan that is currently concentrating on improving the website and increasing
promotion through social media. We are linking with other departments and organisations – such as the
food safety and GfG team at Bristol Food Network to include BEBA promotion in their correspondence
and newsletters.
However, we are aware that many businesses in the eating out sector are still not open as they do not
have any outside space, or have decided it is not financially viable to open at this stage. We must
therefore progress sensitively in this.
Other developments have included setting up a BEBA steering group, which has met once and will meet
quarterly. Many opportunities have been highlighted here to support and better promote the award
such as through procurement opportunities in the council and introducing rigour by developing an
auditing process. It is expected that the Early Years BEBA will be launched later this year.

W3

BCPC258

Reduce the percentage of households which have
experienced moderate or worse food insecurity (QoL)

Well above
target

-

5.0%

7.2%

n/a

n/a

n/a

4.2%



Sally Hogg

This result is likely to be a result of the work that was put in place as part of the Covid-19 community
response to ensuring access to food across the city. It will be interesting to compare with next years QoL
findings.

Corp Plan
KC ref

Code

Title

Status

+/-

2019/20
Outturn

2020/21
Target

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Progress Progress Progress Progress

Comparison
over last 12
months

Responsible
Manager

Management Notes

W4

BCPC256

Increase the % of adults in deprived areas who play
sport at least once a week (QoL)

Well above
target

+

33.1%

23.2%

n/a

n/a

n/a

27.5%



Guy Fishbourne

QoL 2020 data just out shows that this indicator is 5.6% lower than the 19/20 target, and above the
20/21 target by 4.3% points. Targets for 20/21 (reaching 70% of previous target figures) were set based
on the insight and predictions of the leisure industry in light of the Coronavirus pandemic.
The Covid 19 pandemic has had a huge impact on people having access to sport and physical activity
opportunities with the first national lockdown in March, and all leisure facilities being closed. The
decrease is likely to be a combination of the restrictions in place to make leisure 'Covid safe' places for
customers on reopening, not all facilities reopening and peoples personal circumstances. We are
working closely with our leisure operators and Sport England to understand what we can do to support
the recovery of leisure and physical activity for Bristol.

WC3

BCPC323

Increase % of people who see friends and family as
much as they want to (QoL)

Above target

+

82.1%

70.0%

n/a

n/a

n/a

73.2%



Penny Germon

This is a positive result. We believe this reflects the fact that people were more home-based and
needed to help out friends and family more as well as the ease of online connection for those who have
access to it.

Page 140

Progress Key
Well Above Target
Above Target
On Target
Below Target
Well Below Target

Improvement Key



Direction of travel IMPROVED compared to same period in the previous
year

=

SAME as previous same period in the previous year



Direction of travel WORSENED compared to same period in the previous
year

Page 141

Corporate Strategy - Key Commitments
Empowering & Caring
Give our children the best start in life by protecting and developing children’s centre services, being great corporate parents and protecting children from exploitation or harm.
EC1
Reduce the overall level of homelessness and rough sleeping, with no-one needing to spend a ‘second night out’.
EC2
Provide ‘help to help yourself’ and ‘help when you need it’ through a sustainable, safe and diverse system of social care and safeguarding provision, with a focus on early help and intervention.
EC3
Prioritise community development and enable people to support their community.
EC4
Fair & Inclusive
Make sure that 2,000 new homes (800 affordable) are built in Bristol each year by 2020.
FI1
Improve educational outcomes and reduce educational inequality, whilst ensuring there are enough school places to meet demand and with a transparent admissions process.
FI2
Develop a diverse economy that offers opportunity to all and makes quality work experience and apprenticeships available to every young person.
FI3
Help develop balanced communities which are inclusive and avoid negative impacts from gentrification.
FI4
Wellbeing
Embed health in all our policies to improve physical and mental health and wellbeing, reducing inequalities and the demand for acute services.
W1
Keep Bristol on course to be run entirely on clean energy by 2050 whilst improving our environment to ensure people enjoy cleaner air, cleaner streets and access to parks and green spaces.
W2
Tackle food and fuel poverty.
W3
Keep Bristol a leading cultural city, helping make culture, sport and play accessible to all.
W4
Well-Connected
Improve physical and geographical connectivity; tackling congestion and progressing towards a mass transit system.
WC1
Make progress towards being the UK’s best digitally connected city.
WC2
Reduce social and economic isolation and help connect people to people, people to jobs and people to opportunity.
WC3
Work with cultural partners to involve citizens in the ‘Bristol’ story, giving everyone in the city a stake in our long-term strategies and sense of connection.
WC4
Workplace Organisational Priorities
Redesign the council to work effectively as a smaller organisation.
WOP1
Equip our colleagues to be as productive and efficient as possible.
WOP2
Make sure we have an inclusive, high-performing, healthy and motivated workforce.
WOP3
Be responsible financial managers and explore new commercial ideas.
WOP4

Appendix A2

Defintions and reporting timescales for Performance Indicators
2020/21 People: Adult Social Care
PI ref

Measure

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:

BCPB279

BCPB280

Improve the monthly Delayed Transfers of Care for BCC (Delayed Days per
100,000 population)

Increase the percentage of people who contact Adult Social Care and then receive
Tiers 1 & 2 services

BCPB281

Average change in level of homecare following short‐term assessment and
reablement episode

DPEB005a

Increase the percentage of adults receiving direct payments

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the number of Delayed Days of care, during the reporting period, of Acute and Non‐Acute, for
NHS Organisations in England by the responsible organisation. (EXCLUDING NHS CASES AND WHERE BOTH
were CULPABLE) Divided 100,000 population... Therefore, ‐ Social Care delays ONLY. Occasionally the latest
monthly data from NHS England is delayed and in those instances the month indicated in brackets.

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

There is a count of count of requests for Adult Social Care support requests and also a record of how many
were either signposted to alternate support or provided with lower level support. The inverse percentage
being the percentage of requests for support that went onto recieve the higher levels of support.
Performance is reported on a quarter by quarter basis e.g. Q1 ‐ 55%, Q2 58% etc

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

For cases where the service user completed an episode of STAR service during the month, the average change
in level of homecare between the intial level of homecare in Short Term Assessment and Reablement (STAR)
and the subsequent follow‐on homecare package

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the proportion of service users who receive a direct payment either through a personal budget

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This is a two part‐measure reflecting the number of younger adults (part 1) and older people (part 2) whose
long‐term support needs are best met by admission to residential and nursing care homes relative to the
population size of each group. The measure compares council records with ONS population estimates.
Performance is reported on a quarter by quarter basis e.g. Q1 ‐ 55%, Q2 58% etc

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:

BCPC276a

Reduce the permanent admissions aged 65+ to residential and nursing care, per
100,000 population

BCPC277

Increase the percentage of adult social care service users, who feel that they have
control over their daily life

BCPC278

Increase the percentage of older people at home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement/rehabilitation *

DPEC003

Average change in level of homecare following short‐term assessment and
reablement episode

DPEC004

Increase % of BCC regulated CQC Care Service providers, where provision is rated
'Good or Better'

Annual
(Survey)
Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3
months in arrears)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

Performance is recorded as a result of service users survey questionnaires, compiled throughout the year and
reported at year end.
Performance is reported with a 3 month data lag owing to the way the statutory measure is recorded. It
records the proportion of older people aged 65 and over discharged from hospital to their own home or to a
residential or nursing care home or extra care housing for rehabilitation, with a clear intention that they will
move on/back to their own home (including a place in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme
setting), who are at home or in extra care housing or an adult placement scheme setting 91 days after the
date of their discharge from hospital.
For cases where the service user completed an episode of STAR service during the month, the average change
in level of homecare between the intial level of homecare in Short Term Assessment and Reablement (STAR)
and the subsequent follow‐on homecare package.
The calculation is: (x ‐ y) / z, where x is total hours in follow‐on package, y is total hours at start of STAR and z
is the number of cases, all applying to STAR episodes completed in the month
This monitors on a quarterlt snap‐shot basis thise Adult Care Services regulated by CQC, in Bristol..eg:
• Care Homes
• Home Care
• Some Supported Living
The formula is: (X/Y)x100
Where x = Number of registered Care Service providers whose CQC rating is good or better
Where y = Total number of registered Care Service providers

2020/21 People: Children & Families Services
PI ref

Measure

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
DPEB014

Percentage of Missing Children, offered a return interview

Monthly
(Snapshot)

The percentage of all children who went missing and were entitled to a Return Interview were offered a
return interview and recorded accurately on the LCS database.

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:
BCPC216

Percentage children becoming the subject of a child protection plan for a
second/subsequent time

BCPC217

Improve the % of 17 ‐ 18 year old care leavers in EET (statutory return ‐ recorded
around birthday)*

BCPC248

Number of hate crimes

DPEC007

Percentage of Pathway Plans are reviewed on a six monthly basis or less

DPEC010

Percentage of Repeat Referrals to children's social work

DPEC011a

Stability of placement of Children in Care: number of moves

Quarterly
(Cumulative)
Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3
months in arrears)
Quarterly
(Cumulative)
Quarterly
(Cumulative)
Quarterly
(Snapshot)

Quarterly
(Rolling 12 month
period)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

The percentage of children who became subject to a Child Protection Plan at any time during the year, who
had previously been the subject of a Child Protection Plan, or on the Child Protection Register of that council
regardless of how long ago that was.
Performance is reported with a 3 month data lag owing to the way the statutory measure is recorded. The
percentage of former care leavers aged 17 ‐ 18 who were looked after under any legal status (excl V3 or V41)
on 1 April in their 17th year, who were in education, employment or training. These figures also include those
care leavers who we are not in contact with.
Hate Crime data recorded by Avon & Somerset Police
Percentage of open pathway plans that are reviewed within 6 months of previous review of all open pathway
plans.
The percentage is calculated as the number of referrals that were repeat referrals (within 12 months) for the
last year / Number of referrals to children’s social care for the last year.
X = Of the children looked after in the denominator, the number who had three or more separate placements
during the year.
Y = The total number of children who were looked after at 31 March, excluding any children who were looked
after on that date under an agreed series of short term‐placements (under the provisions of Reg. 13 of the
Arrangement for Placement of Children (General) Regulations, 1991).
A child being placed for adoption with their existing foster carers is not included as a change of placement for
the purposes of this indicator.
X = Of y, all who have been living in the same placement for at least two years, i.e. at 31 March they have been
in the same placement continuously for more than 729 days inclusive of 31 March. Children who are placed
for adoption at 31 March are now only to be included in the numerator if their previous care placement, plus
the adoptive placement have together lasted more than 729 days.
Y = All children aged under 16 on 31 March of the year of measurement who had been looked after for 2.5
years or more (i.e. for more than 912 days inclusive of 31 March) on 31 March of the year of measurement.
Exclude children who had been looked after at any time during the 2.5 year period under an agreed series of
short term‐placements (under the provisions of Reg. 13 of the Arrangement for Placement of Children
(General) Regulations, 1991).

DPEC011b

Improve the stability of placement of Children in Care: length of placement

DPEC016

Percentage of youths (aged 10‐17) who reoffend in the last 12 months

Quarterly
(Rolling 12 month
period)

Youth re‐offending rate is reported Qtly on a rolling year... 2 years in arrears (most up‐to‐date data).
Therefore Q3 19/20 will report Q3 17/18.

DPEC017

Number of first time entrants to the youth justice system aged 10‐17 (per 100,000
population)

Quarterly
(Snapshot & 3
months in arrears)

Local targets to be set as a rate per 100,000 therefore the number of FTE per 100,000 =
x / y x 100,000
Where:
x = number of first time entrants in a local area
and
y = local 10 – 17 population based on ONS stats

DPEC018

Reduce the number of adolescents (aged 13‐17) who need to enter care

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

Count of the number of children aged between 13 & 17 who are taken into care, for any reason.

Page 142

PI ref

DPEC019

Measure
Improve the % of 19 ‐ 21 year old care leavers in EET (statutory return ‐ recorded
around birthday)*

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3
months in arrears)

Performance is reported with a 3 month data lag owing to the way the statutory measure is recorded. The
percentage of former care leavers aged 19 ‐ 21 who were looked after under any legal status (excl V3 or V41)
on 1 April in their 19th year, who were in education, employment or training. These figures also include those
care leavers who we are not in contact with.

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

2020/21 People: Education & Skills
PI ref

Measure

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
Percentage of children achieving a good level of development at Early Years
Foundation Stage

Annual
Percentage of children achieving a good level of development at Early Years Foundation Stage. The level of
(Previous Academic
development is a measure of the average of the cohort's total point score across all the early learning goals.
year)

BCPB225

Increase the percentage of Final EHCPs issued within 20 weeks including
exception cases *

Quarterly
(Cumulative & 3
months in arrears)

BCPB264

Increase the total number of apprenticeships created and managed by Bristol City
Council

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

BCPB265

Increase the amount of Bristol City Council Apprenticeship Levy spent

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

BCPB223

Number of Education Health Care Plans in the last quarter that were issued within 20 weeks, including
exception cases, as a percentage of all such statements issued throghout the calendar year. The reported
data aligns with the SEN Census reporting (ie a Calendar year).... This means that this KPI is reporting
cumulatively and 3 months in areas:
Q1 reports Jan – Mar / Q2 reports Jan – June / Q3 reports Jan – Sept / Q4 reports Jan ‐ Dec
This measures the number of apprentices currently (at data capture date) receiving training support through
and Education and Skills Funding Agency approved programmes (taken from ESFA ILR data) PLUS No. of BCC
staff undertaking development through an apprenticeship scheme.(taken from Digital Apprenticeship Service
record also known as Levy Account)
This measures the amount of apprenticeship levy spent throughout the year.

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:
This is the proportion of the working age population (16‐64) who are in employment according to the
International Labour Organisation (ILO) definition.
Using National Statistics: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/Default.asp
This measure reports on the percentage of take‐up of free early educational entitlement by eligible 2 year
Annual
olds. Performance is reported annually in July; owing to Department for Education (DFE) publication dates
(Previous Financial
and it is for the previous financial year outturn i.e. the figure reported in 20/21 will be for the financial year
Year)
19/20.
Quarterly
(Snap shot)

BCPC041

Employment rate of the working age population

BCPC222

Increase the take‐up of free early educational entitlement by eligible 2 year olds

BCPC230a

Scaled scores help test results to be reported consistently from one year to the
next. National curriculum tests are designed to be as similar as possible year
Annual
on year, but slight differences in difficulty will occur between years.
Key Stage 2 ‐ Increase the percentage of pupils achieving the expected standard in
(Previous Academic Scaled scores maintain their meaning over time so that two pupils achieving
reading, writing and maths
year)
the same scaled score in different years will have demonstrated the same
attainment. This performance indicator measures the percentage of children in Bristol Schools who achieved
the expected standard in all three subject combined and is reported for the previous academic year.

Key Stage 2 ‐ increase the percentage of disadvantaged pupils, at KS2, achieving
the expected standard in RWM

This is the same measure as above, except the focus is on the attainment of disadvantaged pupils.
Pupils are defined as disadvantaged if recorded as:
Annual
• Eligible for Free Schools Meals (FSM) in the last six years
(Previous Academic
• Looked After Children (LAC) continuously for one day or more
year)
• Post LAC: because of an adoption, a special guardianship order, a child arrangements order or a residence
order.

BCPC231a

Key Stage 4: Improve the Average Attainment 8 score per pupil

Attainment 8 was introduced in 2016 by the Department for Education (DfE) for pupils at the end of Key Stage
Annual
4 (age 16), to measure overall GCSE performance and encourage students to take at least 8 qualifications. A
(Previous Academic full DfE explanation of this measure is at:
year)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/583857/Progress_8_school_
performance_measure_Jan_17.pdf

BCPC231d

Key Stage 4: Attainment 8 ‐ Reduce the Points gap between the Disadvantaged
and Non‐Disadvantaged

Annual
This is the same measure as above, except the focus is on the attainment of disadvantaged pupils. (definition
(Previous Academic of disadvataged, two rows above). Except this measures the gap in teg attainment levels of Disadvantaged
year)
pupils and non‐disadvantaged pupils and is reported for teh previous academic year.

BCPC230b

Attainment 8 will measure the achievement of a pupil across 8 qualifications including mathematics (double
Annual
weighted) and English (double weighted), 3 further qualifications that count in the English Baccalaureate
(Previous Academic
(EBacc). This measures the small cohort of Children in Care (CiC) ‐ ultimately trying to reduce the gap between
year)
the Bristol average and the CiC average.
Annual
Whilst there is in year reporting of attendance levels across the city; this performance measure usese the
(Previous Academic
official DfE figures published in March of each year and records the previous academic year.
year)
This measures the percentage of Children attending schools across Bristol. This is a daily summary of school
attendance (absence) starting at the beginning of the school year. Totals for Bristol. This is a crude measure
Quarterly
and doesn’t conform to the usual DfE methodology. All schools with zero attendance are excluded as the
(Snap shot)
assumption is that they were closed due to non‐Covid relate reasons (e.g. INSET days)... The DfE have
embargoed this data as 'Official Sensitive'

BCPC244

Key Stage 4: Improve the Average Attainment 8 score for Children in Care pupils

BCPC245

Improve the level of Bristol Schools' pupil attendance

BCPC245c

School attendance (Covid‐Recovery)

BCPC246

Increase percentage of schools and settings rated 'Good' or better by Ofsted (all
phases)

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This records the present percentage of schools, across all phases, where the Ofsted inspection rating is 'Good'
or better. The DfE published this information at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical‐data‐
sets/monthly‐management‐information‐ofsteds‐school‐inspections‐outcomes#history

BCPC263a

Reduce the percentage of young people of academic age 16 to 17 years who are
NEET & destination unknown

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the percentage of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in education, employment or training (NEET).
AND Destination Unknown. Whilst this records data quarter by quarter, unusually the DfE return (and
therefore the Q4 figure) is the snapshot for the 3 month period 1st December ‐ last day of February.

BCPC266

Increase the percentage of adults with learning difficulties known to social care,
who are in paid employment

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

The measure shows the proportion of adults with a learning disability who are “known to the council”, who
are recorded as being in paid employment. The information would have to be captured or confirmed within
the reporting period 1 April to 31 March.
The definition of individuals ‘known to the council’ is restricted to those adults of working age with a primary
support reason of learning disability support who received long term support during the year.
The measure is focused on ‘paid’ employment. Voluntary work is excluded from the measure. Paid
employment is measured using the following two categories:
• Working as a paid employee or self‐employed (16 or more hours per week);
and,
• Working as a paid employee or self‐employed (up to 16 hours per week).

BCPC268

Increase the number of adults in low pay work & receiving benefits accessing in‐
work support

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This is a cumulative count to show the growth of the Future Bright in work support programme and the new
Get Well ‐ Get On programme which focusses on supporting people in work who have mental health of
muscle, joint or bone conditions.

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measures the number of people who gain experiences of work for identified priority groups ‐ Young
people at risk of and currently not engaging in education, employment and training, Children in care or Care
leavers (CIC/CL), people with a Learning difficulty and/or disability, people with a disability, Black, Asian and
other non‐white minority back grounds ( BAME), Returning to work, living in the 25% most deprived lower
super output areas, over 55’.

BCPC270

Increase experience of work opportunities for priority groups

DPEC041

Improve the overall employment rate of working age population

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This is the proportion of the working age population (16‐64) who are in employment according to the
International Labour Organisation (ILO) definition.
These are National Statistics and can be accessed via https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/Default.asp

Page 143

PI ref

Measure

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

Measure

Frequency/period
reported

Method of calculation

2020/21 People: Public Health
PI ref

Bristol City Council (BCC) owned performance indicators:
BCPB253

Increase the number of attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measures attendances at BCC leisure centres and swimming pools on a monthly cumulative basis.
Occasionally the latest month is delayed and in those instances the month indicated in brackets.

City Wide Performance Indicators that BCC contributes to:
Annual
(1 year lag)

This performance data is measured by NHS Digital, National Child Measurement Programme and records 10‐
11 year olds Proportion of children aged 10‐11 classified as overweight or obese. Children are classified as
overweight (including obese) if their Body Mass index (BMI) is on or above the 85th centile of the British 1990
growth reference (UK90) according to age and sex.

BCPC249

Prevalence of child excess weight in 10‐11 year‐olds

BCPC250

Reduce the percentage of people in Bristol who report below national average
Mental Wellbeing (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC251

Reduce the rate of alcohol‐related hospital admissions per 100,000 population

Quarterly
(Rolling year 3
months in arrears)

This indicator measures the rate of alcohol related admissions per 100,000 population using Hospital Episode
Statistics.The rate is calculated using data on those finished in‐year admissions that are classified as ordinary
or day cases and that have a primary or subsidiary diagnosis code.
Q1 covers April to March, Q2 = July to June, Q3 = October to September, Q4 = January to December.

BCPC255

Increase the percentage of people living in the most deprived areas who do
enough regular exercise each week(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC256

Increase tthe percentage of adults in deprived areas who play sport at least once a
week (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC257

Increase the number of 'Bristol Eating Better Awards' issued to food outlets in
priority wards

BCPC258

Reduce the percentage of households which have experienced moderate or worse
food insecurity (QoL)

BCPC259

New COVID19 cases occurring in the final 7 days of the month per 100,000
population

BCPC311

Levels of engagement with community development work

BCPC312

Bi‐annual
cumulative

Annual
(Survey)
Quarterly
(Snap shot)

This is a count of the number of food outlets with a Bristol Eating Better Award in 10 priority wards (with high
levels of deprivation and obesity)
The Bristol Eating Better (BEB) award is a tool used to reward and support food businesses across the city to
offer healthier food options and promote sustainability. The BEB award is awarded at Bronze, Silver or Gold
level. There are 30 ‘core actions’ to be met in order to achieve the Bronze Level. Progress is reported twice a
year (Q2 & Q4)
The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.
Using figures for the last 7 days of the month; 100,000 x number of postive covid cases with a specimen date
falling between the last day of the month and 6 days before the last day of the month (inclusive) DIVIDED BY
mid‐2019 population of Bristol

Quarterly
(Cumulative)

This measures the number of residents who actively engage in community building conversations throughout
the year. This supports an approach which is based on Asset Based Community Development.

Increase the percentage respondents who volunteer or help out in their
community at least 3 times a year (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC314

Reduce the percentage of people who lack the information to get involved in their
community (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC323

Increase the percentage of people who see friends and family as much as they
want to (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC324

Increase the percentage of people who feel they belong to their neighbourhood
(QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

BCPC327

Reduce the percentage of people who have noted “mainly negative effects” from
gentrification (QoL)

Annual
(Survey)

The Quality of Life (QoL) survey is carried out annually and asks Bristol residents about a wide range of topics
such as health, lifestyles, community, local services and living in Bristol.

DPEC123

DPEC126

DPEC130

Breastfeeding at 6‐8 weeks as a percentage of all children with a known feeding
status

Increase the percentage of target schools who have achieved one or more healthy
schools awards

% of opiate clients who successfully complete treatment and who do not re‐
present within six months

This is the percentage of infants that are totally or partially breastfed at age 6‐8 weeks. Totally breastfed is
defined as infants who are exclusively receiving breast milk at 6‐8 weeks of age ‐ that is, they are not receiving
formula milk, any other liquids or food. Partially breastfed is defined as infants who are currently receiving
Annual
breast milk at 6‐8 weeks of age and who are also receiving formula milk or any other liquids or food. Not at all
(Previous Financial breastfed is defined as infants who are not currently receiving any breast milk at 6‐8 weeks of age. The
Year)
numerator is the count of the number of infants recorded as being totally breastfed at 6‐8 weeks and the
number of infants recorded as being partially breastfed. The denominator is the total number of infants due a
6‐8 weeks check.
Source:Public Health England National Child and Maternal Health Intelligence Network

Quarterly
(Snapshot)

This measures the number of target schools "engaged" as a percentage of all target schools. Engagement is
defined as actively working towards a HSP badge. Definition of target schools = PRUs, special schools and
secondary schools and 4th and 5th quintile primaries.
Only schools that are holding one or more "in‐date" awards are counted. "in‐date" is defined as those schools
that have achieved an award in the last 3 years (HS awards are only valid for 3 years).

Quarterly
(Rolling year)

This measures the percentage of opiate clients who successfully complete treatment and who do not present
within six months. A completion is considered successful if the client is not using illicit drugs and/or not using
problematically.
The following National Traetment Agency (NTA) definitions are recorded for each client:‐
• i) Treatment completed – Drug free. The client no longer requires structured drug treatment interventions
and is judged by the clinician not to be using heroin (or any other opioids) or crack cocaine or any other illicit
drug.
• ii) Treatment Completed ‐ Occasional user (not heroin and crack). The client no longer requires structured
drug treatment interventions and is judged by the clinician not to be using heroin (or any other opioids) or
crack cocaine. There is evidence of use of other illicit drug use but this is not judged to be problematic or to
require treatment.

DPEC135

Increase the percentage coverage of MMR vaccination coverage in 5 year olds

Annual

Percentage coverage of MMR vaccination coverage in 5 year olds…
X = 5 Year olds with MMR vaccination
Y ‐ All 5 year olds
(X / Y)*100

DPEC140

Reduce the Suicide Rate, per 100,000 population

Annual

Number of Suicides (Persons) / 100,000 population

Page 144

